Disrupted developmental processes in the human visual cortex linked to congenital patterned visual deprivation

Dissertation zur Erlangung des Doktorgrades an der Universität Hamburg, Fakultät für Psychologie und Bewegungswissenschaft, Institut für Psychologie

vorgelegt von

Rashi Pant

Hamburg, 2024

Tag der mündlichen Prüfung: 18.07.2024

Promotionsprüfungsausschusses

Vorsitz: Prof. Dr. med. Dr. h. c. mult. Eberhart Zrenner Dissertationsgutachter: Prof. Dr. rer. nat Brigitte Röder Dissertationsgutachter: Prof. Dr. phil. Frank Rösler Disputationsgutachter: Prof. Dr. rer. nat. Nicolas Schuck Disputationsgutacher: Dr. (MD, FRCS) Ramesh Kekunnaya

Acknowledgements

I am deeply grateful to my advisor, Dr. Brigitte Röder, for the opportunity to work on this unique project and to be a part of the lab, for providing support in every way for this research, as well as personal support in navigating a foreign system, especially through the COVID-19 pandemic. You have taught me about the balance between specificity and making connections across lines of research, and been a guide through the scientific and academic world.

I would like to express my gratitude to Dr. Ramesh Kekunnaya and the Jasti V Ramanamma Children's Eye Care Centre at L V Prasad Eye Institute, Hyderabad, without whom this project would not be possible. The work you do is so important to so many lives. I am grateful to Dr. Sunitha Lingareddy and Mr. Balakrishnan from LUCID Diagnostics, Hyderabad, for allowing us to use their facilities and implement the experimental MRS sequence. A big thank you to all the committee members for their time and effort –Dr. Eberhart Zrenner, Dr. Frank Rösler, and Dr. Nicolas Schuck. I am immensely grateful to all the participants that contributed their data.

Dr. José Ossandón, Dr. Kabilan Pitchaimuthu, Dr. Suddha Sourav and Dr. Maria Guerreiro were fantastic post-doctoral advisors, and provided insight at every stage. I consider myself lucky to have worked with and learned from you all. I couldn't have had a more supportive, encouraging and brilliant office-mate than Carolin Heitmann, who has been there every step of the way. I'm grateful to ILMA for friendship, guidance, feedback and humor: thank you, Dr. Liesa Stange, Dr. Daniela Schönberger, Dr. Andreas Weiß, Dr. Madita Linke, Dr. Alexander Kramer, Cora Kubetschek and Sina Strom. Thank you to all the members of the Biological Psychology and Neuropsychology lab, past and present, with special thanks to Dr. Anna-Lena Stroh, Dr. Katarzyna Raczy, Dr. Cordula Hölig and Dr. Ann-Kathrin Rogge for their mentorship and kindness. Additionally, I'm grateful to the network of scientists I got to interact with via the Hector Fellow Academy. Nicola Kaczmareck, Dagmar Tödter, Angelika Quade, Stefanie Peer and Thorana Grether kept several ships running to allow this work. I'm thankful for the incredibly kind and supportive friends I met in Hamburg – Neela Gerken, Youjia Zhang, Christian Mörike, Cassandra Lauer, Dr. David Magezi and his wonderful family.

I am grateful to the mentors I had at Johns Hopkins University. I cannot thank Dr. Marina Bedny enough: I fell in love with this line of research in your classes. Thank you for the incredible opportunity to work in your lab, for teaching me how to make scientific arguments, and for your encouragement and support! I will always be grateful to Dr. Brenda Rapp, for giving me a chance when I didn't know the front of the brain from the back, letting me be a part of a research project for the first time, and introducing me to cognitive neuroscience. I would not be here without you! Connor Lane, Dr. Shipra Kanjlia and Dr. Jeremy Purcell held my hand through learning data collection/analysis. I'm very grateful for your patience. And I am constantly grateful for my first friends after leaving home, and the kindest scientists – Dr. Celia Litovsky and Dr. Jane Lutken.

I would like to express immense gratitude to my teachers at St. Xavier's College. Dr. Marazban Kotwal, Fr. Dr. Roy Perreira, Dr. Shyamala Bodhane, Dr. Jyoti Singh – thank you for your support, kindness and constant encouragement!

Finally, to the people that carried me through this process: Surg. Capt. Rochan Pant and Dr. Vinita Pant have been the best parents, role models and long-distance phone call buddies. Thank you for teaching, encouraging and supporting me in every way possible – I really did win the parent lottery. I'm grateful to my sister, Tvishi Pant, whose greatest contributions have been her sense of humor and bringing home Dobby. I cannot thank my husband, Dr. Todd Kozlowski, enough. You have been a wonderful cheerleader, the kindest critic, and a constant source of joy and sunshine. My wonderful, brilliant, amazing friends – Ananya Kumar, Dr. Devika Lakhote, Aishwarya Acharya, Akhil Mahesh, Palak Sharma, Dr. Kritika Setlur, Arundhati Rawat. I'm lucky to have you in my life!

Funding

This project was funded by grants from the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft and the European Research Council to Prof. Dr. Brigitte Röder, and by a Hector Fellow Academy Young Researcher's Fellowship to Rashi Pant.

Table of Contents

Abstract	1
1. Investigation of sensitive periods in the human visual cortex	3
2. Role of the excitatory/inhibitory ratio in human visual cortex development	5
3. Recurrent processing in the human visual cortex following congenital visual deprivation	16
4. Implications of findings from the congenital cataract-reversal model	33
References	36

Appendices

Appendix I

Pant et al. (Under Review). Altered visual cortex excitatory/inhibitory ratio following transient congenital visual deprivation in humans. eLife.

Appendix II

Pant et al., (2023). Stimulus-evoked and resting-state alpha oscillations show a linked dependence on patterned visual experience for development. NeuroImage:Clinical, Vol. 38, 103375.

Appendix III

Pant et al., (2021). The size-weight illusion is unimpaired in individuals with a history of congenital visual deprivation. Scientific Reports, Vol. 11, 1-13.

Abstract

Sensitive periods are maturational phases wherein the brain shows heighted plasticity in response to environmental experience. Importantly, if sensory experience was not received within such windows, development of the underlying neural architecture was found to be impaired. This dissertation investigated two hypothesized mechanisms underlying sensitive periods in the human visual cortex, by working with rare individuals who were born blind due to dense bilateral congenital cataracts. Due to delayed treatment, these individuals experienced a transient period of congenital patterned visual deprivation.

The first two studies of this dissertation tested the role of two neural processes which, based on non-human animal research, were proposed to underlie sensitive periods of brain development.

First, the maturation of inhibition in the visual cortex was shown to rely on visual experience in non-human animal models, resulting in the establishment of an E/I balance. To investigate whether the development of such an E/I balance in humans is linked to a sensitive period, the first study of this dissertation (**Appendix I**) compared the ratio of excitation to inhibition (E/I ratio) in the visual cortex of CC individuals to aged-matched normally sighted (SC) individuals. Magnetic Resonance Spectroscopy was used to compare the visual cortex concentrations of excitatory/inhibitory (Glutamate-glutamine/Gamma-Aminobutyric Acid) neurotransmitters. Additionally, the aperiodic parameters of the broadband (1-20 Hz) electroencephalogram (EEG) spectrum were compared across occipital electrodes. Previous work has linked the slope of the aperiodic EEG (1/f) distribution to the E/I ratio, whereas the intercept has been related to broadband neuronal firing. Both the neurotransmitter ratio and the aperiodic slope indicated a lower E/I ratio in the visual cortex of CC than SC individuals. Simultaneously, the aperiodic intercept was increased in CC individuals, suggesting increased broadband neuronal firing. These findings suggest that the development of human visual cortex E/I ratio might underlie sensitive period plasticity.

Second, the development of corticocortical projections has been shown to rely on postnatal visual input in non-human animals. Corticocortical projections support the interaction between feedforward and feedback processing, i.e. recurrent processing, in the visual cortex, which is essential for typical visual behavior. Occipital alpha (8-14 Hz) oscillations have been correlated to feedback processing in SC individuals; therefore, the second study of this dissertation compared whether two characteristic EEG alpha-range phenomena manifest to the same extent in CC individuals (Appendix II). CC individuals demonstrated lower stimulus-evoked as well as resting-state alpha amplitudes than

SC individuals. Further, CC individuals with above-threshold evoked alpha activity had better visual acuity than those without a significant evoked alpha peak. This linked reduction of evoked and restingstate alpha activity was interpreted as an impairment in recurrent processing in CC individuals' visual systems.

Together, these studies provide evidence for neural processes which demonstrate (visual) experience dependence, and therefore, might be associated with a sensitive period.

In addition to deleterious effects on visual behavior, the consequences of congenital visual deprivation have been shown to extend to multisensory integration. The third study of this dissertation tested whether congenital visual deprivation affected the development of visuo-haptic integration by investigating whether CC individuals experience the Size-Weight illusion (SWI). The SWI is a robust illusion in typical visuo-haptic development, wherein SC individuals perceive the larger of two objects which in fact weigh the same to be lighter. In this study, CC and SC participants were first presented with visuo-haptic cues of size, i.e. being able to see and feel the objects. Additionally, individuals treated for developmental cataracts and permanently congenitally blind individuals were tested. All groups experienced a robust visuo-haptic SWI. Subsequently, CC participants assessed the weights of stimuli while receiving no haptic size information, i.e. holding them with an attached string. Regardless of whether size information was presented via visuo-haptic or exclusively visual cues, CC participants experienced the SWI to the same extent as SC individuals. These results suggested that the ability to integrate simultaneous visual and haptic size cues did not rely on early visual experience.

1. Investigation of sensitive periods in the human visual

cortex

In humans, the postnatal developmental trajectories for sensory and motor processing are amongst the longest in the animal kingdom. Human vision requires years of visual experience to develop adult-like characteristics; when babies are born, their visual acuity is a fraction of adults', they see little color, and have limited control over their eye movements (Braddick & Atkinson, 2011). While basic visual acuity reached adult levels by 4 years of age, aspects of visual perception which require identification of relative positions, such as Vernier acuity (Skoczenski & Norcia, 2002) and visual feature binding (Kovács et al., 1999), appeared to improve until the end of adolescence.

Neural circuits which support these abilities are thought to be fine-tuned during epochs termed sensitive periods (Hubel & Wiesel, 1970; Knudsen, 2004; Maurer & Lewis, 2017; Röder & Kekunnaya, 2021). It was observed that neural structures and functions showed higher responsiveness to environmental experience within such windows, than at other stages of life (Knudsen, 2004). Sensitive periods were further distinguished from adult learning by the observation that when experience was not received within this window, neural structures and functions did not develop to the expected level (Hubel & Wiesel, 1970; Knudsen, 2004). Consequently, one approach to characterizing the neural processes underlying sensitive period plasticity has been via perturbation of input in non-human animal models. This model induces monocular or binocular visual deprivation at various life stages in non-human animals. During or following such deprivation, investigations of the structure and physiology of the visual pathway established the role of visual experience in their respective development (Hensch, 2005; Levelt & Hübener, 2012).

Investigation of the visual systems of humans who were born blind due to peripheral deficits has provided crucial "retrospective" (Lewkowicz & Röder, 2015) evidence that post-natal visual experience is necessary for normal development (Lewis & Maurer, 2005; Röder & Kekunnaya, 2021). Rare individuals born blind due to dense bilateral congenital cataracts, who underwent surgery more than a few weeks from birth, showed persistent deficits of several visual and multisensory functions on a behavioral level (Maurer et al., 2007; Maurer & Hensch, 2012; Maurer & Lewis, 2017; Röder et al., 2020; Röder & Kekunnaya, 2021). Individuals who were born with vision, but developed total cataracts in childhood or adulthood, did not show comparable deficits after surgery (Birch et al., 2009; Bruns et al., 2022; Khanna et al., 2013; Lewis & Maurer, 2005). Therefore, the persistent effects of congenital patterned visual deprivation after sight restoration in humans were attributed to sensitive

periods for typical visual development. However, which neural processes might underlie such sensitive periods in humans has remained an active field of enquiry.

In the following chapters findings from the cataract model are discussed in the context of two neural processes underlying sensitive period plasticity: the maturation of inhibition in the cortex, leading to the establishment of an excitatory-inhibitory balance (Hensch & Fagiolini, 2004), and the elaboration of corticocortical circuitry, which supports feedback processing (Kral, 2013).

2. Role of the excitatory/inhibitory ratio in human visual cortex development

2.1 Background

Animals constantly experience changes in their visual environments, learn to recognize novel signals, and undergo changes to the eyes with age, all of which require the visual system to adapt to variable input. On a neural level, these constant changes in incoming signals to circuits might constitute "destabilizing" events. Yet, the visual cortex appears to process such changes without dramatic alteration of response properties in healthy adults. Hebbian learning provides an incomplete characterization of our adaptability to such changes (Turrigiano & Nelson, 2004), as under purely long-term potentiation or long-term depression, repeated excitation would lead to epileptiform neural activity, and repeated inhibition would lead to silent synapses (L. Chen et al., 2022; Whitt et al., 2013; Wu et al., 2022). Indeed, typical neurons and networks appear to be subject to a negative feedback mechanism, preventing runaway excitation or silencing. The excitatory/inhibitory (E/I) balance was one mechanism proposed to maintain stability, wherein the inhibition generated in a given synapse, circuits or ensembles was proportional to the excitation (Van Vreeswijk & Sompolinsky, 1996; Vogels et al., 2011), thereby regulating one with the other (Isaacson & Scanziani, 2011).

2.2 Measurement of the E/I ratio.

The ratio between measures of excitatory and inhibitory transmission (E/I ratio) in a synapse, circuit, or brain region, is a measure of the E/I balance¹. Using such a ratio, the proportion of excitation and inhibition was experimentally observed to be "balanced" across various spatiotemporal scales in the visual cortex (Tao & Poo, 2005; Xue et al., 2014), somatosensory cortex (Okun & Lampl, 2008; Z. Zhang et al., 2011), auditory cortex (Wehr & Zador, 2003) and prefrontal cortex (Haider et al., 2006) of non-human animals. Further, the proportion of excitation and inhibition has been demonstrated to alter neuronal tuning (Fang et al., 2021; Ip & Bridge, 2021; Kato et al., 2017; Wehr & Zador, 2003); greater synaptic inhibition is thought to result in sharper tuning and increased stimulus selectivity (Isaacson & Scanziani, 2011).

¹ Models of neural function suggested that excitatory/inhibitory balance is a dynamic property maintained in circuits reflective of interactions between synaptic scaling, Hebbian learning and intrinsic neuronal excitability, rather than a static value. Measured E/I ratios may be reflective of any or all of these.

The relationship between cortical excitation/inhibition, neuronal tuning and visual behavior has been indirectly investigated in humans via quantification of excitatory neurotransmitters Glutamate/Glutamine, and inhibitory neurotransmitter Gamma Aminobutyric Acid (GABA)(Ip & Bridge, 2021; Kurcyus et al., 2018). Non-invasive measures of neurotransmitters GABA (GABA+) and Glutamate/Glutamine complex (Glx) quantified via Magnetic Resonance Spectroscopy (Ip & Bridge, 2021) have demonstrated a regional balance between the inhibitory and excitatory neurotransmitter concentration in neurotypical adult humans (Rideaux et al., 2022; Steel et al., 2020)². Glx and GABA+ concentrations measured via MRS have been linked to performance on orientation discrimination (Edden et al., 2009)³, contrast sensitivity (Ip et al., 2019)⁴, binocular vision (Lunghi et al., 2015)⁵ as well as perceptual rivalry (Pitchaimuthu et al., 2017; Van Loon et al., 2013)⁶. Further, invasive local field potentials (Dehghani et al., 2016) and non-invasive EEG/MEG activity have been reported to reflect E/I ratios in humans (Bezalel et al., 2019; Muthukumaraswamy & Liley, 2018). In these signals, the negative slope of the aperiodic (1/f) distribution of the magnetoencephalogram was shown to flatten with pharmacological increase (Muthukumaraswamy & Liley, 2018)⁷ and steepen with the pharmacological decrease (Gao et al., 2017; Medel et al., 2020; Muthukumaraswamy & Liley, 2018)⁸ of the E/I ratio. It was concluded that the aperiodic neuronal activity recorded from a region might track the E/I ratio of the underlying neural circuits.

In sum, the E/I ratio is considered a modulatory property for typical sensory processing and efficient neuronal coding in typically developed animals (Dehghani et al., 2016; Wu et al., 2022; Zhou & Yu, 2018).

2.3 Developmental maturation of inhibition in the visual cortex.

A well-evidenced account of neural changes underlying sensitive period plasticity is that the balance between excitatory and inhibitory drive on neurons at a synaptic, circuit or regional level is

² While (Rideaux, 2021) did not find evidence for an E/I balance with MRS measures, (Rideaux et al., 2022) showed a correlation between GABA+ and Glu concentrations in the visual cortex.

³ Higher resting visual cortex GABA+ concentration predicted lower discrimination thresholds/better performance

⁴ Higher contrast images correlated with higher visual cortex Glutamate concentration during the MRS scan

⁵ Resting GABA+ concentration in the visual cortex decreased following monocular deprivation

⁶ Increased resting state visual cortex GABA+ concentrations were associated with longer percept durations and fewer switches in binocular rivalry

⁷ Tested using anesthetic Ketamine, a non-selective NMDA receptor antagonist reduces GABAergic interneuron firing, increasing the E/I ratio (Muthukumaraswamy & Liley, 2018)

⁸ Tested using Propofol, an anesthetic known to enhance GABAergic function, reducing the E/I ratio (Gao et al., 2017; Medel et al., 2020); anticonvulsant Tiagabine, a GABA reuptake inhibitor increasing the GABA concentration and reducing the E/I ratio at the synapse; and anti-epileptic Perampanel, which blocks AMPA receptors, thereby reducing the E/I ratio (Muthukumaraswamy & Liley, 2018)

attained within this window (Froemke, 2015; Larsen et al., 2023; Takesian & Hensch, 2013; Vogels et al., 2011). As the delayed or premature onset of GABAergic inhibitory circuit development in the cerebral cortex was shown to correspondingly affect the onset and closure of the sensitive period (Hensch, 2004; Hensch & Fagiolini, 2005; Wong-Riley, 2021; H. Zhang et al., 2018), a causal link was proposed between sensitive period plasticity and the development of cortical inhibition.

Simultaneously, several non-human animal models demonstrated that visual experience played a crucial role in the maturation of GABAergic circuits (Berardi et al., 2000; Fagiolini & Hensch, 2000; Flores & Méndez, 2014; Hensch, 2004; Sale et al., 2010; Toyoizumi et al., 2013), supporting the role of experience in the development of cortical inhibition, and further linking inhibitory development to the sensitive period. In "prospective" studies of neural changes with age, the E/I ratio across various cortical regions demonstrated a decrease during early development (Larsen et al., 2022; Wong-Riley, 2021; Z. Zhang et al., 2011). Retrospective studies in non-human animals concomitantly demonstrated alterations in the visual cortex E/I ratio corresponding to perturbations of visual experience (Levelt & Hübener, 2012). Dark rearing delayed the maturation of GABAergic circuits (Gianfranceschi et al., 2003; Hensch et al., 1998), thus resulting in "unbalanced" excitatory firing in the visual cortex of dark reared rodents (Benevento et al., 1992; Morales et al., 2002). Further, dark rearing or lid suture followed by reintroduction of visual stimulation has been shown to alter the E/I ratio in V1 pyramidal neurons (Fang et al., 2021; Morales et al., 2002). As detailed in Section 2.2, impaired development of cortical inhibition predicted reduced stimulus selectivity in the visual cortex; such impaired development was proposed to underlie reduced orientation selective neurons in the visual cortices of lid sutured cats (Singer & Tretter, 1976), and fewer direction selective neurons in the visual cortices of dark reared ferrets (Li et al., 2006). Summarily, sub-optimal E/I dynamics following disrupted experience within a sensitive period have been purported to underlie deficits in visual cortex responses, and correspondingly, visual behavior (Baroncelli et al., 2011).

In humans, direct measures of the E/I ratio across visual cortex development are scarce. Postmortem histological assays⁹ provided evidence of a balanced development of excitation and inhibition in the human visual cortex (Murphy et al., 2005; Pinto et al., 2010; Siu & Murphy, 2018). Non-invasive indicators of visual excitation/inhibition are more common; one such index of post-natal

⁹ By measuring the ratio of GABA_A receptor subunit expression (GABA_A α 1:GABA_A α 3) and NMDA receptor subunit expression (NR2A:NR2B) as a function of age, Murphy et al., (2005) demonstrated that both ratios concomitantly increase in the visual cortex until the age of 6 years. This receptor subunit shift has been noted in mouse models and results in an increased speed of EPSCs and IPSCs (Cho et al., 2009; Philpot et al., 2003).

development of inhibition in the human visual cortex is surround suppression (Angelucci & Bressloff, 2006). Surround suppression is the property of a neuron's "classical" receptive field, wherein stimulation in the "surrounding" receptive field causes a suppressed response, which requires lateral inhibition (Angelucci & Bressloff, 2006; Nurminen et al., 2018). Visual evoked potentials (VEP) were measured in response to grating stimuli in infants and adults to assess the age at which an increased VEP in response to orthogonal (non-suppressed) vs. parallel (surround-suppressed) backgrounds was observable (Morrone & Burr, 1986). This increase in VEP amplitude was only recorded after 6 months of age. Infants tested using moving gratings also demonstrated the behavioral effects of shrinking of the receptive field into the "classical" and "surround" after 6 months of age (Nakashima et al., 2019). These studies suggested that lateral inhibition in the visual cortex of human infants was immature in the first 6 months of life (Braddick & Atkinson, 2011; Morrone & Burr, 1986; Nakashima et al., 2019).

2.4 Alteration of E/I ratio after congenital patterned visual deprivation

Based on the aforementioned findings across non-human animals and non-invasive studies with humans, it was predicted that E/I balance in the visual cortex might be permanently altered due to congenital visual deprivation (Röder et al., 2021). Studies in CC individuals have provided evidence consistent with this hypothesis.

2.4.1 Physiological evidence consistent with an altered E/I ratio linked to congenital visual deprivation.

The crucial link between the development of cortical inhibition in humans and sensitive period plasticity was suggested by recent studies using a retrospective approach to indirectly assess E/I dynamics (Ossandón et al., 2023; Pant et al., Under Review; Raczy et al., 2022). Three findings from these studies suggested that increased excitation in the visual cortex, attributable to congenital blindness, might persist following sight recovery. First, an increased aperiodic (1/f) intercept in electroencephalography (EEG) recordings was found in 10 CC individuals compared to age-matched, normally sighted controls while participants kept their eyes open at rest, eyes closed at rest, and watched flickering visual stimuli (1-30 Hz, **Pant et al., Under Review**) (**Appendix 1**). This intercept has been related to neuronal firing (Manning et al., 2009; Winawer et al., 2013), and was used as an indirect assessment of broadband neural activity in the occipital cortex of CC vs SC individuals (**Pant et al., Under Review**) (Appendix 1). An increased aperiodic intercept was reported at occipital electrodes in CC compared to SC individuals, across both resting state and flickering stimulation

conditions (Figure 1.1). This finding suggests increased spontaneous firing in the visual cortex of CC individuals, consistent with the hypothesized impairments in inhibitory development. Second, when the slope of the aperiodic spectrum in the 20-40 Hz range was compared across CB, CC and SC groups (Ossandón et al., 2023), this slope was flatter (i.e., less negative) across occipital channels of CB and CC individuals, compared to SC individuals. A flatter aperiodic slope was observed in CB individuals during eye closure, and CC individuals across both eye closure and eye opening at rest. As the aperiodic slope has been reported to track the E/I ratio (Gao et al., 2017; Muthukumaraswamy & Liley, 2018) (see Section 2.2), the authors interpreted these results as reflective of a higher E/I ratio in the visual cortex, during and following congenital visual deprivation. Third, an fMRI study comparing the amplitude of low-frequency fluctuations (ALFF)¹⁰ in BOLD activity found increased ALFF during eye opening in CC compared to SC individuals. The authors suggested that neuronal activity was increased in the visual cortex during eye opening, as a consequence of transient congenital visual deprivation (Raczy et al., 2022).

MRS findings from permanently congenitally blind (CB) individuals also appeared consistent with the prediction that inhibitory circuits require visual experience for typical development in humans. Glutamate/Glutamine (Glx) concentration was increased in anophthalmic individuals' visual cortices (Coullon et al., 2015), and a trend towards decreased GABA+ concentration was observed in the visual cortex of CB individuals (Weaver et al., 2013). As GABA+ and Glx concentrations are considered measures of inhibitory and excitatory neurotransmission, respectively, these changes were interpreted as a shift towards excitation in the CB visual cortex.

¹⁰ The amplitude of low-frequency (0.01-0.1 Hz) fluctuations of blood oxygen level dependent (BOLD) fMRI signals have been suggested to arise from underlying spontaneous neuronal activity (Zeineh et al., 2018).



Figure 2.1. Magnetic Resonance Spectroscopy and Electroencephalography measures of visual cortex excitatory/inhibitory ratio in congenital cataract-reversal individuals. A. Magnetic Resonance Spectra of congenital cataract-reversal (CC, red) and normally sighted (SC, blue) individuals, showing peaks of Glutamate/Glutamine complex (Glx, left) and Gamma-Aminobutyric acid (GABA+, right) are displayed. Spectra are shown for the eyes open (EO) and eyes closed (EC) conditions for both groups. Inset shows an exemplar for visual cortex placement from one participant. The standard error of the mean is shaded. B. Ratio of Glx to GABA concentration in the visual cortex of CC (red) and SC (blue) individuals quantified from MRS spectra. The solid black lines indicate mean values and dotted lines indicate median values. The coloured lines connect values of individual participants across conditions. C. Correlation between visual cortex Glx/GABA+ concentration in the eyes closed condition with visual acuity assessed in the CC group. D. Electroencephalography (EEG) spectra (solid lines) with the aperiodic fit (dashed lines) are shown for CC (red) and SC (blue) individuals in the eyes closed (EC), eyes open (EO) and flickering visual stimulation (LU) conditions. Inset shows electrode montage used for recordings, with grey shading around occipital (O1 and O2) electrodes, across which the presented data was averaged. E,F. Violin plots demonstrate the E. aperiodic intercept and F. aperiodic slope across conditions for CC and SC individuals, with individual subjects connected by colored lines, and solid/dashed black lines showing mean/median respectively. Figure and caption reproduced from Pant et al. (Under Review) (Appendix I).

However, the aperiodic fit to the 1-20 Hz range suggested a lowered rather than increased E/I ratio in the visual cortex of CC vs SC individuals (**Pant et al., Under Review**; Ossandon et al., 2023), across occipital channels. The aperiodic slope was steeper in CC vs SC individuals, regardless of eye opening or eye closure at rest (**Pant et al., Under Review**; Ossandon et al., 2023), or flickering stimulation (**Pant et al., Under Review**) (Figure 1.1). Crucially, MRS findings in CC individuals suggested a lowered E/I ratio in the visual cortex. The concentration of excitatory (Glx) and inhibitory (GABA+) neurotransmitters in the visual cortex was quantified using the MEGA-PRESS sequence, i.e. an MRS spectral-editing technique targeted towards quantification of Glx/GABA+ (Mescher et al., 1998; Mullins et al., 2014). While the concentrations of Glx and GABA+ did not significantly differ between groups in the visual cortex, the ratio of Glx/GABA+ concentration was reduced in CC vs SC individuals at rest, regardless of eye closure (Figure 1.1).

One hypothesis proposed to reconcile seemingly contradictory correlates of E/I ratios across different measures was that adult homeostatic plasticity (L. Chen et al., 2022; Keck et al., 2017; Turrigiano & Nelson, 2004; Whitt et al., 2013) might compensate for increased excitation following sight restoration (Pant et al., Under Review) (Appendix I). It was speculated that the visual cortex developed adaptations to congenital blindness, including a lower threshold for excitation, in the absence of visual experience-dependent inhibitory circuitry. Following sight restoration, newly available visual excitation might therefore have resulted in significant circuit instability in blindness-adapted circuits, which would require commensurate downregulation. Supporting this argument, a

lower Glx/GABA+ concentration in the visual cortex of CC individuals correlated with better visual outcomes (logMAR visual acuity), consistent with the notion that the lowered Glx/GABA+ concentration might be reflective of compensatory effects following sight restoration. A need for such homeostatic compensation was further supported by the signs of increased activity (indicated by the aperiodic intercept (Pant et al., Under Review); BOLD activity (Raczy et al., 2023)) in CC individuals, which might require downregulation across different spatiotemporal scales to prevent runaway excitation (Isaacson & Scanziani, 2011). Under such an interpretation, the more spatially restricted fMRI and 20-40 Hz aperiodic slope¹¹ might reflect increased local neural firing following sight restoration in CC individuals; while the more spatially extensive measures of Glx/GABA+ concentration and the 1-20 Hz aperiodic slope¹² might reflect the commensurate decrease in E/I drive. Such homeostatic regulation of the E/I ratio might be useful when an animal's environment changes compared to the developmental environment (see Section 2.1). Non-human animal work has provided previous evidence for regulation of the E/I ratio by multiple mechanisms of neuroplasticity during and following development; periods of *decreased* excitatory signals via monocular deprivation in the adult mouse visual cortex resulted in an increased E/I drive to the deprived eye (Barnes et al., 2015). In fact, a recent model of homeostatic plasticity mechanisms predicted that periods of increased excitation might result in commensurate downregulation of the E/I ratio (Keck et al., 2017).

Interestingly, in CC individuals, visual cortex Glx concentration predicted a high amount of the variance in the aperiodic intercept in occipital channels during ambient and flickering visual stimulation (Figure 2.3) (Pant et al., Under Review) (Appendix I). No such correlation was documented in SC individuals. Such a qualitative difference in the relationship between the aperiodic intercept and Glx concentration in CC vs SC individuals, together with quantitatively increased aperiodic intercept, might reflect a more "immature" response of the visual cortex of CC individuals to incoming visual input. On the physiological level, it was shown in non-human animals that large amounts of spontaneous, noisy cortical activity at birth undergoes decorrelation/sparsification (Chini et al., 2022; Rochefort et al., 2009; Trägenap et al., 2023; Vinje & Gallant, 2000). Developmental "decorrelation" between neuronal responses was proposed to be driven by inhibitory development. It might be that in CC individuals, the absence of such developmental "decorrelation" is reflected by the qualitative differences in the aperiodic offset from SC individuals.

¹¹ Higher frequencies have been associated with local, feedforward processing (Bastos et al., 2015; Maier et al., 2010; Van Kerkoerle et al., 2014).

¹² Lower frequences have been associated with processing in feedback, long-range networks (Clayton et al., 2018; Van Kerkoerle et al., 2014).

Nevertheless, aspects of visual cortex development appeared to be preserved in CC individuals: despite the overall increased aperiodic offset, the developmental decrease of the offset with chronological age, previously observed in SC individuals, was preserved in the visual cortex of CC individuals (Appendix I). This finding might suggest that the visual cortex of CC individuals underwent "typical" developmental processes, including the development of inhibitory circuity, but in an "atypical" environment. In this context, non-human animal models of lid suture, which maintain diffuse visual input but deprive animals of patterned vision, might be particularly applicable to the cataract model. Lid suture has been shown to result in sufficient permissive light activation to allow cortical maturation¹³, but resulted in reduced neural selectivity, which did not improve after eye opening (Antonini & Stryker, 1998; White et al., 2001).

While these initial results from CB and CC individuals align with the hypothesis that the E/I ratio plays a role in human sensitive period plasticity, a longitudinal assessment of CC individuals' Glx/GABA+ ratios and EEG aperiodic slope, pre- and post-surgery, would be necessary to reconcile the differing metrics of E/I ratios. Additionally, testing individuals who became permanently blind in adulthood might provide further insight into whether the effects on visual cortex E/I ratio result from differing developmental vs. adult (visual) environments.

2.4.2 Anatomical evidence consistent with interrupted synaptic pruning linked to congenital visual deprivation.

It was repeatedly demonstrated that the visual cortex of CC individuals showed an increased cortical thickness compared to normally sighted controls (Feng et al., 2021; Guerreiro, Erfort, et al., 2015; Hölig et al., 2023). Increased cortical thickness in visual regions has previously been documented in permanently congenitally blind (CB) individuals (Aguirre et al., 2016; Bridge et al., 2009; Hasson et al., 2016; Jiang et al., 2009), suggesting that this structural change resulted from patterned visual deprivation at birth and did not reverse after sight restoration. The thicker visual cortex of CC and CB individuals was proposed to indicate an interruption of synaptic pruning in visual circuits (Jiang et al., 2009)¹⁴. Indeed, one of the documented effects of congenital visual deprivation in non-human

¹³ By contrast, dark rearing has been proposed to result in the delayed or "arrested" maturational processes in the visual cortex which proceed following restoration but never reach the level of controls, as evidenced by prolonged sensitivity to visual input, e.g. monocular deprivation (Cynader, 1983; Mower et al., 1985; White et al., 2001).

¹⁴ Note, however, that other mechanisms might also explain increased cortical thickness in CC and CB individuals; a decrease in myelination rather than an interruption of synaptic pruning might lead to the border between cortical and subcortical regions being altered on MRI T1 scans (Hölig et al., 2023; Natu et al., 2019). A recent study at 7T MRI did not find increased cortical thickness in CB individuals, instead reporting a decrease in both grey and white matter in the

primates was such interruption of synaptic pruning in the visual cortex (Bourgeois, 1996; Bourgeois et al., 2000). Crucial evidence from Hölig et al., (2023) suggested that increased visual cortical thickness correlated with worse visual acuity outcomes in CC individuals. Further, Pant et al demonstrated that poor visual acuity outcomes correlated with increased Glx/GABA+ ratios in the visual cortex of 10 CC individuals (**Pant et al., Under Review**) (**Appendix I**), suggesting a link between an altered E/I ratio in the visual cortex and reduced visual acuity. Together with the finding of a similar correlation between higher visual cortex Glx/GABA+ and worse visual acuity (**Pant et al., Under Review**) (**Appendix I**), this might indicate that increased physiological compensation (reflected by a lower Glx/GABA+ ratio) and reduced structural changes (reflected by a thinner visual cortex) correspond to better visual outcomes following congenital cataract removal surgery. It might be that in the absence of vision within a sensitive period, aberrant inhibitory transmission prevents the activity-guided synapse elimination, which typically takes place with age. In Section 3.4, the possible effects of such structural deficits on the functional level, particularly in corticocortical pathways, are further discussed.

2.4.3 Behavioral evidence consistent with altered inhibitory tuning in the visual cortex following congenital visual deprivation.

A consistent finding following the removal of dense congenital cataracts has been that if surgery is not performed within a few weeks from birth, patients suffered from a permanent reduction of visual acuity. In late (> 6 months of age) treated patients, although visual acuity and contrast sensitivity (Kalia et al., 2014; Maurer et al., 2006) improved after cataract removal surgery, it did not reach the level of age-matched controls. **Pant et al., (Under Review) (Appendix I)** linked deficits in visual acuity to E/I ratios in the visual cortex (see Section 2.4.2). Retinotopic mapping with 7 T fMRI has further shown that the deficits underlying poor visual acuity in CC individuals might be cortical; the population receptive field (pRF) and cortical magnification factor (CMF) in the visual cortex of 9 CC individuals correlated with the visual acuity (Heitmann et al., 2023). In non-human animal models, the proportion of inhibitory neurotransmission has been directly linked to neural response properties of the early visual cortex; for example, developmental increase in inhibition was

occipital cortex (Kupers et al., 2022). White the cortical thickness data might result from either or both effects, T1/T2 and T2* weighted imaging in high-field MRI might better distinguish the source of the structural changes by quantifying myelination in the visual cortex (see Section 4.3).

shown to modulate receptive field narrowing¹⁵ with age (Fang et al., 2021; Tao & Poo, 2005), while increased GABAergic transmission via diazepam was shown to widen ocular dominance columns (Hensch & Stryker, 2004; Sale et al., 2010).

Among low-level visual functions, higher MRS quantified GABA+ has also been related to lower contrast detection thresholds in normally sighted individuals (Hammett et al., 2020; Ip et al., 2019). These authors suggested that GABAergic inhibition allowed for lower detection thresholds by noise suppression. Further, GABA concentrations have been linked to eye dominance in typically sighted adults (Ip et al., 2021). Given that binocular vision (Banks et al., 1975; Birch et al., 2009; Harwerth et al., 1990; Lewis & Maurer, 2009) and contrast sensitivity (Ellemberg et al., 1999) have been shown to be impaired in CC individuals, possible links to GABA+ concentration might be investigated in such patients. Further, concurrent investigation of behavioral/electrophysiological metrics of cortical inhibition, such as the effects of surround suppression (Angelucci & Bressloff, 2006), would allow further insight into whether deficient visual behavior might link with impaired cortical inhibition in CC individuals.

¹⁵ Note that narrow receptive fields correspond to better visual acuity.

3. Recurrent processing in the human visual cortex following congenital visual deprivation

3.1 Background

In the visual pathway, light signals are transformed via photoreceptor cells and transmitted via the optic nerve to the lateral geniculate nucleus, and onward to the visual cortex. This direction of transmission is commonly referred to as "feedforward processing." Feedforward processing relies sequentially on the retinogeniculate and thalamocortical pathway. However, accurate visual perception requires the integration of multiple visual signals (eg: binding individual visual features into objects, faces, places) across space and time, as well as modulations from higher-order signals such as prior knowledge, expectations, and attention (Emberson, 2017; Gilbert & Li, 2013). Referred to as "feedback processing", such signaling has been shown to be reliant on intricate corticocortical and corticothalamic connectivity (Gilbert & Li, 2013) in primates (Felleman & Van Essen, 1991). Decades of neuroanatomical and physiological work has demonstrated the necessity of "top-down" or feedback signals for typical vision, even at the level of basic visual functions. The interaction between feedforward and feedback signals has been referred to as recurrent processing (Angelucci & Bressloff, 2006; Isaacson & Scanziani, 2011).

3.2 Experience-dependent development of corticocortical projections

The framework of activity-dependent molding of cortical circuits based on the environmental statistics been proposed several times (Buzsáki, 2006; Guidotti et al., 2015; Herrmann et al., 2016; Li et al., 2020; Pezzulo et al., 2021; Toyoizumi et al., 2013). Therefore, activity-directed development of corticocortical connectivity was proposed to be a structural process underlying sensitive period plasticity (Röder et al., 2021).

In studies of prospective development, corticocortical connectivity in visual regions has been shown to demonstrate a long trajectory, reliant on weeks of post-natal vision in ferrets (Khalil & Levitt, 2014) and months of post-natal vision in macaques (Barone et al., 1995; Batardière et al., 2002; Distler et al., 1996). Retrospective studies provided primary evidence for the dependence of visual corticocortical elaboration on visual experience. Prenatal enucleation resulted in an alteration of the hierarchical organization within the macaque visual cortex (Magrou et al., 2018), based on the proportion of supragranular to infragranular neurons.¹⁶ Additionally, as opposed to the regular "bandlike" callosal pattern at the border of area 17/18 and extra striate cortex of the ferret, ill-defined patches of callosal cells were found after enucleation at postnatal day 7, but not 20 (Bock et al., 2012; Bock & Olavarria, 2011). The authors interpreted this finding as indicative of reduced precision of ferret callosal patterns due to postnatal visual deprivation within a sensitive period. As opposed to enucleation, postnatal lid suture in kittens allowed for the initial development of axonal arbors, but resulted in stunted growth and a lack of differentiation into columns in striate and extrastriate regions (Zufferey et al., 1999). Finally, dark rearing and lid suture both impacted the clustering and extent of horizontal connectivity in the ferret visual cortex (White et al., 2001). As corticocortical projections appeared to rely on visual experience for typical development, it was proposed that their altered structure and function might underlie persistent deficits following atypical development.

While (V1-V2) corticocortical connectivity in humans has directly been shown to become refined with age in retrograde tracer studies (Burkhalter, 1993; Burkhalter et al., 1993), most investigations of the development of corticocortical visual pathways in humans are indirect. Studies of prospective development have demonstrated that from early childhood to adulthood, perception and learning appeared to be more reliant on feedback, top-down than feedforward, bottom-up cues (Röder & Kekunnaya, 2021; Rohlf et al., 2017). It was suggested that with age and visual experience, increasing higher-order (corticocortical) influences on lower-level neural responses might result in such changes (Dehaene et al., 2010; Dekker et al., 2019; Emberson, 2017), predicting later development of corresponding physiological correlates. In normally sighted individuals, one such physiological correlate of feedback processing in the visual cortex is the alpha range (8-14 Hz) of the human EEG (Jensen & Mazaheri, 2010; Klimesch et al., 2007; Sauseng et al., 2011; Worden et al., 2000). Alpha oscillations have been repeatedly reported to increase in power with age, from 3 months to 21 years of age (Cellier et al., 2021a; Marshall et al., 2002), consistent with a predicted long developmental trajectory of the underlying neural assemblies. Additionally, the latency of the P1 visual event-related potential shifted from 260 ms in neonates to about 100 ms within the first six months of life (McCulloch et al., 1999). This shift has been thought to indicate the development of the visual cortex pathway, as the P1 has been associated with extrastriate neural generators (Clark et al., 1994). Finally, population receptive field (pRF) mapping between the ages of 5-26 years has shown that while

¹⁶ The percentage of Supragranular Labeled Neurons (SLN) provided an index of hierarchical distance based on the principle that supragranular neurons predominantly terminate in Layer IV and project feedforward, while infragranular neurons terminate outside of layer IV and project feedback (Markov et al., 2014; Vezoli et al., 2021).

retinotopic maps in early visual regions were defined by the age of 5 (Dekker et al., 2019; Gomez et al., 2018, 2019), "higher" visual regions along the ventral and lateral stream increased their representation of foveal eccentricities with age (Gomez et al., 2018, 2019).

3.3 Altered correlates of recurrent processing following congenital visual deprivation

It was hypothesized that correlates of feedback processes, which rely on intact corticocortical circuits, might be more affected by aberrant visual experience than correlates of processes which are more reliant on feedforward, thalamocortical circuits (Kral et al., 2017; Röder et al., 2021). A repeatedly documented finding from CC individuals was a reduction in alpha (8-14 Hz) oscillatory power (Bottari et al., 2016, 2018; Ossandón et al., 2023; **Pant et al., 2023**). Alpha power was found to be lower in a larger group of CC individuals compared to individuals treated for developmental cataracts (DC) and SC individuals at rest (Ossandón et al., 2023), as well as during biological (Bottari et al., 2015) and global motion tasks (Bottari et al., 2016). Reduction in alpha power was found in congenitally blind individuals at rest as well (Novikova, 1974; Ossandón et al., 2023) and during somatosensory tasks (Kriegseis et al., 2006). Given the previously evidenced link between alpha oscillations and feedback processing (Klimesch et al., 2007; Sauseng et al., 2011; Worden et al., 2000), reduced alpha power following transient congenital visual deprivation was interpreted as an indication of reduced integrity of the underlying corticocortical feedback pathways in the visual cortex (Bottari et al., 2016; Ossandón et al., 2023).

A recent (Pant et al., 2023) (Appendix II) study tested the prediction that impaired feedback processing resulting from a phase of congenital blindness result in an impaired interaction of feedback and restored feedforward signals (Kral et al., 2017; Röder & Kekunnaya, 2021; Yusuf et al., 2022). The characteristic evoked alpha "resonance" effect has been used as an indirect measure to assess the interaction between feedforward and feedback processing in the alpha range of typically sighted individuals; wherein it was found that on stimulation with visual white noise, there was a selective increase in alpha power in the occipital channels (Herrmann, 2001; Vanrullen & MacDonald, 2012). Pant et al., (2023) (Appendix II) adapted the paradigm from VanRullen and MacDonald (2012) and tested 13 CC individuals and 13 age-matched SC individuals who observed visual "white-noise" (1-30 Hz). CC individuals showed a lower likelihood of demonstrating significant stimulus-evoked alpha activity. On average, stimulus-evoked alpha oscillations were found to be reduced in amplitude in CC vs SC individuals' occipital channels (Pant et al., 2023) (Figure 2.1). Resting-state alpha oscillations were also found to be reduced in these CC compared to SC individuals, regardless of eye closure. Further, CC individuals with lower resting-state alpha amplitude were more likely to demonstrate a lower stimulus-evoked alpha amplitude, indicating a link between the two phenomena. Crucially, 8/13 CC individuals who demonstrated above-threshold stimulus-evoked alpha activity also demonstrated better visual acuity outcomes than 5/13 CC individuals who did not demonstrate such activity (Pant et al., 2023) (Figure 2.1).

Together, this linked reduction in stimulus-evoked and resting-state alpha power results suggest altered feedback signaling in the visual cortex corresponding to congenital visual deprivation, which does not reverse after sight restoration. Therefore, both prospective (i.e. increase in alpha power with postnatal visual experience (Cellier et al., 2021b; Marshall et al., 2002)) and retrospective evidence (i.e. impairment of alpha oscillations in the absence of typical vision), strongly suggest that the neural assemblies underlying alpha oscillations develop within a sensitive period. However, it was noted that deficits in alpha oscillations appeared to be worse in some CC individuals than others, uncorrelated to duration of blindness or time since surgery, necessitating an account of what factors might result in the partial or task-specific recovery.

The predicted consequences of altered corticocortical circuitry include greater deficits downstream in the visual pathway (Röder & Kekunnaya, 2021). Findings from neuroimaging correlates of hierarchical visual processing indeed suggested such a pattern of deficits in CC individuals (Pitchaimuthu et al., 2021; Sourav et al., 2018). The first of these studies investigated the C1 eventrelated potential, i.e. the earliest visual event- event related potential, which has been linked to striate processing in humans (Sourav et al., 2018, 2020). The C1 potential did not differ in amplitude between SC and CC individuals, suggesting that striate processing in humans might not be altered by congenital patterned visual deprivation. However, the P1, which is the event potential associated with extrastriate processing, was reduced in CC compared to SC individuals (Sourav et al., 2018, 2020). Similarly, the first harmonic of the steady-state visual-evoked response (SSVEP), associate with early visual processing, was of equal amplitude in CC, DC and SC individuals (Pitchaimuthu et al., 2021). By contrast, the amplitude of the second harmonic of the SSVEP, which has been linked to higher-order visual processing, was lower in CC individuals (Pitchaimuthu et al., 2021). Crucially, the intermodulation frequency response, which was proposed to arise from the visual system integrating flickering and lateral motion, was impaired in CC individuals. Given that such integration of multiple visual signals requires corticocortical communication, lower intermodulation responses might correspond to deficits in integration across multiple visual circuits in CC individuals.



Figure 3.1. Stimulus-evoked oscillatory activity in congenital cataract-reversal individuals. A. The average spectrum of cross-correlation functions between presented white-noise luminance sequences and occipital EEG activity across all congenital cataract-reversal (CC, red) and normally sighted control (SC, blue) participants. The shaded region represents standard error of the mean. B,C. Violin plots displaying the average evoked alpha (B) and beta (C) amplitude in SC (blue) and CC (red) individuals. Solid lines indicate the mean values and dotted lines indicate median values in each group. D. Violin plots depict the visual acuity in logMAR units in the CC group divided into subgroups with (black) and without (red) an above-threshold stimulus-evoked alpha peak (CC_{Evoked+}, CC_{Evoked-}). Figure and caption reproduced from Pant et al., 2023 (Appendix II).

A strong line of evidence suggesting corticocortical reorganization in the absence of early visual experience comes from studies of resting state functional connectivity (RSFC).¹⁷ Multiple studies showed that long-range functional connectivity between the visual and frontal/parietal cortex was increased in CB compared to SC individuals (Bedny et al., 2010; Burton et al., 2014; Deen et al., 2015; Hirsch et al., 2015; Kanjlia et al., 2016, 2018), while RSFC between visual and non-visual sensory cortices was decreased in CB vs SC individuals (Burton et al., 2014; Liu et al., 2007). However, a reduction of RSFC between visual and non-visual sensory cortices in CB vs SC individuals are measured with eyes closed (Guerreiro et al., 2021). Simultaneously, one study measuring RSFC between MT/MST and other retinotopic visual areas found that such within-visual cortex functional connectivity was decreased in CB vs SC individuals (Bedny et al., 2021). Recent RSFC evidence from CB individuals has suggested that their secondary visual cortices were more similar to normally sighted infants than sighted adults, i.e. strongly connected to frontoparietal regions rather than other

¹⁷ Via correlated fluctuations of BOLD activity between seed regions and target regions during rest, inferences of frequent co-activation, and therefore connectivity, are made between the two regions.

sensory/motor cortices (Tian et al., 2024). These findings were used to argue that the establishment of top-down connectivity between the frontal and visual cortex requires visual experience in infants, likely within a sensitive period (Tian et al., 2024). Crucially, the increased RSFC between frontal/temporal and visual regions was also documented in one study investigating CC individuals operated upon within the first year of life (Feng et al., 2021), albeit to a lower extent than shown in CB individuals.

Another line of evidence consistent with corticocortical alterations in the visual cortex of CC individuals comes from investigations of category selectivity in the ventral visual cortex. Category selectivity in the ventral visual cortex of normally sighted individuals is thought to arise from corticocortical connectivity (Dehaene & Dehaene-Lambertz, 2016; Osher et al., 2016; Saygin et al., 2016). Such corticocortical connectivity was directly shown to be refined via experience in non-human primates (Arcaro & Livingstone, 2021) and indirectly in CC individuals (Feng et al., 2021). Further, an EEG study investigating the N170 response, a negative event-related potential, showed face-specific enhancement in SC and DC but not CC individuals, suggesting underlying impairments in face processing in CC individuals (Röder et al., 2013). These physiological data have been further supported by reduced behavioral performance in CC individuals' face processing behavior (reviewed in Section 2.4.3). Notably, despite three years of visual experience, one sight-recovered individual who became blind at the age of three years¹⁸ did not show category selectivity in the ventral visual cortex in an fMRI study, despite preserved object selectivity in the lateral occipital complex (Huber et al., 2015). Reduced stimulus-selectivity might suggest a lack of the visual-experience dependent refinement of underlying corticocortical connections that allow such responses in SC individuals (Feng et al., 2021).

In parallel, corticocortical reorganization is thought to underlie the widely-documented crossmodal plasticity in congenital blindness (Bedny, 2017; Collignon et al., 2013; Hirsch et al., 2015; Klinge et al., 2010; Noppeney, 2007) (see Section 3.4.2 on structural changes in blindness). Under this assumption, persistent cross-modal influences in CC individuals might suggest that corticocortical reorganization attributable to the absence of visual experience does not reverse when thalamocortical visual signals are restored. Indeed, responses to auditory motion stimuli in visual-motion-responsive regions MT/MST, which have been demonstrated in congenitally blind individuals (Bedny et al.,

¹⁸ Participant M.M., who was not congenitally blind prior to sight recovery, as his blindness followed a chemical accident at 3 years of age. His vision was restored via a stem-cell procedure after 40 years of blindness.

2010), were reported in one sight recovery participant (Saenz et al., 2008)¹⁹. Further, an fMRI study using auditory, visual and audio-visual speech stimuli demonstrated a lack of typical cortical signatures of multisensory integration in CC individuals: an enhanced response to audio-visual compared to auditory or visual stimulation was not seen in the STS, and an atypical suppression of audio-visual compared to visual responses was observed in the visual cortex, in the same study (Guerreiro, Putzar, et al., 2015). The authors suggested that restored visual input might interfere with auditory (presumably cross-modal) signals in the visual cortex (de Heering et al., 2016; Guerreiro, Putzar, et al., 2015; Putzar, Goerendt, et al., 2007) (see Section 3.4.3).

However, an account of alterations in correlates of corticocortical processing following congenital visual deprivation requires reconciliation with findings of partial recovery. Concomitant with the evidence for altered corticocortical processing following congenital visual deprivation, certain aspects appeared to be preserved in the CC visual cortex. In Pant et al. (2023, Appendix II), while 5/13 CC individuals did not show above-threshold stimulus-evoked alpha oscillations, the other 8/13individuals did demonstrate recovery of stimulus-evoked alpha activity, consistent with preservation or recovery of the underlying circuits. Given that the presence vs. absence of above-threshold stimulus-evoked alpha oscillations additionally predicted better visual acuity, it might be inferred that greater alteration of underlying feedback circuits corresponds to worse visual outcomes when sight is restored. One previous fMRI study directly investigated feedback processing by measuring the effect of task relevance in CC individuals' responses to moving face stimuli (Guerreiro et al., 2022). They found that face-selective FFA responses and motion-selective hMT+ responses in CC individuals increased to the level of SC individuals when the stimuli were task relevant. However, FFA and hMT+ responses were lowered in CC compared to SC individuals when stimuli were task irrelevant. Therefore, this study concluded that top-down modulation of neural activity at least partly in these areas seemed to have recovered in CC individuals (Guerreiro et al., 2022). Finally, EEG responses to biological motion processing (along with behavioral responses, see Section 3.4.3) appeared to be intact in CC individuals (Bottari et al., 2015). Longitudinal assessment of resting-state alpha activity in CC individuals pre- and post- surgery might help disentangle whether such findings are the result of preservation despite the absence of patterned vision, or recovery following sight restoration. The

¹⁹ Saenz et al (2008) tested one participant (M.S.) who was congenitally blind prior to cataract removal in one eye at age 43 (acuity 20/400), and diagnosed with retinopathy of prematurity in the other eye. This study also tested participant M.M. (see footnote 18).

principles governing which aspects of feedback processing remain intact and which aspects suffer permanent impairment from congenital visual deprivation remain an area of active enquiry.

One hypothesis on the representational level suggested that top-down, generative "priors" might be carried by spontaneous activity in the brain (Alamia & VanRullen, 2019; Buzsáki, 2006; Fiser et al., 2010; Friston, 2005; Trägenap et al., 2023), providing a "scaffold" for stimulus-evoked processing. Several researchers have speculated that experience refines such priors (Guidotti et al., 2015; C. M. Lewis et al., 2009). In this context, partial recovery of resting-state (Ossandón et al., 2023; Pant et al., 2023; Raczy et al., 2022) and stimulus-evoked activity in CC individuals might reflect that in the absence of visual experience, specific "priors" which rely on the visual modality are disrupted.

3.4 Anatomical evidence for altered corticocortical circuitry due to congenital visual deprivation.

A recent study directly tested corticocortical connectivity after congenital visual deprivation by investigating white-matter tracts in CC children²⁰ (Pedersini et al., 2023). No changes in white matter integrity in the optic radiation and the optic tract were found following cataract surgery. This absence of structural changes following sight restoration was interpreted as resulting from the closure of the sensitive period for the early visual cortex. By contrast, three white matter pathways which project to the visual cortex (superior longitudinal fasciculus (SLF)²¹, inferior fronto-occipital fasciculus (IFOF)²², and inferior longitudinal fasciculus (ILF)²³) demonstrated significantly increased fractional anisotropy following cataract removal surgery. Further, the posterior callosum forceps²⁴ showed a significantly lower mean diffusivity as a function of time since surgery. As increased fractional anisotropy and reduced mean diffusivity are thought to indicate increased structural integrity of these tracts, Pedersini et al. interpreted their findings to result from plasticity following sight restoration.

These results from CC individuals conform to some structural changes observed in the corticocortical pathways of CB individuals. Ptito et al reported increased white matter volume in the SLF and IFOF, i.e. between frontal and occipital cortex; and simultaneously, white matter atrophy in the ILF, splenium of the corpus callosum, optic tract and optic radiations (Ptito et al., 2008). One other study additionally reported reduced integrity of the splenium (Tomaiuolo et al., 2014), suggesting

²⁰ Participants aged 6-16 years were tested pre- and post- operatively, with data from 4-11 visits per participant.

²¹ White matter tract which connects the frontal, occipital, parietal, and temporal lobes

²² White matter tract which passes backward from the frontal lobe into the occipital and temporal lobe

²³ White matter tract which connects the occipital and temporal lobe

²⁴ Callosal white matter bundle that connects the occipital lobes across hemispheres

that inter-hemispheric communication in the occipital cortex is reduced in CB individuals. Crucially, as several studies have documented atrophy of thalamocortical tracts in CB individuals (Noppeney, 2007; Ptito et al., 2008; Shimony et al., 2006), these data support the argument that corticocortical projections (particularly from the frontal cortex) might be the source of cross-modal changes during blindness (Bedny, 2017).²⁵ In the context of sight recovery and Pedersini et al's findings, along with the physiological findings outlined in Section 3.4.1, the extent of reversal of these structural differences might determine the extent of visual recovery, or conversely, persistent cross-modal influences in behavior (Section 3.4.1).

However, it is yet to be directly assessed whether alterations in tracts would be seen to the same extent in a large sample of pre-surgery CC adults, as in the aforementioned studies with CB individuals with diverse aetiology, including Retinopathy of Prematurity or Anophthalmia.²⁶ Individuals born blind due to dense congenital cataracts retain spontaneous activity, retinal waves and diffuse light perception during their phase of blindness. It is relevant to note that non-human animal work suggested a permissive role for patterned vision to allow for the elaboration of corticocortical pathways; light perception was sufficient for the initial growth of axonal arbors in the visual cortex (White et al., 2001; Zufferey et al., 1999), nevertheless, the specificity and extent of these connections was reduced.

3.5 Low- and high-level perceptual deficits following congenital visual deprivation *3.5.1 Visual perception following congenital visual deprivation.*

It was proposed that the visual functions with longer developmental trajectories might be the most susceptible to damage due to congenital visual deprivation (Maurer & Hensch, 2012; Röder & Kekunnaya, 2021, 2022). Given the evidence for greater deficits in feedback than feedforward pathways in CC individuals (see Section 3.4.1), such a hypothesis would predict that more complex, "top-down" reliant visual behaviors might be more likely to be impaired in CC individuals. Below, selected behavioral findings are briefly reviewed in the context of this hypothesis.

²⁵ Note, however, that fMRI and TMS findings have also implicated corticocortical connections between other primary sensory cortices and visual cortex as the source of cross-modal plasticity in congenital blindness (Klinge et al., 2010; Wittenberg et al., 2004), see (Bedny, 2017).

²⁶ Ptito et al (2008) tested 1/11 and Tomaiuolo et al (2014) tested 3/28 participants born with dense congenital cataracts in their sample.

Along with reduced logMAR visual acuity following surgery (Section 2.4.3), behavioral deficits in CC individuals appeared for high (> 2 cpd)²⁷ spatial and low (5 and 10 Hz) temporal frequencies (Ellemberg et al., 1999). Even years after surgery, CC patients treated during infancy could not see spatial frequencies of 10-20 cpd (Maurer et al., 2007). Nevertheless, despite such low-level visual deficits, CC individuals appeared to be able to complete tasks such as 2-D shape recognition (McKyton et al., 2015), object recognition (Ossandón et al., 2022) or face identification (Maurer et al., 2007). These findings suggest at least a partial recovery of visual behavior post-surgery in CC individuals, which has been established as a benefit of undergoing surgery, even late in life.

However, results from CC individuals suggest that while their visual system seems able to detect independent visual signals, the ability to integrate multiple visual signals into a single percept remains impaired (Putzar, Hötting, et al., 2007). CC individuals showed reduced performance compared to SC individuals on tasks involving the incorporation of mid- to high-level visual features, such as 3-D depth perception from shading (McKyton et al., 2015), perception of illusory contours (McKyton et al., 2015; Putzar, Hötting, et al., 2007), and perception of global motion amongst moving random dots (Bottari et al., 2018; Rajendran et al., 2020). Further, studies of face processing found that while CC individuals performed the same as controls at identifying the same person in forward facing face images (Maurer et al., 2007), they were significantly worse than controls when detecting the same face after manipulations of viewing angle (Heering et al., 2016; Putzar, Hötting, et al., 2010), lighting conditions (Putzar, Hötting, et al., 2010), and feature configuration (eg: altered spacing between the nose and mouth) (Le Grand et al., 2001). Such deficits cannot be explained solely from lower visual acuity. Indeed, CC individuals showed worse performance on coherent motion detection tasks than SC individuals (Bottari et al., 2018; Hadad et al., 2012), even when SC individuals' acuity was artificially reduced using Bangerter filters (Rajendran et al., 2020).

An exception in this pattern of increasing behavioral deficits with stimulus complexity is biological motion perception. When controlled for visual acuity, CC individuals were able to identify biological actions to the same behavioral performance levels as SC individuals (Rajendran et al., 2020). In stark contrast to face processing, CC individuals' performance level in biological motion perception stayed the same even when stimuli were viewed from different angles. This lack of experience-

²⁷ Cycles per degree (CPD) measures the spatial frequency resolution of the visual system in terms of the number of cycles (black-white pairs) that can be distinguished in one degree of visual angle, while logMAR measures the smallest discernible detail using character/symbol tests, expressed as the logarithm of the angle subtended by the character/symbol. While both are related to visual acuity, they quantify different aspects of vision and are not directly interchangeable.

dependence specific to biological motion perception was proposed to result from the privileged status of such perception with regards to an organism's survival (Bottari et al., 2015; Rajendran et al., 2020; Troje & Westhoff, 2006).

3.5.2 Multisensory behavior following congenital visual deprivation.

Peripheral input from the visual system has been shown to play a crucial role in the development of multisensory regions, and therefore, multisensory behavior (Lewkowicz & Röder, 2015). As detailed in Section 3.4.3, visual behavior deficits following sight recovery in CC individuals were shown to go beyond those expected from low visual acuity and extend to higher visual functions. Below, multisensory findings in CC individuals are briefly discussed to assess whether they might show a pattern of deficits along the processing hierarchy.

First, multisensory integration of simultaneous cues in the visuo-haptic as well as audio-visual modalities appeared preserved in CC individuals. In a simple audio-visual detection task, CC individuals showed multisensory facilitation to the same extent as SC individuals (de Heering et al., 2016; Putzar et al., 2012). Additionally, a robust illusion that result from integration of simultaneous visuo-haptic cues, the size-weight illusion, appeared to be identical between CC, DC and SC individuals (Pant et al., 2021) (Appendix III, Figure 3.2). Pant et al (2021) further confirmed that CC individuals indeed made use of visual cues for size estimation; the SWI was identical between CC and SC individuals even when handling the weights with an attached a string, thereby eliminating haptic cues of size (Figure 3.2). This finding was replicated in a separate sample of CC individuals (Piller et al., 2023), and it was longitudinally observed that while CC participants did not optimally integrate visuo-haptic size cues immediately after surgery, they developed the ability to do so within 4-12 months of surgery (Senna et al., 2021). On one hand, this finding might be unsurprising considering congenitally blind individuals tested in Pant et al (2021, Appendix III) as well as earlier work (Ellis & Lederman, 1993) showed a full-sized SWI, and that visuo-haptic transfer appeared to recover soon after sight restoration (J. Chen et al., 2016; Held et al., 2011). On the other hand, given prospective evidence that visuo-haptic development follows a long developmental trajectory (Gori et al., 2008), it might be considered surprising that the absence or degradation of visual input within this period did not impair the SWI. Finally, the ventriloquism effect, a robust illusion resulting from integration of simultaneous audio-visual cues, was also preserved in both CC and DC individuals (Bruns et al., 2022).



Figure 3.2. The size-weight illusion following transient visual deprivation. A. (Left) Set-up and (right) average z-scored weight ratings from the visuo-haptic condition of the experiment testing the Size-Weight-Illusion are displayed. Z-scored weight ratings were averaged for the Small (S), Medium (M) and Large (L) cubes across the typically sighted Control (SC), developmental cataract reversal (DC) and congenital cataract reversal (CC) groups, separately for the 350 g and 700 g weights. Error bars depict standard error of mean (SEM). B. (Left) Experimental setup and (right) average z-scored weight ratings for the visual-only condition of experiment testing the Size-Weight Illusion are displayed. Z-scored weight ratings were averaged for the Small (S), Medium (M) and Large (L) cubes across the typically sighted Control (SC) and congenital cataract reversal (CC) groups, separately for the 350 g and 700 g weights. Error bars depict SEM. Figure and caption reproduced from **Pant et al.** (2021), (Appendix III).

However, the integration of cross-modal cues further separated in space and time appeared to be altered in CC individuals. One study tested the audio-visual capture effect, wherein auditory and visual stimuli are presented with a short temporal offset with respect to each other, causing the visual stimulus to be perceived as temporally shifted towards the sound (Putzar, Goerendt, et al., 2007). CC individuals showed a reduced auditory capture effect, which was surprising considering their reduced vision might have caused them to rely more on auditory cues. The authors interpreted this finding as evidence of impaired multisensory binding processes in CC individuals. Indeed, despite exhibiting an intact spatial ventriloquism effect, CC individuals tested by Bruns et al. (2022) recalibrated visual localization based on exposure to consistently spaced audiovisual stimuli (ventriloquism after-effect) to a greater extent than DC and SC individuals (Bruns et al., 2022). In addition to integrating stimuli, sequential multisensory interactions that did not require binding differed between SC and CC individuals. A greater attentional reliance on audition in CC than SC individuals was found while task switching: CC individuals were slower than SC individuals at switching from auditory to visual tasks, but not from visual to auditory tasks (de Heering et al., 2016). Second, when tested on temporal order judgement (TOJ, described in Section 3.2), CC individuals demonstrated a reversal of the typical audio-visual or visuo-tactile TOJ biases observed in SC individuals (Badde et al., 2020). CC individuals perceived visual stimuli as occurring earlier than tactile or auditory stimuli and demonstrated a lower accuracy in the visual and cross-modal TOJ tasks than DC or SC groups. These deficits were specific to visual cues, as CC individuals performed indistinguishably from DC and SC individuals on tactile and auditory (but not visual) TOJ.

Based on these findings, it was proposed that deficits with more complex multisensory stimuli, i.e. integrated based on features other than stimulus onset, might be impaired in CC individuals (Badde et al., 2020), due to their longer developmental trajectory (Lewkowicz & Röder, 2015). In line with this proposal, CC individuals showed worse performance than SC individuals even on concurrently presented audio-visual integration tasks when they included higher cognitive components, such in the context of speech. First, CC individuals demonstrated a reduced susceptibility to the McGurk effect, which could not be explained by reduced lip reading abilities (Putzar, Hötting, et al., 2010). Second, CC individuals demonstrated no multisensory facilitation in speech perception compared to SC individuals (Putzar, Goerendt, et al., 2007).

3.5.2 Neural underpinnings of multisensory behavior following sight recovery.

An absence of evidence of differences between CC and SC individuals on certain multisensory behaviors is not unequivocal evidence of an absence of differences in, for example, visuo-haptic integration (Pant et al., 2021), particularly on a neural level. David Marr proposed that on an implementational level, differing routes might be taken to achieve the same computation (Marr, 1982). Oculomotor control in CC individuals might be considered an example of an implementational difference. Eye movements differ between CC and SC individuals, to the extent that nystagmus has been a diagnostic criterion for congenital cataracts. It nevertheless appeared that CC individuals employed identical visual exploration strategies to nystagmus controls, DC and SC individuals while performing an object detection task (Ossandón et al., 2022; Zerr et al., 2020). CC individuals accounted for nystagmus jerks, and appeared to make use of working memory information for task completion to the same extent as control groups (Ossandón et al., 2022).

Such findings add a further caveat to an interpretation of identical responses in cross-sectional studies of CC and SC individuals: rather than recovery of the "same" underlying processing as SC individuals, indistinguishable behavioral outcomes in CC individuals following surgery might be a result of alternate pathways or strategies adopted during a phase of blindness (Röder, 2001). Neuroimaging work investigating multisensory integration in CC individuals would be necessary to shed light on such pathways (Putzar, Goerendt, et al., 2010; Sourav et al., 2024).

2.6 Linking excitatory/inhibitory neurotransmission and neuronal oscillations following sight recovery in humans.

Studies of rodent development have linked the development of corticocortical connectivity to the increase in inhibition (Toyoizumi et al., 2013; Vogels et al., 2011) and proposed a modulatory role for the E/I balance in the formation of neural networks (Isaacson & Scanziani, 2011; Sadeh & Clopath, 2021). Accounts of the functioning of typical neuronal assemblies have proposed that feedforward and feedback inhibition within a population of neurons "paces" characteristic oscillatory activity (Buzsáki, 2006; Isaacson & Scanziani, 2011). The high and low excitatory phases of oscillations have been thought to accordingly align or modify incoming signals (Jensen et al., 2012). Specifically, the transmission of excitatory signals have been linked to higher frequency oscillations (Bastos et al., 2015; Van Kerkoerle et al., 2014). It was noted that the beta (15-30 Hz) range of the stimulus-evoked EEG spectrum was increased in power in CC vs SC individuals (Figure 2.1)²⁸. Together with the reduction in stimulus-evoked alpha power (**Pant et al., 2023) (Appendix II)**, this finding suggests that in CC individuals' EEG spectra, power is increased in the higher and decreased in lower frequencies during visual stimulation. In conjunction with the findings detailed in Section 2.4.1, the shift in power towards higher frequencies in CC individuals might be consistent with increased feedforward excitation.

As detailed in Section 3.2, EEG findings of increased alpha power corresponding to unattended stimuli have suggested that functional (feedback) inhibition might be reflected in alpha oscillations (Banerjee et al., 2011; Händel et al., 2011; Jensen & Mazaheri, 2010; Worden et al., 2000). In typically sighted humans, a negative relationship between MEG assessed alpha oscillatory power and pharmacologically upregulated²⁹ GABAergic function has been demonstrated (Lozano-Soldevilla et al., 2014), with a simultaneous increase in gamma power. Given that alpha power was reduced in

²⁸ The stimulation range (1-30 Hz) in Pant et al., 2023 did not allow for investigation of gamma frequencies

²⁹ Via administration of Lorazepam, a benzodiazepine known to enhance GABA conductance

CC individuals across conditions (Bottari et al., 2016; Ossandón et al., 2023; Pant et al., 2023), and that CC individuals were found to show lower Glx/GABA+ concentrations in the visual cortex (**Pant et al., Under Review**), the correlational link between inhibitory/excitatory neurotransmission and oscillatory dynamics was exploratorily assessed in 10 CC individuals. After correcting for the aperiodic component of CC individuals' EEG response, alpha power measured during visual stimulation correlated positively with Glx concentration during eye opening (Figure 3.3). Further, alpha power during eye closure was predicted by GABA+ concentration measured while CC individuals' eyes were closed (Figure 3.3). No such correlation was found for normally sighted individuals (**Pant et al., Under Review**).



Figure 3.3. Correlation between neurotransmitter concentrations and electroencephalography (EEG) measures in congenital cataract-reversal individuals. A. Correlations for the CC group are displayed between aperiodic intercept measured across occipital electrodes in the eyes closed (EC, left), eyes open (EO, middle) and visual stimulation (LU, right) conditions, and the visual cortex Glutamate/Glutamine (Glx) concentration measured in the eyes closed (right) and eyes open (middle, middle)
left) conditions respectively. Displayed p-values are Bonferroni corrected as described in Appendix I. B. (Top Row) Correlations for the CC group are displayed between alpha amplitude measured across occipital electrodes in the eyes closed (EC, left), eyes open (EO, middle) and visual stimulation (LU, right) conditions, and the visual cortex Glx concentration measured in the eyes closed (right) and eyes open (middle, left) conditions respectively. (Bottom Row) Correlations for the CC group are displayed between aperiodic intercept measured across occipital electrodes in the eyes closed (EC, left), eyes open (EO, middle) and visual stimulation (LU, right) conditions, and the visual cortex Gamma Aminobutyric Acid (GABA+) concentration measured in the eyes closed (right) and eyes open (middle, left) conditions respectively. All correlation p-values are exploratorily presented without correction for multiple comparisons. Figure and caption reproduced from Pant et al. (Under Review) (Appendix I).

As these effects were not corrected for multiple comparisons applied in Study I, and were not previously hypothesized, they undeniably require further assessment in a larger group. Nevertheless, the direction of the correlation between alpha power with GABA+/Glx concentration is reminiscent of the positive relationship between Glx and the aperiodic offset during passive and active stimulation (Figure 3.3, Section 2.4.1, Appendix I), in that it showed a correlation in CC but not SC individuals. Further, the correlation between alpha amplitude measured during active visual stimulation with Glx at eye opening, and GABA+ at eye closure, i.e., in the absence of visual stimulation, is in the direction expected from the excitatory and inhibitory role of Glx and GABA+ respectively. This effect, if replicated in a larger sample, might suggest that disrupted feedback signaling correlated with an alteration in the E/I dynamics of the visual cortex of CC individuals. Therefore, when vision is restored, not only do the measured alpha oscillations remain quantitatively lowered (Bottari et al., 2016; Ossandón et al., 2023; Pant et al., 2023), but neuronal firing might remain qualitatively "unsynchronized" to incoming visual stimulation (Jensen & Mazaheri, 2010; Zoefel & VanRullen, 2017). Note that while models based on non-human animal have proposed mechanisms by which the link between E/I dynamics and the elaboration of recurrent circuitry might be causal, correlations in neuroimaging work do not provide causal evidence.

4. Implications of findings from the congenital cataractreversal model

4.1 Implications for visual rehabilitation

The observed changes in neurotransmitter concentrations, resting-state, and task-based aperiodic EEG activity suggested an alteration of the visual cortex E/I ratio attributable to a phase of congenital blindness. Several non-human animal models (Baroncelli et al., 2012; Sale et al., 2010), and initial work with humans used disinhibition/reduction of GABAergic transmission, to restore (ocular dominance) plasticity in amblyopic adults. Mechanisms of disinhibition include fluoxetine administration (Vetencourt et al., 2008), environmental enrichment (Baroncelli et al., 2012; Bartoletti et al., 2004), exercise (Baroncelli et al., 2012), and perceptual learning (Baroncelli et al., 2011; Levi, 2005). Our findings suggesting that deficient cortical E/I dynamics might underlie the deficits in visual behavior in CC individuals would be of relevance for extending such disinhibition paradigms to pharmacological disinhibition or motor training paradigms following delayed surgery.

4.2 Insights from sensitive periods beyond the visual system

Across sensory, motor and higher cognitive domains, the sensitive period has been understood as a cascade of events (Hensch & Fagiolini, 2004; Larsen et al., 2023; Toyoizumi et al., 2013). A recent review suggested that sensitive periods might follow a sequence of similar neural processes along the sensory-motor-higher cognitive axis (Larsen et al., 2023). Therefore, isolating maturational changes in the visual system offers insight into what might be general principles of neuroplasticity in the human brain.

In the auditory domain, the age-dependence of successful cochlear implantation in individuals born with sensorineural hearing loss has been established (Geren & Snedeker, 2009; Gilley et al., 2010; Kral & Eggermont, 2007; Nicholas & Geers, 2007), analogous to early cataract removal in the visual domain (Birch et al., 1993, 2009). No age-dependent outcome differences were reported in adult groups implanted from the age of 20 years onwards (Schwab et al., 2015). This phenomenon is thought to reflect sensitive periods in auditory development. The development of corticocortical interareal interactions in the auditory cortex as an underlying maturational process of sensitive period plasticity was directly demonstrated in congenitally deaf and cochlear implanted cats (Kral et al., 2017; Yusuf et al., 2022), and indirectly in humans via an increased latency of the P1 evoked potential³⁰ with increased age at cochlear implantation (Sharma et al., 2002; Silva et al., 2017). On a representational level, it was proposed that the feature space gradient typically represented in the cortex undergoes refinement within the sensitive period (Kral, 2013). In atypical development, this feature space was described as "smeared," therefore making it harder for the animal to use incorrectly represented features in learning and higher-order tasks. The present work from congenital cataract-reversal individuals supports such an interpretation and extends it to the visual domain in humans.

4.3 Limitations of the sight recovery approach

While this cumulus discussed patterns across non-human and human studies, generalization across various species and methods requires caution. As non-invasive measures used in cognitive neuroscience do not allow for "direct" measurement, correlational signals do not indicate the same level of evidence that is seen with invasive animal models, and vice versa. Post-mortem histological studies with congenital cataract-reversal and permanently congenitally blind individuals would help shed light on cytoarchitectonic and tract changes corresponding to visual deprivation.

Further, we focused on two specific processes underlying sensitive periods. Given that in biological systems several processes interact, the interpretation of the effects seen in these studies is incomplete. Other key mechanisms of sensitive period plasticity, namely, acetylcholine transmission (Bear & Singer, 1986; Liu et al., 1994; Morishita, 2012) and myelination (Innocenti, 2022; Larsen et al., 2023), have not been investigated. Further studies are necessary to shed light on acetylcholine transmission in permanent and transient visual deprivation, via MRS quantification of Choline³¹ during visual processing. Additionally, the characterization of myelin sheath integrity via T2 imaging (van der Weijden et al., 2021) might provide insight into whether myelination in the visual cortex relies on patterned visual input.

Not all the studies discussed tested a developmental cataract group to control for a period of patterned visual deprivation later in life, or a nystagmus control group to control for effects of involuntary eye movements. Despite findings consistent with the hypothesized sensitive period and prior literature, the extension of these paradigms to developmental cataract-reversal individuals, and

³⁰ Analogous to the visual domain, the P1 ERP has been linked to higher auditory processing in the auditory cortex, see Sourav et al., 2018.

³¹ Choline is the metabolic stage of the acetylcholine-choline cycle which is "visible" with Magnetic Resonance Spectroscopy (Lindner et al., 2017; Rae, 2014)

individuals with nystagmus, is necessary to assess the specificity of the observed effects to disruption of patterned visual experience at birth.

Finally, the sample sizes in almost all the studies in this dissertation are small, given that the population of CC individuals is rare. Nevertheless, replications and larger sample studies over longer time periods are necessary before generalizing such findings.

4.4 Conclusions

Recent neuroimaging and electrophysiological work in individuals with reversed congenital cataracts is consistent with an alteration of the E/I ratio, and a disruption of processing reliant on corticocortical circuits. This body of evidence, together with prior work implicating these processes in non-human animal models, suggests that the establishment of an E/I balance and the elaboration of corticocortical networks in the visual cortex might be two processes which underlie sensitive periods in the human visual cortex.

References

- Aguirre, G. K., Datta, R., Benson, N. C., Prasad, S., Jacobson, S. G., Cideciyan, A. V., Bridge, H., Watkins, K. E., Butt, O. H., Dain, A. S., Brandes, L., & Gennatas, E. D. (2016). Patterns of individual variation in visual pathway structure and function in the sighted and blind. *PLoS ONE*. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0164677
- Alamia, A., & VanRullen, R. (2019). Alpha oscillations and traveling waves: Signatures of predictive coding? PLOS Biology, 17(10), e3000487. https://doi.org/10.1371/JOURNAL.PBIO.3000487
- Angelucci, A., & Bressloff, P. C. (2006). Contribution of feedforward, lateral and feedback connections to the classical receptive field center and extra-classical receptive field surround of primate V1 neurons. *Progress in Brain Research*, 154(SUPPL. A), 93–120. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0079-6123(06)54005-1
- Antonini, A., & Stryker, M. P. (1998). Effect of sensory disuse on geniculate afferents to cat visual cortex. Visual Neuroscience, 15(3), 401–409. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0952523898153105
- Arcaro, M. J., & Livingstone, M. S. (2021). On the relationship between maps and domains in inferotemporal cortex. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience 2021 22:9*, 22(9), 573–583. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41583-021-00490-4
- Badde, S., Ley, P., Rajendran, S. S., Shareef, I., Kekunnaya, R., & Röder, B. (2020). Sensory experience during early sensitive periods shapes cross-modal temporal biases. *eLife*. https://doi.org/10.7554/ELIFE.61238
- Banerjee, S., Snyder, A. C., Molholm, S., & Foxe, J. J. (2011). Oscillatory alpha-band mechanisms and the deployment of spatial attention to anticipated auditory and visual target locations: Supramodal or sensory-specific control mechanisms? *Journal of Neuroscience*, 31(27), 9923–9932. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4660-10.2011
- Banks, M., Aslin, R., & Letson, R. (1975). Sensitive period for the development of human binocular vision. *Science*, 190(4215), 675–677. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1188363
- Barnes, S. J., Sammons, R. P., Jacobsen, R. I., Mackie, J., Keller, G. B., & Keck, T. (2015). Subnetwork-specific homeostatic plasticity in mouse visual cortex in vivo. *Neuron*, 86(5), 1290–1303. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.NEURON.2015.05.010
- Baroncelli, L., Bonaccorsi, J., Milanese, M., Bonifacino, T., Giribaldi, F., Manno, I., Cenni, M. C., Berardi, N., Bonanno, G., Maffei, L., & Sale, A. (2012). Enriched experience and recovery from amblyopia in adult rats: Impact of motor, social and sensory components. *Neuropharmacology*, 62(7), 2388–2397. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropharm.2012.02.010
- Baroncelli, L., Maffei, L., & Sale, A. (2011). New perspectives in amblyopia therapy on adults: A critical role for the excitatory/inhibitory balance. *Frontiers in Cellular Neuroscience*, 5(NOVEMBER), 1–6. https://doi.org/10.3389/FNCEL.2011.00025
- Barone, P., Dehay, C., Berland, M., Bullier, J., & Kennedy, H. (1995). Developmental remodeling of primate visual cortical pathways. *Cerebral Cortex*, 5(1), 22–38. https://doi.org/10.1093/CERCOR/5.1.22
- Bartoletti, A., Medini, P., Berardi, N., & Maffei, L. (2004). Environmental enrichment prevents effects of dark-rearing in the rat visual cortex. *Nature Neuroscience*, 7(3), 215–216. https://doi.org/10.1038/nn1201
- Bastos, A. M., Vezoli, J., Bosman, C. A., Schoffelen, J. M., Oostenveld, R., Dowdall, J. R., DeWeerd, P., Kennedy, H., & Fries, P. (2015). Visual areas exert feedforward and feedback influences through distinct frequency channels. *Neuron*, 85(2), 390–401. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.NEURON.2014.12.018
- Batardière, A., Barone, P., Knoblauch, K., Giroud, P., Berland, M., Dumas, A. M., & Kennedy, H. (2002). Early specification of the hierarchical organization of visual cortical areas in the macaque monkey. *Cerebral Cortex* (New York, N.Y.: 1991), 12(5), 453–465. https://doi.org/10.1093/CERCOR/12.5.453
- Bear, M. F., & Singer, W. (1986). Modulation of visual cortical plasticity by acetylcholine and noradrenaline. *Nature*, *320*(6058), 172–176. https://doi.org/10.1038/320172a0
- Bedny, M. (2017). Evidence from blindness for a cognitively pluripotent cortex. In Trends in Cognitive Sciences. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tics.2017.06.003
- Bedny, M., Konkle, T., Pelphrey, K., Saxe, R., & Pascual-Leone, A. (2010). Sensitive period for a multimodal response in human visual motion area MT/MST. *Current Biology*, 20(21), 1900–1906. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2010.09.044
- Benevento, L. A., Bakkum, B. W., Port, J. D., & Cohen, R. S. (1992). The effects of dark-rearing on the electrophysiology of the rat visual cortex. *Brain Research*, 572(1–2), 198–207. https://doi.org/10.1016/0006-8993(92)90470-T
- Berardi, N., Pizzorusso, T., & Maffei, L. (2000). Critical periods during sensory development. Current Opinion in Neurobiology, 10(1), 138–145. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0959-4388(99)00047-1
- Bezalel, V., Paz, R., & Tal, A. (2019). Inhibitory and excitatory mechanisms in the human cingulate-cortex support reinforcement learning: A functional Proton Magnetic Resonance Spectroscopy study. *NeuroImage*, 184, 25–35. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.NEUROIMAGE.2018.09.016

- Birch, E. E., Cheng, C., Stager, D. R., Weakley, D. R., & Stager, D. R. (2009). The critical period for surgical treatment of dense congenital bilateral cataracts. *Journal of Aapos*, 13(1), 67. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JAAPOS.2008.07.010
- Birch, E. E., Swanson, W. H., Stager, D. R., Woody, M., & Everett, M. (1993). Outcome after very early treatment of dense congenital unilateral cataract. *Investigative Ophthalmology and Visual Science*.
- Bock, A. S., Kroenke, C. D., Taber, E. N., & Olavarria, J. F. (2012). Retinal input influences the size and corticocortical connectivity of visual cortex during postnatal development in the ferret. *Journal of Comparative Neurology*, 520(5), 914–932. https://doi.org/10.1002/CNE.22738
- Bock, A. S., & Olavarria, J. F. (2011). Neonatal enucleation during a critical period reduces the precision of corticocortical projections in visual cortex. *Neuroscience Letters*, 501(3), 152–156. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.NEULET.2011.07.005
- Bottari, D., Kekunnaya, R., Hense, M., Troje, N. F., Sourav, S., & Röder, B. (2018). Motion processing after sight restoration: No competition between visual recovery and auditory compensation. *NeuroImage*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2017.11.050
- Bottari, D., Troje, N. F., Ley, P., Hense, M., Kekunnaya, R., & Röder, B. (2015). The neural development of the biological motion processing system does not rely on early visual input. *Cortex*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cortex.2015.07.029
- Bottari, D., Troje, N. F., Ley, P., Hense, M., Kekunnaya, R., & Röder, B. (2016). Sight restoration after congenital blindness does not reinstate alpha oscillatory activity in humans. *Scientific Reports*. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep24683
- Bourgeois, J. P. (1996). Synaptogenesis in the occipital cortex of macaque monkey devoid of retinal input from early embryonic stages. *The European Journal of Neuroscience*, 8(5), 942–950. https://doi.org/10.1111/J.1460-9568.1996.TB01581.X
- Bourgeois, J. P., Goldman-Rakic, P. S., & Rakic, P. (2000). Formation, elimination, and stabilization of synapses in the primate cerebral cortex. In M. S. Gazzaniga (Ed.), *The New Cognitive Neurosciences*. (2nd ed.). MIT Press.
- Braddick, O., & Atkinson, J. (2011). Development of human visual function. *Vision Research*, 51(13), 1588–1609. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.VISRES.2011.02.018
- Bridge, H., Cowey, A., Ragge, N., & Watkins, K. (2009). Imaging studies in congenital anophthalmia reveal preservation of brain architecture in "visual" cortex. *Brain*. https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/awp279
- Bruns, P., Li, L., Guerreiro, M. J. S., Shareef, I., Rajendran, S. S., Pitchaimuthu, K., Kekunnaya, R., & Röder, B. (2022). Audiovisual spatial recalibration but not integration is shaped by early sensory experience. *iScience*, 25(6). https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ISCI.2022.104439
- Burkhalter, A. (1993). Development of forward and feedback connections between areas V1 and V2 of human visual cortex. *Cerebral Cortex (New York, N.Y.: 1991)*, *3*(5), 476–487. https://doi.org/10.1093/CERCOR/3.5.476
- Burkhalter, A., Bernardo, K. L., & Charles, V. (1993). Development of local circuits in human visual cortex. The Journal of Neuroscience, 13(5), 1916. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.13-05-01916.1993
- Burton, H., Snyder, A. Z., & Raichle, M. E. (2014). Resting state functional connectivity in early blind humans. Frontiers in Systems Neuroscience, 8(1 APR), 66332. https://doi.org/10.3389/FNSYS.2014.00051/BIBTEX
- Buzsáki, G. (2006). Rhythms of the Brain. Rhythms of the Brain, 1–464. https://doi.org/10.1093/ACPROF:OSO/9780195301069.001.0001
- Cellier, D., Riddle, J., Petersen, I., & Hwang, K. (2021a). The development of theta and alpha neural oscillations from ages 3 to 24 years. *Developmental Cognitive Neuroscience*, *50*, 100969. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.DCN.2021.100969
- Cellier, D., Riddle, J., Petersen, I., & Hwang, K. (2021b). The development of theta and alpha neural oscillations from ages 3 to 24 years. *Developmental Cognitive Neuroscience*, 50, 100969. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.DCN.2021.100969
- Chen, J., Wu, E. De, Chen, X., Zhu, L. H., Li, X., Thorn, F., Ostrovsky, Y., & Qu, J. (2016). Rapid integration of tactile and visual information by a newly sighted child. *Current Biology*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2016.02.065
- Chen, L., Li, X., Tjia, M., & Thapliyal, S. (2022). Homeostatic plasticity and excitation-inhibition balance: The good, the bad and the ugly. *Current Opinion in Neurobiology*, *75*, 102553. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CONB.2022.102553
- Chini, M., Pfeffer, T., & Hanganu-Opatz, I. (2022). An increase of inhibition drives the developmental decorrelation of neural activity. *eLife*, 11. https://doi.org/10.7554/ELIFE.78811
- Cho, K. K. A., Khibnik, L., Philpot, B. D., & Bear, M. F. (2009). The ratio of NR2A/B NMDA receptor subunits determines the qualities of ocular dominance plasticity in visual cortex. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 106(13), 5377–5382. https://doi.org/10.1073/PNAS.0808104106/SUPPL_FILE/0808104106SI.PDF
- Clark, V. P., Fan, S., & Hillyard, S. A. (1994). Identification of early visual evoked potential generators by retinotopic and topographic analyses. *Human Brain Mapping*, 2(3), 170–187. https://doi.org/10.1002/HBM.460020306

- Clayton, M. S., Yeung, N., & Cohen Kadosh, R. (2018). The many characters of visual alpha oscillations. *European Journal* of Neuroscience, 48(7), 2498–2508. https://doi.org/10.1111/EJN.13747
- Collignon, O., Dormal, G., Albouy, G., Vandewalle, G., Voss, P., Phillips, C., & Lepore, F. (2013). Impact of blindness onset on the functional organization and the connectivity of the occipital cortex. *Brain*, 136(9), 2769–2783. https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/awt176
- Coullon, G. S. L., Emir, U. E., Fine, I., Watkins, K. E., & Bridge, H. (2015). Neurochemical changes in the pericalcarine cortex in congenital blindness attributable to bilateral anophthalmia. *Journal of Neurophysiology*. https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.00567.2015
- Cynader, M. (1983). Prolonged sensitivity to monocular deprivation in dark-reared cats: Effects of age and visual exposure. *Brain Research*, 284(2-3), 155–164. https://doi.org/10.1016/0165-3806(83)90002-0
- de Heering, A., Dormal, G., Pelland, M., Lewis, T. L., Maurer, D., & Collignon, O. (2016). A brief period of postnatal visual deprivation alters the balance between auditory and visual attention. *Current Biology*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2016.10.014
- Deen, B., Saxe, R., & Bedny, M. (2015). Occipital cortex of blind individuals is functionally coupled with executive control areas of frontal cortex. *Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience*. https://doi.org/10.1162/jocn_a_00807
- Dehaene, S., & Dehaene-Lambertz, G. (2016). Is the brain prewired for letters? *Nature Neuroscience*, 19(9), 1192–1193. https://doi.org/10.1038/nn.4369
- Dehaene, S., Pegado, F., Braga, L. W., Ventura, P., Nunes Filho, G., Jobert, A., Dehaene-Lambertz, G., Kolinsky, R., Morais, J., & Cohen, L. (2010). How learning to read changes the cortical networks for vision and language. *Science*, 330(6009), 1359–1364.
- https://doi.org/10.1126/SCIENCE.1194140/SUPPL_FILE/DEHAENE.SOM.PDF Dehghani, N., Peyrache, A., Telenczuk, B., Le Van Quyen, M., Halgren, E., Cash, S. S., Hatsopoulos, N. G., & Destexhe, A. (2016). Dynamic balance of excitation and inhibition in human and monkey neocortex. *Scientific Reports 2016 6:1*, 6(1), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep23176
- Dekker, T. M., Schwarzkopf, D. S., de Haas, B., Nardini, M., & Sereno, M. I. (2019). Population receptive field tuning properties of visual cortex during childhood. *Developmental Cognitive Neuroscience*, 37, 100614. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.DCN.2019.01.001
- Distler, C., Bachevalier, J., Kennedy, C., Mishkin, M., & Ungerleider, L. G. (1996). Functional development of the corticocortical pathway for motion analysis in the macaque monkey: A14C-2-deoxyglucose study. *Cerebral Cortex*. https://doi.org/10.1093/cercor/6.2.184
- Edden, R. A. E., Muthukumaraswamy, S. D., Freeman, T. C. A., & Singh, K. D. (2009). Orientation discrimination performance Is predicted by GABA concentration and gamma oscillation frequency in human primary visual cortex. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 29(50), 15721. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4426-09.2009
- Ellemberg, D., Lewis, T. L., Maurer, D., Hong Lui, C., & Brent, H. P. (1999). Spatial and temporal vision in patients treated for bilateral congenital cataracts. *Vision Research*. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0042-6989(99)00078-4
- Ellis, R. R., & Lederman, S. J. (1993). The role of haptic versus visual volume cues in the size-weight illusion. *Perception* & *Psychophysics*, 53(3), 315–324. https://doi.org/10.3758/BF03205186
- Emberson, L. L. (2017). How does experience shape early development? Considering the role of top-down mechanisms. Advances in Child Development and Behavior, 52, 1. https://doi.org/10.1016/BS.ACDB.2016.10.001
- Fagiolini, M., & Hensch, T. K. (2000). Inhibitory threshold for critical-period activation in primary visual cortex. *Nature*. https://doi.org/10.1038/35004582
- Fang, Q., Li, Y. T., Peng, B., Li, Z., Zhang, L. I., & Tao, H. W. (2021). Balanced enhancements of synaptic excitation and inhibition underlie developmental maturation of receptive fields in the mouse visual cortex. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 41(49), 10065–10079. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0442-21.2021
- Felleman, D., & Van Essen, D. C. (1991). Distributed hierarchical processing in the primate cerebral cortex. Cerebral Cortex (New York, N.Y.: 1991), 1(1), 1. https://doi.org/10.1093/CERCOR/1.1.1-A
- Feng, Y., Collignon, O., Maurer, D., Yao, K., & Gao, X. (2021). Brief postnatal visual deprivation triggers long-lasting interactive structural and functional reorganization of the human cortex. *Frontiers in Medicine*, 8, 752021. https://doi.org/10.3389/FMED.2021.752021/BIBTEX
- Fiser, J., Berkes, P., Orbán, G., & Lengyel, M. (2010). Statistically optimal perception and learning: From behavior to neural representations: Perceptual learning, motor learning, and automaticity. *Trends Cogn Sci*, 14(3), 119–130. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tics.2010.01.003
- Flores, C. E., & Méndez, P. (2014). Shaping inhibition: Activity dependent structural plasticity of GABAergic synapses. *Frontiers in Cellular Neuroscience*, 8(October), 116126. https://doi.org/10.3389/FNCEL.2014.00327/BIBTEX
- Friston, K. (2005). A theory of cortical responses. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences, 360(1456), 815. https://doi.org/10.1098/RSTB.2005.1622

- Froemke, R. C. (2015). Plasticity of cortical excitatory-inhibitory balance. *Annual Review of Neuroscience*, 38, 195–219. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-neuro-071714-034002
- Gao, R., Peterson, E. J., & Voytek, B. (2017). Inferring synaptic excitation/inhibition balance from field potentials. *NeuroImage*, 158(March), 70–78. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2017.06.078
- Geren, J., & Snedeker, J. (2009). Syntactic and lexical development in children with cochlear implants. Unpublished Paper, Harvard University, 1–35.
- Gianfranceschi, L., Siciliano, R., Walls, J., Morales, B., Kirkwood, A., Huang, Z. J., Tonegawa, S., & Maffei, L. (2003). Visual cortex is rescued from the effects of dark rearing by overexpression of BDNF. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 100(21), 12486–12491. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1934836100

Gilbert, C., & Li, W. (2013). Top-down influences on visual processing. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrn3476

- Gilley, P. M., Sharma, A., Mitchell, T. V., & Dorman, M. F. (2010). The influence of a sensitive period for auditoryvisual integration in children with cochlear implants. *Restorative Neurology and Neuroscience*, 28(2), 207–218. https://doi.org/10.3233/RNN-2010-0525
- Gomez, J., Drain, A., Jeska, B., Natu, V. S., Barnett, M., & Grill-Spector, K. (2019). Development of population receptive fields in the lateral visual stream improves spatial coding amid stable structural-functional coupling. *NeuroImage*, 188, 59. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.NEUROIMAGE.2018.11.056
- Gomez, J., Natu, V., Jeska, B., Barnett, M., & Grill-Spector, K. (2018). Development differentially sculpts receptive fields across early and high-level human visual cortex. *Nature Communications 2018 9:1*, 9(1), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-018-03166-3
- Gori, M., Del Viva, M., Sandini, G., & Burr, D. C. (2008). Young children do not integrate visual and haptic form information. *Current Biology*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2008.04.036
- Guerreiro, M. J. S., Erfort, M. V., Henssler, J., Putzar, L., & Röder, B. (2015). Increased visual cortical thickness in sight-recovery individuals. *Human Brain Mapping*. https://doi.org/10.1002/hbm.23009
- Guerreiro, M. J. S., Kekunnaya, R., & Röder, B. (2022). Top-down modulation of visual cortical processing after transient congenital blindness. *Neuropsychologia*, 174. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.NEUROPSYCHOLOGIA.2022.108338
- Guerreiro, M. J. S., Linke, M., Lingareddy, S., Kekunnaya, R., & Röder, B. (2021). The effect of congenital blindness on resting-state functional connectivity revisited. *Scientific Reports 2021 11:1*, 11(1), 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-021-91976-9
- Guerreiro, M. J. S., Putzar, L., & Röder, B. (2015). The effect of early visual deprivation on the neural bases of multisensory processing. *Brain.* https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/awv076
- Guidotti, R., Del Gratta, C., Baldassarre, A., Romani, G. L., & Corbetta, M. (2015). Visual learning induces changes in resting-state fMRI multivariate pattern of information. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 35(27), 9786. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3920-14.2015
- Hadad, B. S., Maurer, D., & Lewis, T. L. (2012). Sparing of sensitivity to biological motion but not of global motion after early visual deprivation. *Developmental Science*. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-7687.2012.01145.x
- Haider, B., Duque, A., Hasenstaub, A. R., & McCormick, D. A. (2006). Neocortical network activity in vivo is generated through a dynamic balance of excitation and inhibition. *Journal of Neuroscience*. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.5297-05.2006
- Hammett, S. T., Cook, E., Hassan, O., Hughes, C. A., Rooslien, H., Tizkar, R., & Larsson, J. (2020). GABA, noise and gain in human visual cortex. *Neuroscience Letters*, 736, 135294. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.NEULET.2020.135294
- Händel, B. F., Haarmeier, T., & Jensen, O. (2011). Alpha oscillations correlate with the successful inhibition of unattended stimuli. *Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience*. https://doi.org/10.1162/jocn.2010.21557
- Harwerth, R. S., Smith, E. L., Crawford, M. L. J., & von Noorden, G. K. (1990). Behavioral studies of the sensitive periods of development of visual functions in monkeys. *Behavioural Brain Research*, 41(3), 179–198. https://doi.org/10.1016/0166-4328(90)90107-P
- Hasson, U., Andric, M., Atilgan, H., & Collignon, O. (2016). Congenital blindness is associated with large-scale reorganization of anatomical networks. *NeuroImage*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2015.12.048
- Heering, A. de, Dormal, G., Pelland, M., Lewis, T. L., Maurer, D., & Collignon, O. (2016). A brief period of postnatal visual deprivation alters the balance between auditory and visual attention. *Current Biology*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2016.10.014
- Heitmann, C., Zhan, M., Linke, M., Hölig, C., Kekunnaya, R., Hoof, R. van, Goebel, R., & Röder, B. (2023). Early visual experience refines the retinotopic organization within and across visual cortical regions. *Current Biology*, 0(0). https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CUB.2023.10.010
- Held, R., Ostrovsky, Y., Degelder, B., Gandhi, T., Ganesh, S., Mathur, U., & Sinha, P. (2011). The newly sighted fail to match seen with felt. *Nature Neuroscience*, 14(5), 551–553. https://doi.org/10.1038/nn.2795

Hensch, T. K. (2004). Critical period regulation. *Annual Review of Neuroscience*. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.neuro.27.070203.144327

- Hensch, T. K. (2005). Critical period plasticity in local cortical circuits. Nature Reviews Neuroscience, 6(11), 877–888. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrn1787
- Hensch, T. K., & Fagiolini, M. (2004). Excitatory-inhibitory balance and critical period plasticity in developing visual cortex. Progress in Brain Research, 147(SPEC. ISS.), 115–124. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0079-6123(04)47009-5
- Hensch, T. K., & Fagiolini, M. (2005). Excitatory-inhibitory balance and critical period plasticity in developing visual cortex. *Progress in Brain Research*, 147(SPEC. ISS.), 115–124. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0079-6123(04)47009-5
- Hensch, T. K., Fagiolini, M., Mataga, N., Stryker, M. P., Baekkeskov, S., & Kash, S. F. (1998). Local GABA circuit control of experience-dependent plasticity in developing visual cortex. *Science*. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.282.5393.1504
- Hensch, T. K., & Stryker, M. P. (2004). Columnar Architecture Sculpted by GABA Circuits in Developing Cat Visual Cortex. Science (New York, N.Y.), 303(5664), 1678. https://doi.org/10.1126/SCIENCE.1091031
- Herrmann, C. S. (2001). Human EEG responses to 1-100 Hz flicker: Resonance phenomena in visual cortex and their potential correlation to cognitive phenomena. *Experimental Brain Research*, 137(3–4), 346–353. https://doi.org/10.1007/s002210100682
- Herrmann, C. S., Murray, M. M., Ionta, S., Hutt, A., & Lefebvre, J. (2016). Shaping intrinsic neural oscillations with periodic stimulation. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 36(19), 5328–5337. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0236-16.2016
- Hirsch, G. V, Bauer, C. M., & Merabet, L. B. (2015). Using structural and functional brain imaging to uncover how the brain adapts to blindness. *Annals of Neuroscience and Psychology*, 2(5).
- Hölig, C., Guerreiro, M. J. S., Lingareddy, S., Kekunnaya, R., & Röder, B. (2023). Sight restoration in congenitally blind humans does not restore visual brain structure. *Cerebral Cortex*, 33(5), 2152–2161. https://doi.org/10.1093/CERCOR/BHAC197
- Hubel, D. H., & Wiesel, T. N. (1970). The period of susceptibility to the physiological effects of unilateral eye closure in kittens. *The Journal of Physiology*. https://doi.org/10.1113/jphysiol.1970.sp009022
- Huber, E., Webster, J. M., Brewer, A. A., MacLeod, D. I. A., Wandell, B. A., Boynton, G. M., Wade, A. R., & Fine, I. (2015). A lack of experience-dependent plasticity after more than a decade of recovered sight. *Psychological Science*, 26(4), 393–401. https://doi.org/10.1177/0956797614563957
- Innocenti, G. M. (2022). Defining neuroplasticity. *Handbook of Clinical Neurology*, 184, 3–18. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-819410-2.00001-1
- Ip, B. I., & Bridge, H. (2021). Investigating the neurochemistry of the human visual system using magnetic resonance spectroscopy. *Brain Structure and Function 2021 227:4*, 227(4), 1491–1505. https://doi.org/10.1007/S00429-021-02273-0
- Ip, B. I., Emir, U. E., Lunghi, C., Parker, A. J., & Bridge, H. (2021). GABAergic inhibition in the human visual cortex relates to eye dominance. *Scientific Reports 2021 11:1*, 11(1), 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-021-95685-1
- Ip, B. I., Emir, U. E., Parker, A. J., Campbell, J., & Bridge, H. (2019). Comparison of neurochemical and BOLD signal contrast response functions in the human visual cortex. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 39(40), 7968. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3021-18.2019
- Isaacson, J. S., & Scanziani, M. (2011). How inhibition shapes cortical activity. *Neuron*, 72(2), 231–243. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.NEURON.2011.09.027
- Jensen, O., Bonnefond, M., & VanRullen, R. (2012). An oscillatory mechanism for prioritizing salient unattended stimuli. Trends in Cognitive Sciences, 16(4), 200–206. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.TICS.2012.03.002
- Jensen, O., & Mazaheri, A. (2010). Shaping functional architecture by oscillatory alpha activity: Gating by inhibition. *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience*. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnhum.2010.00186
- Jiang, J., Zhu, W., Shi, F., Liu, Y., Li, J., Qin, W., Li, K., Yu, C., & Jiang, T. (2009). Thick visual cortex in the early blind. Journal of Neuroscience. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.5451-08.2009
- Kalia, A., Lesmes, L. A., Dorr, M., Gandhi, T., Chatterjee, G., Ganesh, S., Bex, P. J., & Sinha, P. (2014). Development of pattern vision following early and extended blindness. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 111(5), 2035– 2039. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1311041111
- Kanjlia, S., Lane, C., Feigenson, L., & Bedny, M. (2016). Absence of visual experience modifies the neural basis of numerical thinking. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1524982113
- Kanjlia, S., Pant, R., & Bedny, M. (2018). Sensitive period for cognitive repurposing of human visual cortex. Cerebral Cortex. https://doi.org/10.1093/cercor/bhy280
- Kato, H. K., Asinof, S. K., & Isaacson, J. S. (2017). Network-level control of frequency tuning in auditory cortex. *Neuron*, 95(2), 412. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.NEURON.2017.06.019

- Keck, T., Hübener, M., & Bonhoeffer, T. (2017). Interactions between synaptic homeostatic mechanisms: An attempt to reconcile BCM theory, synaptic scaling, and changing excitation/inhibition balance. *Current Opinion in Neurobiology*, 43, 87–93. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CONB.2017.02.003
- Khalil, R., & Levitt, J. B. (2014). Developmental remodeling of corticocortical feedback circuits inferret visual cortex. The Journal of Comparative Neurology, 522(14), 3208. https://doi.org/10.1002/CNE.23591
- Khanna, R., Foster, A., Krishnaiah, S., Mehta, M., & Gogate, P. (2013). Visual outcomes of bilateral congenital and developmental cataracts in young children in south India and causes of poor outcome. *Indian Journal of Ophthalmology*, 61(2), 65–70. https://doi.org/10.4103/0301-4738.107194
- Klimesch, W., Sauseng, P., & Hanslmayr, S. (2007). EEG alpha oscillations: The inhibition-timing hypothesis. In *Brain Research Reviews*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brainresrev.2006.06.003
- Klinge, C., Eippert, F., Röder, B., & Büchel, C. (2010). Corticocortical connections mediate primary visual cortex responses to auditory stimulation in the blind. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 30(38), 12798–12805. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2384-10.2010
- Knudsen, E. I. (2004). Sensitive periods in the development of the brain and behavior. Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience. https://doi.org/10.1162/0898929042304796
- Kovács, I., Kozma, P., Fehér, Á., & Benedek, G. (1999). Late maturation of visual spatial integration in humans. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 96(21), 12204–12209. https://doi.org/10.1073/PNAS.96.21.12204
- Kral, A. (2013). Auditory critical periods: A review from system's perspective. Neuroscience, 247, 117–133. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.NEUROSCIENCE.2013.05.021
- Kral, A., & Eggermont, J. J. (2007). What's to lose and what's to learn: Development under auditory deprivation, cochlear implants and limits of cortical plasticity. *Brain Research Reviews*, 56(1), 259–269. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.BRAINRESREV.2007.07.021
- Kral, A., Yusuf, P. A., & Land, R. (2017). Higher-order auditory areas in congenital deafness: Top-down interactions and corticocortical decoupling. *Hearing Research*, 343, 50–63. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.HEARES.2016.08.017
- Kriegseis, A., Hennighausen, E., Rösler, F., & Röder, B. (2006). Reduced EEG alpha activity over parieto-occipital brain areas in congenitally blind adults. *Clinical Neurophysiology*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clinph.2006.03.030
- Kupers, R., Zhan, M., Paré, S., Dricot, L., Vaessen, M., de Gelder, B., & affiliations, A. (2022). Brain morphometric changes in congenitally blind subjects: A 7 Tesla MRI study. *bioRxiv*, 2022.05.18.492367. https://doi.org/10.1101/2022.05.18.492367
- Kurcyus, K., Annac, E., Hanning, N. M., Harris, A. D., Oeltzschner, G., Edden, R., & Riedl, V. (2018). Opposite dynamics of GABA and Glutamate levels in the occipital cortex during visual processing. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 38(46), 9967–9976. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1214-18.2018
- Larsen, B., Cui, Z., Adebimpe, A., Pines, A., Alexander-Bloch, A., Bertolero, M., Calkins, M. E., Gur, R. E., Gur, R. C., Mahadevan, A. S., Moore, T. M., Roalf, D. R., Seidlitz, J., Sydnor, V. J., Wolf, D. H., & Satterthwaite, T. D. (2022). A developmental reduction of the excitation:inhibition ratio in association cortex during adolescence. *Science Advances*, 8(5), 8750. https://doi.org/10.1126/sciadv.abj8750
- Larsen, B., Sydnor, V. J., Keller, A. S., Yeo, B. T. T., & Satterthwaite, T. D. (2023). A critical period plasticity framework for the sensorimotor–association axis of cortical neurodevelopment. *Trends in Neurosciences*, 46(10), 847–862. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.TINS.2023.07.007
- Le Grand, R., Mondloch, C. J., Maurer, D., & Brent, H. P. (2001). Early visual experience and face processing. *Nature* 2001 410:6831, 410(6831), 890–890. https://doi.org/10.1038/35073749
- Levelt, C. N., & Hübener, M. (2012). Critical-Period plasticity in the visual cortex. *Annual Review of Neuroscience*. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-neuro-061010-113813
- Levi, D. M. (2005). Perceptual learning in adults with amblyopia: A reevaluation of critical periods in human vision. Developmental Psychobiology, 46(3), 222–232. https://doi.org/10.1002/DEV.20050
- Lewis, C. M., Baldassarre, A., Committeri, G., Romani, G. L., & Corbetta, M. (2009). Learning sculpts the spontaneous activity of the resting human brain. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 106(41), 17558–17563. https://doi.org/10.1073/PNAS.0902455106
- Lewis, T. L., & Maurer, D. (2005). Multiple sensitive periods in human visual development: Evidence from visually deprived children. *Developmental Psychobiology*, 46(3), 163–183. https://doi.org/10.1002/dev.20055
- Lewis, T. L., & Maurer, D. (2009). Effects of early pattern deprivation on visual development. Optometry and Vision Science: Official Publication of the American Academy of Optometry, 86(6), 640–646. https://doi.org/10.1097/OPX.0B013E3181A7296B
- Lewkowicz, D. J., & Röder, B. (2015). The effects of experience on the development of multisensory processing. *The New Handbook of Multisensory Processes, September.*

- Li, Y., Fitzpatrick, D., & White, L. E. (2006). The development of direction selectivity in ferret visual cortex requires early visual experience. *Nature Neuroscience 2006 9:5*, *9*(5), 676–681. https://doi.org/10.1038/nn1684
- Li, Y., Ward, M. J., Richardson, R. M., G'Sell, M., & Ghuman, A. S. (2020). Endogenous activity modulates stimulus and circuit-specific neural tuning and predicts perceptual behavior. *Nature Communications 2020 11:1*, 11(1), 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-020-17729-w
- Lindner, M., Bell, T., Iqbal, S., Mullins, P. G., & Christakou, A. (2017). In vivo functional neurochemistry of human cortical cholinergic function during visuospatial attention. *PLoS ONE*, *12*(2). https://doi.org/10.1371/JOURNAL.PONE.0171338
- Liu, Y., Jia, W., Gu, Q., & Cynader, M. (1994). Involvement of muscarinic acetylcholine receptors in regulation of kitten visual cortex plasticity. *Developmental Brain Research*, 79(1), 63–71. https://doi.org/10.1016/0165-3806(94)90049-3
- Liu, Y., Yu, C., Liang, M., Li, J., Tian, L., Zhou, Y., Qin, W., Li, K., & Jiang, T. (2007). Whole brain functional connectivity in the early blind. *Brain*. https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/awm121
- Lozano-Soldevilla, D., Ter Huurne, N., Cools, R., & Jensen, O. (2014). GABAergic modulation of visual gamma and alpha oscillations and its consequences for working memory performance. *Current Biology*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2014.10.017
- Lunghi, C., Emir, U. E., Morrone, M. C., & Bridge, H. (2015). Short-Term monocular deprivation alters GABA in the adult human visual cortex. *Current Biology*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2015.04.021
- Magrou, L., Barone, P., Markov, N. T., Killackey, H. P., Giroud, P., Berland, M., Knoblauch, K., Dehay, C., & Kennedy, H. (2018). How areal specification shapes the local and interareal circuits in a macaque model of congenital blindness. *Cerebral Cortex*, 28(8), 3017–3034. https://doi.org/10.1093/CERCOR/BHY125
- Maier, A., Adams, G. K., Aura, C., & Leopold, D. A. (2010). Distinct superficial and deep laminar domains of activity in the visual cortex during rest and stimulation. *Frontiers in Systems Neuroscience*, 4, 31. https://doi.org/10.3389/FNSYS.2010.00031/
- Manning, J. R., Jacobs, J., Fried, I., & Kahana, M. J. (2009). Broadband shifts in local field potential power spectra are correlated with single-neuron spiking in humans. *The Journal of Neuroscience : The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, 29(43), 13613–13620. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2041-09.2009
- Markov, N. T., Vezoli, J., Chameau, P., Falchier, A., Quilodran, R. E., Huissoud, C., Lamy, C., Misery, P., Giroud, P., Ullman, S., Barone, P., Dehay, C., Knoblauch, K., & Kennedy, H. (2014). Anatomy of hierarchy: Feedforward and feedback pathways in macaque visual cortex. *The Journal of Comparative Neurology* | *Research in Systems Neuroscience*, 522, 225–259. https://doi.org/10.1002/cne.23458
- Marr, D. (1982). Vision: A computational investigation into the human representation and processing of visual information. W. H. Freeman and Company.
- Marshall, P. J., Bar-Haim, Y., & Fox, N. A. (2002). Development of the EEG from 5 months to 4 years of age. *Clinical Neurophysiology*. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1388-2457(02)00163-3
- Maurer, D., Ellemberg, D., & Lewis, T. L. (2006). Repeated measurements of contrast sensitivity reveal limits to visual plasticity after early binocular deprivation in humans. *Neuropsychologia*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2005.10.008
- Maurer, D., & Hensch, T. K. (2012). Amblyopia: Background to the special issue on stroke recovery. *Developmental Psychobiology*, 54(3), 224–238. https://doi.org/10.1002/dev.21022
- Maurer, D., & Lewis, T. L. (2017). Visual Systems. In *The neurobiology of brain and behavioral development*. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-804036-2.00008-X
- Maurer, D., Mondloch, C. J., & Lewis, T. L. (2007). Effects of early visual deprivation on perceptual and cognitive development. *Progress in Brain Research*, *164*, 87–104. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0079-6123(07)64005-9
- McCulloch, D. L., Orbach, H., & Skarf, B. (1999). Maturation of the pattern-reversal VEP in human infants: A theoretical framework. *Vision Research*, *39*(22), 3673–3680. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0042-6989(99)00091-7
- McKyton, A., Ben-Zion, I., Doron, R., & Zohary, E. (2015). The limits of shape recognition following late emergence from blindness. *Current Biology*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2015.06.040
- Medel, V., Irani, M., Ossandón, T., & Boncompte, G. (2020). Complexity and 1/f slope jointly reflect cortical states across different E/I balances. *bioRxiv*, 2020.09.15.298497. https://doi.org/10.1101/2020.09.15.298497
- Mescher, M., Merkle, H., Kirsch, J., Garwood, M., & Gruetter, R. (1998). Simultaneous in vivo spectral editing and water suppression. NMR in Biomedicine. https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1099-1492(199810)11:6
- Morales, B., Choi, S. Y., & Kirkwood, A. (2002). Dark rearing alters the development of GABAergic transmission in visual cortex. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 22(18), 8084–8090. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.22-18-08084.2002
- Morishita, H. (2012). Molecular strategies for recovery from amblyopia. Neuro-Ophthalmology Japan.

- Morrone, M. C., & Burr, D. C. (1986). Evidence for the existence and development of visual inhibition in humans. *Nature*, 321(6067), 235–237. https://doi.org/10.1038/321235a0
- Mower, G. D., Caplan, C. J., Christen, W. G., & Duffy, F. H. (1985). Dark rearing prolongs physiological but not anatomical plasticity of the cat visual cortex. *The Journal of Comparative Neurology*, 235(4), 448–466. https://doi.org/10.1002/CNE.902350404
- Mullins, P. G., McGonigle, D. J., O'Gorman, R. L., Puts, N. A. J., Vidyasagar, R., Evans, C. J., Edden, R. A. E., Brookes, M. J., Garcia, A., Foerster, B. R., Petrou, M., Price, D., Solanky, B. S., Violante, I. R., Williams, S., & Wilson, M. (2014). Current practice in the use of MEGA-PRESS spectroscopy for the detection of GABA. In *NeuroImage*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2012.12.004
- Murphy, K. M., Beston, B. R., Boley, P. M., & Jones, D. G. (2005). Development of human visual cortex: A balance between excitatory and inhibitory plasticity mechanisms. *Developmental Psychobiology*, 46(3), 209–221. https://doi.org/10.1002/DEV.20053
- Muthukumaraswamy, S. D., & Liley, D. T. (2018). 1/F electrophysiological spectra in resting and drug-induced states can be explained by the dynamics of multiple oscillatory relaxation processes. *NeuroImage*, 179(November 2017), 582–595. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2018.06.068
- Nakashima, Y., Yamaguchi, M. K., & Kanazawa, S. (2019). Development of center-surround suppression in infant motion processing. *Current Biology*: CB, 29(18), 3059-3064.e2. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CUB.2019.07.044
- Natu, V. S., Gomez, J., Barnett, M., Jeska, B., Kirilina, E., Jaeger, C., Zhen, Z., Cox, S., Weiner, K. S., Weiskopf, N., & Grill-Spector, K. (2019). Apparent thinning of human visual cortex during childhood is associated with myelination. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 116(41), 20750–20759. https://doi.org/10.1073/PNAS.1904931116/SUPPL_FILE/PNAS.1904931116.SAPP.PDF
- Nicholas, J. G., & Geers, A. E. (2007). Will they catch up? The role of age at cochlear implantation In the spoken language development of children with severe-profound hearing loss. *Journal of Speech, Language, and Hearing Research : JSLHR*, 50(4), 1048. https://doi.org/10.1044/1092-4388(2007/073)
- Noppeney, U. (2007). The effects of visual deprivation on functional and structural organization of the human brain. In *Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2007.04.012
- Novikova, L. A. (1974). Blindness and the electrical activity of the brain: Electroencephalographic studies of the effects of sensory impairment. Research series (American Foundation for the Blind) #24.
- Nurminen, L., Merlin, S., Bijanzadeh, M., Federer, F., & Angelucci, A. (2018). Top-down feedback controls spatial summation and response amplitude in primate visual cortex. *Nature Communications 2018 9:1*, 9(1), 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-018-04500-5
- Okun, M., & Lampl, I. (2008). Instantaneous correlation of excitation and inhibition during ongoing and sensory-evoked activities. *Nature Neuroscience 2008 11:5*, *11*(5), 535–537. https://doi.org/10.1038/nn.2105
- Osher, D. E., Saxe, R. R., Koldewyn, K., Gabrieli, J. D. E., Kanwisher, N., & Saygin, Z. M. (2016). Structural connectivity fingerprints predict cortical selectivity for multiple visual categories across cortex. *Cerebral Cortex*. https://doi.org/10.1093/cercor/bhu303
- Ossandón, J. P., Stange, L., Gudi-Mindermann, H., Rimmele, J. M., Sourav, S., Bottari, D., Kekunnaya, R., & Röder, B. (2023). The development of oscillatory and aperiodic resting state activity is linked to a sensitive period in humans. *NeuroImage*, 275, 120171. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.NEUROIMAGE.2023.120171
- Ossandón, J. P., Zerr, P., Shareef, I., Kekunnaya, R., & Röder, B. (2022). Active vision in sight recovery individuals with a history of long-lasting congenital blindness. *eNeuro*, 9(5). https://doi.org/10.1523/ENEURO.0051-22.2022
- Pant, R., Guerreiro, M. J. S., Ley, P., Bottari, D., Shareef, I., Kekunnaya, R., & Röder, B. (2021). The size-weight illusion is unimpaired in individuals with a history of congenital visual deprivation. *Scientific Reports 2021 11:1*, 11(1), 1– 13. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-021-86227-w
- Pant, R., Ossandón, J., Stange, L., Shareef, I., Kekunnaya, R., & Röder, B. (2023). Stimulus-evoked and resting-state alpha oscillations show a linked dependence on patterned visual experience for development. *NeuroImage: Clinical*, 103375. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.NICL.2023.103375
- Pant, R., Pitchaimuthu, K., Ossandón, J. P., Shareef, I., Lingareddy, S., Finsterbusch, J., Kekunnaya, R., & Röder, B. (Under Review). Altered visual cortex excitatory/inhibitory ratio following transient congenital visual deprivation in humans. *eLife*.
- Pedersini, C. A., Miller, N. P., Gandhi, T. K., Gilad-Gutnick, S., Mahajan, V., Sinha, P., & Rokers, B. (2023). White matter plasticity following cataract surgery in congenitally blind patients. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 120(19), e2207025120. https://doi.org/10.1073/PNAS.2207025120
- Pezzulo, G., Zorzi, M., & Corbetta, M. (2021). The secret life of predictive brains: What's spontaneous activity for? Trends in Cognitive Sciences, 25(9), 730–743. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.TICS.2021.05.007

- Philpot, B. D., Espinosa, J. S., & Bear, M. F. (2003). Evidence for Altered NMDA Receptor Function as a Basis for Metaplasticity in Visual Cortex. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 23(13), 5583. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.23-13-05583.2003
- Piller, S., Senna, I., Wiebusch, D., Ben-Zion, I., & Ernst, M. O. (2023). Grasping behavior does not recover after sight restoration from congenital blindness. *Current Biology*, 33(10), 2104-2110.e4. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CUB.2023.04.017
- Pinto, J. G. A., Hornby, K. R., Jones, D. G., & Murphy, K. M. (2010). Developmental changes in GABAergic mechanisms in human visual cortex across the lifespan. *Frontiers in Cellular Neuroscience*, 4(JUN), 1421. https://doi.org/10.3389/FNCEL.2010.00016/BIBTEX
- Pitchaimuthu, K., Dormal, G., Sourav, S., Shareef, I., Rajendran, S. S., Ossandón, J. P., Kekunnaya, R., & Röder, B. (2021). Steady state evoked potentials indicate changes in nonlinear neural mechanisms of vision in sight recovery individuals. *Cortex*, 144, 15–28. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CORTEX.2021.08.001
- Pitchaimuthu, K., Wu, Q. Z., Carter, O., Nguyen, B. N., Ahn, S., Egan, G. F., & McKendrick, A. M. (2017). Occipital GABA levels in older adults and their relationship to visual perceptual suppression. *Scientific Reports*, 7(1). https://doi.org/10.1038/S41598-017-14577-5
- Ptito, M., Schneider, F. C. G., Paulson, O. B., & Kupers, R. (2008). Alterations of the visual pathways in congenital blindness. *Experimental Brain Research*, 187(1), 41–49. https://doi.org/10.1007/S00221-008-1273-4/FIGURES/4
- Putzar, L., Goerendt, I., Heed, T., Richard, G., Büchel, C., & Röder, B. (2010). The neural basis of lip-reading capabilities is altered by early visual deprivation. *Neuropsychologia*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2010.04.007
- Putzar, L., Goerendt, I., Lange, K., Rösler, F., & Röder, B. (2007). Early visual deprivation impairs multisensory interactions in humans. *Nature Neuroscience*. https://doi.org/10.1038/nn1978
- Putzar, L., Gondan, M., & Rder, B. (2012). Basic multisensory functions can be acquired after congenital visual pattern deprivation in humans. *Developmental Neuropsychology*. https://doi.org/10.1080/87565641.2012.696756
- Putzar, L., Hötting, K., & Röder, B. (2010). Early visual deprivation affects the development of face recognition and of audio-visual speech perception. *Restorative Neurology and Neuroscience*. https://doi.org/10.3233/RNN-2010-0526
- Putzar, L., Hötting, K., Rösler, F., & Röder, B. (2007). The development of visual feature binding processes after visual deprivation in early infancy. *Vision Research*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.visres.2007.07.002
- Raczy, K., Holig, C., Guerreiro, M. J. S., Lingareddy, S., Kekunnaya, R., & Roder, B. (2022). Typical resting-state activity of the brain requires visual input during an early sensitive period. *Brain Communications*, 4(4). https://doi.org/10.1093/BRAINCOMMS/FCAC146
- Rae, C. D. (2014). A guide to the metabolic pathways and function of metabolites observed in human brain 1H magnetic resonance spectra. *Neurochemical Research*, 39(1), 1–36. https://doi.org/10.1007/S11064-013-1199-5/FIGURES/9
- Rajendran, S. S., Bottari, D., Shareef, I., Pitchaimuthu, K., Sourav, S., Troje, N. F., Kekunnaya, R., & Röder, B. (2020). Biological action identification does not require early visual input for development. *eNeuro*, 7(5).
- Rideaux, R. (2021). No balance between glutamate+glutamine and GABA+ in visual or motor cortices of the human brain: A magnetic resonance spectroscopy study. *NeuroImage*, 237, 118191. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.NEUROIMAGE.2021.118191
- Rideaux, R., Ehrhardt, S. E., Wards, Y., Filmer, H. L., Jin, J., Deelchand, D. K., Marjańska, M., Mattingley, J. B., & Dux, P. E. (2022). On the relationship between GABA+ and glutamate across the brain. *NeuroImage*, 257, 119273. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.NEUROIMAGE.2022.119273
- Rochefort, N. L., Garaschuk, O., Milos, R. I., Narushima, M., Marandi, N., Pichler, B., Kovalchuk, Y., & Konnerth, A. (2009). Sparsification of neuronal activity in the visual cortex at eye-opening. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 106(35), 15049–15054. https://doi.org/10.1073/PNAS.0907660106
- Roder, B. (2001). Compensatory Plasticity in Blind Humans.
- Röder, B., & Kekunnaya, R. (2021). Visual experience dependent plasticity in humans. In *Current Opinion in Neurobiology* (Vol. 67, pp. 155–162). Elsevier Ltd. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.conb.2020.11.011
- Röder, B., & Kekunnaya, R. (2022). Effects of early visual deprivation. Oxford Research Encyclopedia of Psychology. https://doi.org/10.1093/ACREFORE/9780190236557.013.839
- Röder, B., Kekunnaya, R., & Guerreiro, M. J. S. (2020). Neural mechanisms of visual sensitive periods in humans. *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2020.10.030
- Röder, B., Kekunnaya, R., & Guerreiro, M. J. S. (2021). Neural mechanisms of visual sensitive periods in humans. *Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews*, 120, 86–99. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.NEUBIOREV.2020.10.030

- Röder, B., Ley, P., Shenoy, B. H., Kekunnaya, R., & Bottari, D. (2013). Sensitive periods for the functional specialization of the neural system for human face processing. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America.* https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1309963110
- Rohlf, S., Habets, B., von Frieling, M., & Röder, B. (2017). Infants are superior in implicit crossmodal learning and use other learning mechanisms than adults. *eLife*, 6. https://doi.org/10.7554/ELIFE.28166
- Sadeh, S., & Clopath, C. (2021). Excitatory-inhibitory balance modulates the formation and dynamics of neuronal assemblies in cortical networks. *Science Advances*, 7(45), 8411. https://doi.org/10.1126/SCIADV.ABG8411
- Saenz, M., Lewis, L. B., Huth, A. G., Fine, I., & Koch, C. (2008). Visual motion area MT+/V5 responds to auditory motion in human sight-recovery subjects. *Journal of Neuroscience*. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0803-08.2008
- Sale, A., Berardi, N., Spolidoro, M., Baroncelli, L., & Maffei, L. (2010). GABAergic inhibition in visual cortical plasticity. *Frontiers in Cellular Neuroscience*. https://doi.org/10.3389/fncel.2010.00010
- Sauseng, P., Feldheim, J. F., Freunberger, R., & Hummel, F. C. (2011). Right prefrontal TMS disrupts interregional anticipatory EEG alpha activity during shifting of visuospatial attention. *Frontiers in Psychology*. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2011.00241
- Saygin, Z. M., Osher, D. E., Norton, E. S., Youssoufian, D. A., Beach, S. D., Feather, J., Gaab, N., Gabrieli, J. D. E., & Kanwisher, N. (2016). Connectivity precedes function in the development of the visual word form area. *Nature Neuroscience*. https://doi.org/10.1038/nn.4354
- Schwab, B., Gandolfi, M., Lai, E., Reilly, E., Singer, L., Kim, A. H., Schwab, B., Gandolfi, M., Lai, E., Reilly, E., Singer, L., & Kim, A. H. (2015). The impact of age on cochlear implant performance. *International Journal of* Otolaryngology and Head & Neck Surgery, 4(5), 329–337. https://doi.org/10.4236/IJOHNS.2015.45056
- Senna, I., Andres, E., McKyton, A., Ben-Zion, I., Zohary, E., & Ernst, M. O. (2021). Development of multisensory integration following prolonged early-onset visual deprivation. *Current Biology*, 31(21), 4879-4885.e6. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2021.08.060
- Sharma, A., Dorman, M. F., & Spahr, A. J. (2002). A sensitive period for the development of the central auditory system in children with cochlear implants: Implications for age of implantation. *Ear and Hearing*. https://doi.org/10.1097/00003446-200212000-00004
- Shimony, J. S., Burton, H., Epstein, A. A., McLaren, D. G., Sun, S. W., & Snyder, A. Z. (2006). Diffusion tensor imaging reveals white matter reorganization in early blind humans. *Cerebral Cortex (New York, N.Y.: 1991)*, 16(11), 1653. https://doi.org/10.1093/CERCOR/BHJ102
- Silva, L. A. F., Couto, M. I. V., Magliaro, F. C. L., Tsuji, R. K., Bento, R. F., De Carvalho, A. C. M., & Matas, C. G. (2017). Cortical maturation in children with cochlear implants: Correlation between electrophysiological and behavioral measurement. *PLOS ONE*, *12*(2), e0171177. https://doi.org/10.1371/JOURNAL.PONE.0171177
- Singer, W., & Tretter, F. (1976). Receptive-field properties and neuronal connectivity in striate and parastriate cortex of contour-deprived cats. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, *39*(3), 613–630. https://doi.org/10.1152/JN.1976.39.3.613
- Siu, C. R., & Murphy, K. M. (2018). The development of human visual cortex and clinical implications. *Eye and Brain*, *10*, 25–36. https://doi.org/10.2147/EB.S130893
- Skoczenski, A. M., & Norcia, A. M. (2002). Late maturation of visual hyperacuity. *Psychological Science*, 13(6), 537–541. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-9280.00494
- Sourav, S., Bottari, D., Kekunnaya, R., & Röder, B. (2018). Evidence of a retinotopic organization of early visual cortex but impaired extrastriate processing in sight recovery individuals. *Journal of Vision*. https://doi.org/10.1167/18.3.22
- Sourav, S., Bottari, D., Shareef, I., Kekunnaya, R., & Röder, B. (2020). An electrophysiological biomarker for the classification of cataract-reversal patients: A case-control study. *EClinicalMedicine*, 27. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ECLINM.2020.100559
- Sourav, S., Kekunnaya, R., Bottari, D., Shareef, I., Pitchaimuthu, K., & Röder, B. (2024). Sound suppresses earliest visual cortical processing after sight recovery in congenitally blind humans. *Communications Biology 2024 7:1*, 7(1), 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1038/s42003-023-05749-3
- Steel, A., Mikkelsen, M., Edden, R. A. E., & Robertson, C. E. (2020). Regional balance between glutamate+glutamine and GABA+ in the resting human brain. *NeuroImage*, 220. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.NEUROIMAGE.2020.117112
- Takesian, A. E., & Hensch, T. K. (2013). Balancing plasticity/stability across brain development. In Progress in Brain Research. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-444-63327-9.00001-1
- Tao, H. W., & Poo, M. M. (2005). Activity-dependent matching of excitatory and inhibitory inputs during refinement of visual receptive fields. *Neuron*, 45(6), 829–836. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.NEURON.2005.01.046
- Tian, M., Xiao, X., Hu, H., Cusack, R., & Bedny, M. (2024). Visual experience shapes functional connectivity between occipital and non-visual networks. *eLife*, *13*. https://doi.org/10.7554/ELIFE.93067.1

- Tomaiuolo, F., Campana, S., Collins, D. L., Fonov, V. S., Ricciardi, E., Sartori, G., Pietrini, P., Kupers, R., & Ptito, M. (2014). Morphometric changes of the corpus callosum in congenital blindness. *PloS One*, 9(9). https://doi.org/10.1371/JOURNAL.PONE.0107871
- Toyoizumi, T., Miyamoto, H., Yazaki-Sugiyama, Y., Atapour, N., Hensch, T. K., & Miller, K. D. (2013). A theory of the transition to critical period plasticity: Inhibition selectively suppresses spontaneous activity. *Neuron*, 80(1), 51– 63. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.NEURON.2013.07.022
- Trägenap, S., Whitney, D. E., Fitzpatrick, D., & Kaschube, M. (2023). The nature-nurture transform underlying the emergence of reliable cortical representations. *bioRxiv*, 2022.11.14.516507. https://doi.org/10.1101/2022.11.14.516507
- Troje, N. F., & Westhoff, C. (2006). The inversion effect in biological motion perception: Evidence for a "Life Detector"? Current Biology, 16(8), 821–824. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CUB.2006.03.022
- Turrigiano, G. G., & Nelson, S. B. (2004). Homeostatic plasticity in the developing nervous system. Nature Reviews. Neuroscience, 5(2), 97–107. https://doi.org/10.1038/NRN1327
- van der Weijden, C. W. J., García, D. V., Borra, R. J. H., Thurner, P., Meilof, J. F., van Laar, P. J., Dierckx, R. A. J. O., Gutmann, I. W., & de Vries, E. F. J. (2021). Myelin quantification with MRI: A systematic review of accuracy and reproducibility. *NeuroImage*, 226. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.NEUROIMAGE.2020.117561
- Van Kerkoerle, T., Self, M. W., Dagnino, B., Gariel-Mathis, M. A., Poort, J., Van Der Togt, C., & Roelfsema, P. R. (2014). Alpha and gamma oscillations characterize feedback and feedforward processing in monkey visual cortex. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 111(40), 14332–14341. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1402773111
- Van Loon, A. M., Knapen, T., Scholte, H. S., St. John-Saaltink, E., Donner, T. H., & Lamme, V. A. F. (2013). GABA shapes the dynamics of bistable perception. *Current Biology : CB*, 23(9), 823–827. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CUB.2013.03.067
- Van Vreeswijk, C., & Sompolinsky, H. (1996). Chaos in neuronal networks with balanced excitatory and inhibitory activity. *Science*, 274(5293), 1724–1726. https://doi.org/10.1126/SCIENCE.274.5293.1724
- Vanrullen, R., & MacDonald, J. S. P. (2012). Perceptual echoes at 10 Hz in the human brain. *Current Biology*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2012.03.050
- Vetencourt, J. F. M., Sale, A., Viegi, A., Baroncelli, L., De Pasquale, R., O'Leary, O. F., Castrén, E., & Maffei, L. (2008). The antidepressant fluoxetine restores plasticity in the adult visual cortex. *Science*, 320(5874), 385–388. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1150516
- Vezoli, J., Magrou, L., Goebel, R., Wang, X. J., Knoblauch, K., Vinck, M., & Kennedy, H. (2021). Cortical hierarchy, dual counterstream architecture and the importance of top-down generative networks. *NeuroImage*, 225, 117479. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.NEUROIMAGE.2020.117479
- Vinje, W. E., & Gallant, J. L. (2000). Sparse coding and decorrelation in primary visual cortex during natural vision. *Science*, 287(5456), 1273–1276. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.287.5456.1273
- Vogels, T. P., Sprekeler, H., Zenke, F., Clopath, C., & Gerstner, W. (2011). Inhibitory plasticity balances excitation and inhibition in sensory pathways and memory networks. *Science*, 334(6062), 1569–1573. https://doi.org/10.1126/SCIENCE.1211095/SUPPL_FILE/VOGELS.SOM.REV1.PDF
- Weaver, K. E., Richards, T. L., Saenz, M., Petropoulos, H., & Fine, I. (2013). Neurochemical changes within human early blind occipital cortex. *Neuroscience*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroscience.2013.08.004
- Wehr, M., & Zador, A. M. (2003). Balanced inhibition underlies tuning and sharpens spike timing in auditory cortex. *Nature 2003 426:6965, 426*(6965), 442–446. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature02116
- White, L. E., Coppola, D. M., & Fitzpatrick, D. (2001). The contribution of sensory experience to the maturation of orientation selectivity in ferret visual cortex. *Nature*, 411(6841), 1049–1052. https://doi.org/10.1038/35082568
- Whitt, J. L., Petrus, E., & Lee, H. K. (2013). Experience-dependent homeostatic synaptic plasticity in neocortex. *Neuropharmacology*, 78(C), 45–54. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.NEUROPHARM.2013.02.016
- Winawer, J., Kay, K. N., Foster, B. L., Rauschecker, A. M., Parvizi, J., & Wandell, B. A. (2013). Asynchronous broadband signals are the principal source of the BOLD response in human visual cortex. *Current Biology : CB*, 23(13), 1145–1153. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CUB.2013.05.001
- Wittenberg, G. F., Werhahn, K. J., Wassermann, E. M., Herscovitch, P., & Cohen, L. G. (2004). Functional connectivity between somatosensory and visual cortex in early blind humans. *European Journal of Neuroscience*. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1460-9568.2004.03630.x
- Wong-Riley, M. T. T. (2021). The critical period: Neurochemical and synaptic mechanisms shared by the visual cortex and the brain stem respiratory system. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B*, 288(1958). https://doi.org/10.1098/RSPB.2021.1025

- Worden, M. S., Foxe, J. J., Wang, N., & Simpson, G. V. (2000). Anticipatory biasing of visuospatial attention indexed by retinotopically specific alpha-band electroencephalography increases over occipital cortex. *The Journal of Neuroscience : The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience*. https://doi.org/10.1523/jneurosci.20-06-j0002.2000
- Wu, Y. K., Miehl, C., & Gjorgjieva, J. (2022). Regulation of circuit organization and function through inhibitory synaptic plasticity. *Trends in Neurosciences*, 45(12), 884–898. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.TINS.2022.10.006
- Xue, M., Atallah, B. V., & Scanziani, M. (2014). Equalizing excitation-inhibition ratios across visual cortical neurons. *Nature*, 511(7511), 596. https://doi.org/10.1038/NATURE13321
- Yusuf, P. A., Lamuri, A., Hubka, P., Tillein, J., Vinck, M., & Kral, A. (2022). Deficient recurrent cortical processing in congenital deafness. *Frontiers in Systems Neuroscience*, 16(February). https://doi.org/10.3389/fnsys.2022.806142
- Zeineh, W. M., Goldstein-Piekarski, A. N., Ball, T. M., Liao, C., Lv, H., Wang, Z., Tong, E., Williams, L. M., Zaharchuk, G., Lv, X. H., Wang, X. Z., Tong, X. E., Williams, X. L. M., Zaharchuk, X. G., Zeineh, X. M., Goldstein-Piekarski, X. A. N., Ball, X. T. M., Liao, X. C., & Wintermark, X. M. (2018). Resting-State functional MRI: Everything that nonexperts have always wanted to know. *American Journal of Neuroradiology*, 39(8), 1390–1399. https://doi.org/10.3174/AJNR.A5527
- Zerr, P., Ossandón, J. P., Shareef, I., Van der Stigchel, S., Kekunnaya, R., & Röder, B. (2020). Successful visually guided eye movements following sight restoration after congenital cataracts. *Journal of Vision*, 20(7), 3–3. https://doi.org/10.1167/JOV.20.7.3
- Zhang, H., Mu, L., Wang, D., Xia, D., Salmon, A., Liu, Q., & Wong-Riley, M. T. T. (2018). Uncovering a critical period of synaptic imbalance during postnatal development of the rat visual cortex: Role of brain-derived neurotrophic factor. *The Journal of Physiology*, 596(18), 4511–4536. https://doi.org/10.1113/JP275814
- Zhang, Z., Jiao, Y. Y., & Sun, Q. Q. (2011). Developmental maturation of excitation and inhibition balance in principal neurons across four layers of somatosensory cortex. *Neuroscience*, 174, 10. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.NEUROSCIENCE.2010.11.045
- Zhou, S., & Yu, Y. (2018). Synaptic E-I balance underlies efficient neural coding. *Frontiers in Neuroscience*, 12(FEB), 46. https://doi.org/10.3389/FNINS.2018.00046/BIBTEX
- Zoefel, B., & VanRullen, R. (2017). Oscillatory mechanisms of stimulus processing and selection in the visual and auditory systems: State-of-the-art, speculations and suggestions. *Frontiers in Neuroscience*, 11(MAY), 296. https://doi.org/10.3389/FNINS.2017.00296/BIBTEX
- Zufferey, P. D., Jin, F., Nakamura, H., Tettoni, L., & Innocenti, G. M. (1999). The role of pattern vision in the development of cortico-cortical connections. *European Journal of Neuroscience*, 11(8), 2669–2688. https://doi.org/10.1046/J.1460-9568.1999.00683.X

Appendices

Appendix I

Pant et al. (Under Review). Altered visual cortex excitatory/inhibitory ratio following transient congenital visual deprivation in humans. eLife.

Altered visual cortex excitatory/inhibitory ratio following transient congenital visual deprivation in humans

Rashi Pant¹, Kabilan Pitchaimuthu^{1,2}, José Ossandón¹, Idris Shareef^{3,4}, Sunitha Lingareddy⁵, Jürgen Finsterbusch⁶, Ramesh Kekunnaya³, Brigitte Röder¹

¹Department of Psychology and Human Movement Science, University of Hamburg, Hamburg, Germany ²Department of Medicine and Optometry, Linnaeus University, Kalmar, Sweden ³Child Sight Institute, Jasti V Ramanamma Children's Eye Care Centre, LV Prasad Eye Institute, Hyderabad, India ⁴Department of Psychology, University of Nevada, Reno, USA ⁵LUCID Medical Diagnostics, Hyderabad, India ⁶Institute of Systems Neuroscience, University Medical Center Hamburg-Eppendorf, Hamburg, Germany

ABSTRACT

Non-human animal models have indicated that the ratio of excitation to inhibition (E/I) in neural circuits is experience dependent, and changes across development. Here, we assessed 3T Magnetic Resonance Spectroscopy (MRS) and electroencephalography (EEG) markers of cortical E/I ratio in ten individuals who had been treated for dense bilateral congenital cataracts, after an average of 12 years of blindness, to test for dependence on early visual experience. First, participants underwent MRS scanning at rest with their eyes opened and eyes closed, to obtain visual cortex Gamma-Aminobutyric Acid (GABA+) concentration, Glutamate/Glutamine (Glx) concentration, and the concentration ratio of Glx/GABA+, as measures of inhibition, excitation, and E/I ratio respectively. Subsequently, EEG was recorded to assess aperiodic activity (1-20 Hz) as a neurophysiological measure of the cortical E/I ratio, during rest with eyes open and eyes closed, and during flickering stimulation. Across conditions, sight recovery individuals demonstrated a significantly lower visual cortex Glx/GABA+ ratio, and a higher intercept and steeper aperiodic slope at occipital electrodes, compared to age-matched sighted controls. In the sight recovery group, a lower Glx/GABA+ ratio was associated with better visual acuity, and Glx concentration correlated positively with the aperiodic intercept in the conditions with visual input. We interpret these findings as resulting from an increased E/I ratio of the visual cortex as a consequence of congenital blindness, which required commensurately increased inhibition after restored visual input provided additional excitation.

INTRODUCTION

Sensitive periods are epochs during the lifespan within which effects of experience on the brain are particularly strong (Knudsen, 2004). Non-human animal work has established that structural remodelling (Bourgeois, 1997) and the development of local inhibitory neural circuits strongly links to the timing of sensitive periods (Gianfranceschi et al., 2003; Hensch et al., 1998; Hensch & Bilimoria, 2012; Hensch & Fagiolini, 2004; Takesian & Hensch, 2013). Early visual experience has been shown to fine-tune local inhibitory circuits (Benevento et al., 1992; Chattopadhyaya et al., 2004; Gandhi et al., 2008; Toyoizumi et al., 2013), which dynamically control feedforward excitation (Tao & Poo, 2005; Wu et al., 2022). The end of the sensitive period has been proposed to coincide with the maturation of inhibitory neural circuits (Hensch, 2005; Wong-Riley, 2021; H. Zhang et al., 2018). Within this framework, neural circuit stability following the sensitive period is maintained via a balance between excitatory and inhibitory transmission across multiple spatiotemporal scales (Froemke, 2015; Haider et al., 2006; Maffei et al., 2004; Takesian & Hensch, 2013; Wu et al., 2022). Such an excitatory/inhibitory (E/I) ratio has been studied at different organizational levels, including the synaptic and neuronal levels, as well as for neural circuits (Van Vreeswijk & Sompolinsky, 1996; Wu et al., 2022).

The early experience-dependence of local inhibitory circuit tuning is supported by a large body of work in non-human animals. In particular, studies of the mouse visual cortex has demonstrated a disrupted tuning of local inhibitory circuits as a consequence of lacking visual experience at birth (Hensch & Fagiolini, 2004; Levelt & Hübener, 2012). In addition, dark-reared mice have been shown to have spontaneous neural firing in adulthood (Benevento et al., 1992) and a reduced magnitude of inhibition, particularly in layers II/III of the visual cortex (Morales et al., 2002), suggesting an overall higher level of excitation.

Human neuroimaging studies have similarly demonstrated that visual experience during the first weeks and months of life is crucial for the development of visual circuits (Baroncelli et al., 2011; Lewis & Maurer, 2005; Maurer & Hensch, 2012; Röder et al., 2021; Röder & Kekunnaya, 2021; Singh et al., 2018). As studies manipulating visual experience are impossible in human research, much of our understanding of the experience-dependence of visual circuit development comes from patients who underwent a transient period of congenital blindness due to dense bilateral congenital cataracts. If human infants born with dense bilateral cataracts are treated later than a few weeks from birth, they suffer from a permanent reduction of not only visual acuity (Birch et al., 1998; Khanna et al., 2013) and stereovision (Birch et al., 1993; Tytla et al., 1993) but additionally from impairments in higher-level visual functions

such as face perception (Le Grand et al., 2001; Putzar et al., 2010; Röder et al., 2013), coherent motion detection (Bottari et al., 2018; Hadad et al., 2012; Maurer & Lewis, 2017), visual temporal processing (Badde et al., 2020) and visual feature binding (McKyton et al., 2015; Putzar et al., 2007). These visual deficits in congenital cataract-reversal individuals have been attributed to altered neural development due to the absence of vision, as individuals who suffered from developmental cataracts do not typically display a comparable severity of impairments (Lewis & Maurer, 2009; Sourav et al., 2020). While extant literature reported correlations between structural changes and behavioral outcomes in congenital cataract-reversal individuals (Feng et al., 2021; Guerreiro et al., 2015; Hölig et al., 2023; Pedersini et al., 2023), functional brain imaging (Heitmann et al., 2023; Raczy et al., 2022) and electrophysiological research (Bottari et al., 2016; Ossandón et al., 2023; Pant et al., 2023; Pitchaimuthu et al., 2021) have started to unravel the neural mechanisms which rely on visual experience during sensitive periods for development.

Resting-state activity measured via fMRI suggested an increased E/I ratio in the visual cortex of congenital cataract-reversal individuals (Raczy et al., 2022): The amplitude of low frequency (<1 Hz) (blood oxygen level-dependent) fluctuations (ALFF) in visual cortex was increased in congenital cataractreversal individuals compared to normally-sighted controls when they were scanned with their eyes open. Since similar changes were observed in permanently congenitally blind humans, the authors speculated that congenital visual deprivation resulted in increased E/I ratio of neural circuits due to impaired neural tuning, which was not reinstated after sight restoration (Raczy et al., 2022). Other studies measured resting-state electroencephalogram (EEG) activity and analyzed periodic (alpha oscillations) (Bottari et al., 2016; Ossandón et al., 2023; Pant et al., 2023) as well as aperiodic activity (Ossandón et al., 2023). Both measures pointed towards an higher E/I ratio of visual cortex in congenital cataract-reversal individuals (Ossandón et al., 2023). In recent research, authors have interpreted the slope of the aperiodic component of EEG power spectral density as an indication of the relative level of excitation; the flatter the slope, the higher the assumed E/I ratio (Gao et al., 2017; Lombardi et al., 2017; Medel et al., 2020; Muthukumaraswamy & Liley, 2018; Nanda et al., 2023). In fact, an increasing number of prospective studies in children have reported a flattening of this slope that was interpreted as higher levels of excitation with increasing age (Favaro et al., 2023; Hill et al., 2022). Ossandón et al. (2023), however, observed that in addition to the flatter slope of the aperiodic power spectrum in the high frequency range (20-40 Hz), the slope of the low frequency range (1-19 Hz) was steeper in both, congenital cataract-reversal individuals, as well as in permanently congenitally blind humans. The low frequency range has often been associated with inhibition (Jensen & Mazaheri, 2010; Lozano-Soldevilla,

2018; Lozano-Soldevilla et al., 2014). However, it remains unclear how to reconcile EEG resting-state findings for lower and higher frequency ranges.

Two studies with permanently congenitally blind humans employed Magnetic Resonance Spectroscopy (MRS) to investigate the concentration of both, the inhibitory neurotransmitter Gamma-Aminobutyric Acid (GABA), and the excitatory neurotransmitters Glutamate/Glutamine (Glx) as proxy measures of visual cortex inhibition and excitation, respectively (Coullon et al., 2015; Weaver et al., 2013). Glutamate/Glutamine concentration was significantly increased in the visual cortex of anophthalmic compared to normally-sighted individuals, suggesting increased excitability (Coullon et al., 2015). Preliminary evidence in congenitally permanently blind individuals suggested a decreased GABA concentration in the visual cortex compared to normally-sighted individuals (Weaver et al., 2013). Thus, these MRS studies corroborated the hypothesis that a lack of visual input at birth enhances relative excitation in visual cortex. However, the degree to which neurotransmitter levels recover following sight restoration after a phase of congenital blindness, and how they related to electrophysiological activity, remained unclear.

Here, we filled this gap: we assessed Glutamate/Glutamine (Glx) and Gamma Aminobutyric Acid (GABA+) concentrations using the MEGA-PRESS sequence (Mescher et al., 1998) in individuals whose sight had been restored, on average, after 12 years of congenital blindness. The ratio of Glx/GABA+ concentration was used as a proxy for the ratio of excitatory to inhibitory neurotransmission (Grent-'t-Jong et al., 2022; Liu et al., 2015; Steel et al., 2020; Takei et al., 2016; L. Zhang et al., 2020). Ten congenital cataract-reversal individuals were compared to age-matched, normally sighted controls at rest, both with eyes open and with eyes closed. To link MRS and EEG markers of cortical excitation/inhibition, we subsequently assessed the aperiodic slope of the EEG spectrum in the same subjects across three conditions: at rest with eyes closed, at rest with eyes open, and while viewing visual stimuli which changed in luminance at frequencies ranging from 1 to 30 Hz (Pant et al., 2023). Additionally we calculated the aperiodic intercept, which has previously been linked to broadband neuronal firing (Manning et al., 2009; Musall et al., 2014; Winawer et al., 2013). We predicted an altered visual cortex Glx/GABA+ concentration ratio in the edited MRS signal in congenital cataract-reversal individuals, and a higher intercept as well as altered slope of the EEG aperiodic component. We further hypothesized that neurotransmitter changes would relate to changes in the slope and intercept of the EEG aperiodic activity in the same subjects.

METHODS

Participants

We tested two groups of participants. The first group consisted of 10 individuals with a history of dense bilateral congenital cataracts (CC, 1 female, Mean Age = 25.8 years, Range = 11 - 43.5). Participants in this group were all recruited at the LV Prasad Eye Institute (Hyderabad, India) and the presence of dense bilateral cataracts at birth was confirmed by ophthalmologists and optometrists based on a combination of the following criteria: clinical diagnosis of bilateral congenital cataract, drawing of the pre-surgery cataract, occlusion of the fundus, nystagmus, a family history of bilateral congenital cataracts, and a visual acuity of fixating and following light (FFL+) or less prior to surgery, barring cases of absorbed lenses. Absorbed lenses occur specifically in individuals with dense congenital cataracts(Ehrlich, 1948) and were diagnosed based on the morphology of the lens, anterior capsule wrinkling, and plaque or thickness of stroma.

Duration of deprivation was calculated as the age of the participant when cataract removal surgery was performed on the first eye. Two participants were operated within the first year of life (at 3 months and 9 months of age), all other participants underwent cataract removal surgery after the age of 6 years (Mean Age at Surgery = 11.8 years, SD = 9.7, Range = 0.2 - 31.4). All participants were tested at least 1 year after surgery (Mean Time since Surgery = 14 years, SD = 9.1, Range = 1.8 - 30.9) (Table 1).

	COMORBIDITIES			GENDER	VISUAL ACUITY PRE SURGERY		DURATION OF VISUAL DEPRIVATION	TIME SINCE SURGERY	VISUAL ACUITY ON DATE	FAMILY HISTORY
	ABSORBED LENSES	STRABISMUS	NYSTAGMUS		OD	OS	(YEARS)	(YEARS)	TESTED (LOGMAR)	
1	No	Yes	Yes	Male	FFL -	FFL +	0.2	16.8	0.17	No
2	Yes	Yes	Yes	Male	1.18	1	20.8	22.7	0.9	Yes
3	Yes	Yes	Yes	Male	1.48	1.77	15.6	3.1	0.9	No
4	Yes	NA	Yes	Male	CF at 1.5 m	CF at 3 m	7.0	8.2	0.62	No
5	No	Yes	Yes	Male	NA	NA	14.0	18.4	0.88	Yes
6	No	Yes	Yes	Male	NA	NA	6.0	17.9	0.78	Yes
7	No	Yes	Yes	Male	PL+	PL+	0.7	12.4	0.54	No
8	Yes	No	Yes	Male	1.2	1.3	16.4	1.8	0.66	Yes

9	No	NA	Yes	Male	NA	NA	6.0	30.9	1.34	Yes
10	Yes	Yes	Yes	Female	1.48	1.48	31.4	7.4	1.04	Yes

Table 1: Clinical and demographic information of the participants with a history of dense bilateral congenital cataracts (CC). NA indicates that patient's data for the field were not available. FFL: Fixating and Following Light; CF: Counting Fingers; PL: Perceiving Light. Duration of visual deprivation was calculated by subtracting the date of birth from the date of surgery on the first eye. Time since surgery was calculated by subtracting the date of surgery on the first eye from the date of testing. Visual acuity on the date of testing was measured with the Freiburg Vision Test (FrACT) (Bach 1996).

The second group comprised of 10 normally sighted individuals (SC, 8 males, Mean Age = 26.3 years, Range = 12 - 41.8). Participants across the two groups were individually age matched (± 2 years, $t_{(9)} = -0.12$, p = 0.91). One additional individual was tested in each group, however, they were excluded from data analysis as their data files were corrupted due to inappropriate file transfer from the scanner. All participants (as well as legal guardians for minors) gave written and informed consent. This study was conducted after approval from the Local Ethical Commission of the LV Prasad Eye Institute (Hyderabad, India) as well as of the Faculty of Psychology and Human Movement, University of Hamburg (Germany).

Data Collection and Analysis

The present study consisted of three data acquisition parts: Magnetic Resonance Spectroscopy (MRS), Electroencephalography (EEG), and visual acuity assessment.

Magnetic Resonance Spectroscopy

Participants underwent MRI and MRS scanning at LUCID Diagnostics in Hyderabad (India) with a 3T GE SIGNA Pioneer MRI machine employing a 24-channel head coil. An attendant was present in the scanning room for the duration of the scan to ensure that participants were comfortable and followed the instructions.

A T1 weighted whole brain image was collected for each participant (Repetition Time (TR) = 14.97 ms, Echo Time (TE) = 6.74 ms, Matrix size = 512×512 , In-plane resolution = 0.43×0.43 mm, Slice thickness = 1.6 mm, Axial slices = 188, Interslice interval = -0.8 mm, Inversion time = 500 ms, Flip angle = 15°). This structural scan enabled registration of every MRS scan to the participants' anatomical

landmarks (Figure 1). For this scan, participants were instructed to keep their eyes closed and stay as still as possible.



Figure 1: Voxel placement for Magnetic Resonance Spectroscopy and electrode placement for Electroencephalography. a. Position of the frontal cortex (top) and visual cortex (bottom) voxels in a single subject. Figures output from GannetCoRegister. b. Electrode montage according to the 10/20 electrode system with marked occipital electrodes (red) preselected for analysis.

The MRS scans consisted of single-voxel spectroscopy data that were collected using the MEGA-PRESS sequence, which allows for in-vivo quantification of the low-concentration metabolites GABA and glutamate+glutamine (Glu+Gln) (Mescher et al., 1998; Mullins et al., 2014). Due to the spectral overlap of GABA (3.0 ppm) and Glu/Gln (3.75 ppm) with the higher concentration peaks of N-Acetyl Aspartate (NAA) and Creatine (Cr), accurate quantification of GABA and Glu/Gln is challenging. MEGA-PRESS uses spectral editing to obtain these measurements. Spectroscopy data consist of an edit-ON and an edit-OFF spectrum for each voxel, wherein the "ON" and "OFF" refer to whether the frequency of the editing pulse applied is on- or off-resonance with the signal coupled to the GABA complex (applied at approximately 1.9 ppm). Therefore, subtracting repeated acquisitions of the edit-ON and edit-OFF spectra allows for measurement of the magnitude of signals differing in their response to the editing pulse (e.g. GABA), while cancelling out signals that do not (e.g. Cr) (Mescher et al., 1998). Each MEGA-PRESS scan lasted for 8 minutes and was acquired with the following specifications: TR = 2000 ms, TE = 68 ms, Voxel size = 40 mm x 30 mm x 25mm, 192 averages (each consists of two TRs). Additionally, 8 unsuppressed water averages were acquired, allowing all metabolites to be referenced to the tissue water concentration. Concentrations of GABA and Glu/Gln quantified from these acquisitions are respectively referred to as GABA+, due to the presence of macromolecular contaminants in the signal (Mullins et al., 2014), and Glx, due to the combined quantification of the Glu, Gln and Glutathione peaks.

Two MRS scans were collected from the visual cortex, centered on the calcarine sulcus of every participant (Figure 1). The scans were recorded with the participants' eyes open (EO condition) and eyes closed (EC condition), respectively. During the scans, participants were instructed to lie as still as possible.

To ensure that we were identifying neurochemical changes specific to visual regions, we selected the frontal cortex as a control region (Figure 1) and collected two scans (EO and EC) from the frontal cortex too. The order of the MRS scans was counterbalanced across individuals for both locations and conditions. Two SC subjects did not complete the frontal cortex scan for the EO condition and were excluded from the statistical comparisons of frontal cortex neurotransmitter concentrations.

MRS Data Analysis

All data analyses were performed in MATLAB (R2018b, The MathWorks Inc.). For MRS data analyses we used Gannet 3.0, a MATLAB based toolbox specialized for the quantification of GABA+ and Glx from edited spectrum data (Edden et al., 2014).

GABA+ and edited Glx concentration values were obtained and corrected using the *GannetFit*, *GannetCoRegister*, *GannetSegment* and *GannetQuantify* functions (Edden et al., 2014). Briefly, reported concentration values were corrected for the differences in GABA concentration and relaxation times between different kinds of tissue in the voxel (grey matter, white matter and cerebrospinal fluid) (Harris et al., 2015). Gannet uses SPM12 to determine the proportion of grey matter, white matter and cerebrospinal fluid in each individual participant's voxel (Penny et al., 2007). Note that the tissue fraction values did not differ between groups or conditions (all p's > 0.19, see Supplementary Material S2). GABA+, Glx and Glx/GABA+ values were compared across groups as proxy measures of inhibition, excitation and E/I ratio respectively. The use of Glx/GABA+ as a proxy measure of E/I neurotransmission is supported by a study that observed a regional balance between Glx and GABA+ at 3T (Steel et al., 2020). Further, the Glx/GABA+ ratio has been employed in prior studies of visual (Takei et al., 2016; L. Zhang et al., 2020), cingulate (Bezalel et al., 2019), frontal (Liu et al., 2015) and auditory cortex (Grent-'t-Jong et al., 2022).

To control for potential unspecified visual cortex changes due to eye pathology, as opposed to genuine changes in neurotransmitter ratio, we compared N-Acetyl Aspartate (NAA) concentrations in the visual cortex of CC vs SC individuals. NAA forms one of the most prominent peaks in the MR

spectrum (2.0 ppm chemical shift). NAA has been quantified with high reproducibility in the visual cortex(Brooks et al., 1999) and medial-temporal cortex (Träber et al., 2006) of neuro-typical individuals as well as in various pathologies across visual, frontal and temporal cortex (Paslakis et al., 2014), for example, schizophrenia (Mullins et al., 2003). We did not expect to find differences in NAA concentration between CC and SC individuals as it has not been demonstrated to vary in anophthalmia (Coullon et al., 2015) or permanent early blindness (Weaver et al., 2013) in humans. TARQUIN 4.3.11 was employed to analyze the OFF-spectrum data (Wilson et al., 2011) to assess NAA concentration. FID-A toolbox was used to correct the data for phase errors across acquisitions arising from temporal changes in the magnetic field strength or participant motion (Simpson et al., 2017).

Mean Signal-to-Noise Ratio values for GABA+ and Glx in all groups and conditions were above 19 in the visual cortex and above 8 in the frontal cortex (Supplementary Material S3). A recent study has suggested that an SNR value above 3.8 allows for reliable quantification of GABA+ (Zöllner et al., 2021), in conjunction with considering a given study's sample size (Mikkelsen et al., 2018). Cramer-Rao Lower Bound (CRLB) values, that is, the theoretical lower limit of estimated error, were 30% or lower for NAA quantification in both groups and conditions (Cavassila et al., 2001). Note that CRLB values above 50% are considered unreliable (Wilson et al., 2019). We confirmed the within-subject stability of metabolite quantification by testing a subset of the sighted controls (n=6) 2-4 weeks apart (Supplementary Material S5).

All reported values are water-normalized.

Prior to in-vivo scanning, we confirmed the GABA+ and GABA+/Glx quantification quality with phantom testing (Henry et al., 2011; Jenkins et al., 2019). Imaging sequences were robust in identifying differences of 0.02 mM in GABA concentration. This 0.02 mM difference was documented by Weaver et al (2013) between the occipital cortices of early blind and sighted individuals. The known vs. measured concentrations of both GABA (r = 0.81, p = 0.004) and GABA/Glx (r = 0.71, p = 0.019) showed significant agreement. The detailed procedure and results are described in the Supplementary Material (Supplementary Material S4). The spectra from all individual subjects are shown in Supplementary Material S10.

MRS Statistical Analysis

All statistical analyses were performed using MATLAB R2018b.

We compared the visual cortex concentrations of 3 neurochemicals (GABA+ and Glx from the DIFF spectrum, NAA from the edit-OFF spectrum) between the two groups. For each metabolite we

submitted the concentration values from the visual cortices of CC and SC individuals to a group (2 Levels: CC, SC)-by-condition (2 Levels: EO, EC) ANOVA model. To compare the Glx/GABA+ ratio between groups, we additionally submitted this ratio value to a group-by-condition ANOVA. Identical analyses were performed for the corresponding frontal cortex neurotransmitter values. Wherever necessary, post-hoc comparisons were performed using t-tests.

Electrophysiological recordings

EEG data were collected to investigate aperiodic activity in the same participants and on the same day. Data were acquired in three conditions: at rest with eyes open (EO, 3 minutes), at rest with eyes closed (EC, 3 minutes) and during visual stimulation with stimuli that changed in luminance (LU) (Pant et al., 2023). We used the slope of the aperiodic (1/f) component of the EEG spectrum as an estimate of E/I ratio (Gao et al., 2017; Medel et al., 2020; Muthukumaraswamy & Liley, 2018). Further, we compared the intercept of the aperiodic component in the human EEG between groups, as an estimate of broadband neuronal firing activity (Haller et al., 2018; Manning et al., 2009; Miller, 2010).

The EEG was recorded using Ag/AgCl electrodes attached according the 10/20 system(Homan et al., 1987) to an elastic cap (EASYCAP GmbH, Herrsching, Germany) (Figure 1). We recorded 32 channel EEG using the BrainAmp amplifier, with a bandwidth of 0.01–200 Hz, sampling rate of 5 kHz and a time constant of 0.016 Hz /(10 s) (http://www.brainproducts.com/). All scalp recordings were performed against a left ear lobe reference.

Participants were asked to sit as still as possible while EEG was being recorded. First, restingstate EEG data were collected. During the EO condition, participants were asked to fixate on a blank screen. During the EC condition, participants were instructed to keep their eyes closed. The order of conditions was randomized across participants. The EEG data sets reported here were part of data published earlier (Ossandón et al., 2023; Pant et al., 2023).

Subsequently, EEG data were recorded during 100 trials of a target detection task with stimuli that changed in luminance (LU). Stimuli were presented with a Dell laptop, on a Dell 22 inch LCD monitor with a refresh rate of 60 Hz. They were created with MATLAB r2018b (The MathWorks, Inc., Natick, MA) and the Psychtoolbox 3 toolbox (Brainard, 1997; Kleiner et al., 2007). On each trial, participants observed a circle at the center of a black screen, subtending a visual angle of 17 degrees. The circle appeared for 6.25 s and changed in luminance with equal power at all frequencies (0-30 Hz). At the end of every trial, participants had to indicate whether a target square, subtending a visual angle of 6

degrees, appeared on that trial. The experiment was performed in a darkened room (for further details, see (Pant et al., 2023)).

EEG Data Analysis

Data analysis was performed using the EEGLab toolbox on MATLAB 2018b(Delorme & Makeig, 2004). All EEG datasets were filtered using a Hamming windowed sinc FIR filter, with a high-pass cutoff at 1 Hz and a low-pass cutoff at 45 Hz. Eye movement artifacts were detected in the EEG datasets via independent component analysis using the *runica.m* function's *Infomax* algorithm in EEGLab. Components corresponding to horizontal or vertical eye movements were identified via visual inspection and removed (Plöchl et al., 2012).

The two 3 minutes long resting-state recordings (EC, EO) were divided into epochs of 1 s. Epochs with signals exceeding $\pm 120 \,\mu$ V were rejected for all electrodes. We then calculated the power spectral density of the EO and EC resting-state data using the *pwelch* function (window length = 1000, overlap = 0).

Datasets collected while participants viewed visual stimuli that changed in luminance (LU) were down-sampled to 60 Hz (antialiasing filtering performed by EEGLab's *pop_resample* function) to match the stimulation rate. The datasets were divided into 6.25 s long epochs corresponding to each trial. Subsequently, baseline removal was conducted by subtracting the mean activity across the length of an epoch from every data point. After baseline removal, epochs with signals exceeding a threshold of ±120 μ V were rejected in order to exclude potential artifacts. Finally, we calculated the power spectral density of the LU data using the *pwelch* function (window length = 60 samples, overlap = 0).

We calculated the aperiodic (1/f) component of the power spectrum for the EO, EC and LU conditions (Donoghue, Haller, et al., 2020; Schaworonkow & Voytek, 2021). First, we fit the 1/f distribution function to the frequency spectrum of each participant, separately for each electrode. The 1/f distribution was fit to the normalized spectrum converted to log-log scale (range = 1-20 Hz) (Donoghue, Dominguez, et al., 2020; Gyurkovics et al., 2021; Schaworonkow & Voytek, 2021). We excluded the alpha range (8-14 Hz) for this fit to avoid biasing the results due to documented differences in alpha activity between CC and SC individuals (Bottari et al., 2016; Ossandón et al., 2023; Pant et al., 2023). This 1/f fit resulted in a value of the aperiodic slope, an aperiodic intercept value corresponding to the broadband power of 1-20 Hz, and a fit error value for the spectrum of every participant, individually for all electrodes. The visual cortex aperiodic slope and intercept values were obtained by

averaging across pre-selected occipital electrodes O1 and O2, giving one value of broadband slope and intercept per participant for the EO, EC and LU conditions (Figure 1).

EEG Statistical Analysis

We compared the average visual cortex aperiodic slope and intercept in separate group (2 Levels: CC, SC) by condition (3 levels: EC, EO, LU) ANOVA models.

Visual acuity

Visual acuity was measured for every participant on the date of testing, using the Freiburg Visual Acuity Test (FrACT) (Bach 1996, Bach 2007, <u>https://michaelbach.de/fract/</u>). Visual acuity is reported as the logarithm of the mean angle of resolution (logMAR, Table 1), wherein higher values indicate worse vision(Elliott, 2016). As in previous studies, we ran a number of exploratory correlation analyses between GABA+, Glx and Glx/GABA+ concentrations, and visual acuity at the date of testing, duration of visual deprivation, and time since surgery respectively in the CC group (Birch et al., 2009; Guerreiro et al., 2015; Kalia et al., 2014; Rajendran et al., 2020). We additionally tested the correlation between the aforementioned metrics and chronological age across the CC and SC groups.

Correlation analyses between MRS and EEG measures

Exploratory correlation analyses between EEG and MRS measures were run separately for CC and SC individuals. We calculated correlations between the aperiodic intercept and GABA+, Glx and Glx/GABA+ concentrations. Further, correlations between aperiodic slope, and the concentrations of GABA+, Glx and Glx/GABA+ were assessed. MRS measures collected at rest with eyes open (EO) and eyes closed (EC) were correlated with the corresponding resting-state EEG conditions (EO, EC). The correlation between EEG data collected while participants viewed flickering stimuli (LU) calculated with GABA+, Glx and Glx/GABA+ concentration measured while participants' eyes were open at rest. We did not have prior hypotheses as to the best of our knowledge no extant literature has tested the correlation between aperiodic EEG activity and MRS measures of GABA+, Glx and Glx/GABA+. Therefore, we corrected for multiple comparisons using the Bonferroni correction (6 comparisons).

RESULTS

Transient visual deprivation lowered Glx/GABA+ concentration in the visual cortex.

The water-normalized Glx/GABA+ concentration ratio was significantly lower in the visual cortex of congenital cataract-reversal (CC) than age-matched, normally sighted control (SC) individuals (main effect of group: F(1,39) = 5.80, p = 0.021) (Figure 2). This effect did not vary with eye closure (main effect of condition: F(1,39) = 2.29, p = 0.139, group-by-condition interaction: F(1,39) = 1.15, p = 0.290). As a control for unspecified effects of surgery or visual deprivation on neurochemistry, the frontal cortex Glx/GABA+ concentration was compared between groups. There was no difference between CC and SC individuals in their frontal cortex Glx/GABA+ concentration (main effect of group: F(1,37) = 0.05, p = 0.82, main effect of condition: F(1,37) = 2.98, p = 0.093, group-by-condition interaction: F(1,37) = 0.09, p = 0.76) (Figure 2).



c. Visual cortex Glx/GABA+ and visual acuity



Figure 2: Edited spectra obtained from Magnetic Resonance Spectroscopy (MRS). *a. Average edited spectra showing GABA+ and edited Glx peaks in the visual cortices of normally sighted individuals (SC, green) and individuals with reversed congenital cataracts (CC, red) are shown. Edited MRS DIFF spectra are separately displayed for the eyes open (EO) and eyes closed (EC) conditions using dashed and solid lines respectively. The standard error of the mean is shaded. Water-normalized GABA+, Glx and Glx/GABA+ concentration distributions for each group and condition are depicted as violin plots on the right. The solid black lines indicate mean values and dotted lines indicate median values. The coloured lines connect values of individual participants across conditions. b. Corresponding average edited MRS spectra and water-normalized GABA+, Glx and Glx/GABA+ concentration distributions for each glax conditions. b. Corresponding average edited MRS spectra and water-normalized GABA+, Glx and Glx/GABA+ concentration distributions measured from the frontal cortex are displayed. c. Correlations between visual cortex Glx/GABA+ concentrations in the visual cortex of CC individuals and visual acuity in logMAR units are depicted for the eyes closed (EC, left) and eyes open (EO, right) conditions.*

When separately comparing CC and SC individuals' GABA+ and Glx concentrations in the visual cortex, we did not find any group difference (GABA+ main effect of group: F(1,39) = 2.5, p = 0.12, main effect of condition: F(1,39) = 0.6, p = 0.43, group-by-condition interaction: F(1,39) = 0.03, p = 0.86; Glx main effect of group: F(1,39) = 2.8, p = 0.103, main effect of condition: F(1,39) = 1.8, p = 0.19, group-by-condition interaction: F(1,39) = 1.8, p = 0.19, group-by-condition interaction: F(1,39) = 1.27, p = 0.27) (Figure 2). In the frontal cortex, GABA+ and Glx concentrations did not vary either with group or condition (all p values > 0.19) (Figure 2).

Glx/GABA+ concentration measured when CC individuals' eyes were closed correlated positively with visual acuity on the logMAR scale (r = 0.65, p = 0.044), indicating that CC individuals with higher Glx/GABA+ values had worse visual acuity (Figure 2C, Supplementary Material S5). The same correlation was not significant for the eyes opened condition (r = -0.042, p = 0.908) (Figure 2C). Duration of deprivation and time since surgery did not significantly predict Glx/GABA+, GABA+ or Glx concentrations in the CC group (all p values > 0.088, Supplementary Material S6).

No difference in NAA concentration between CC and SC individuals' visual cortices.

As a control measure to ensure that between-group differences were specific to hypothesized changes in Glx and GABA+ concentrations, we compared the NAA concentration between CC and SC individuals. The NAA concentration did not significantly differ between groups, neither in their visual (main effect of group: F(1,39) = 0.03, p = 0.87, main effect of condition: F(1,39) = 0.31, p = 0.58, group-by-condition interaction: F(1,39) = 0.09, p = 0.76) nor their frontal cortices (main effect of group: F(1,37))

= 1.1, p = 0.297, main effect of condition: F(1,37) = 0.14, p = 0.71, group-by-condition interaction: F(1,37) = 0.03, p = 0.86) (Supplementary Material S1, Figure S1).





Figure 3: Full spectrum and aperiodic activity of the electroencephalogram (EEG). a. EEG spectra across O1 and O2 with the corresponding aperiodic (1/f) fits for normally sighted individuals (SC, blue, left) and individuals with reversed congenital cataracts (CC, red, right). Spectra of EEG recordings are displayed for the eyes closed (EC) and eyes opened (EO) conditions, as well as while viewing stimuli that changed in luminance (LU). Shaded regions represent the standard error of the mean. b. Aperiodic intercept (top) and slope (bottom) value distributions for each group and condition are displayed as violin plots. Solid black lines indicate mean values, dotted black lines indicate median values. Coloured lines connect values of individual participants across conditions.

The aperiodic slope (1-20 Hz), measured via EEG as an electrophysiological estimate of the E/I ratio(Gao et al., 2017; Muthukumaraswamy & Liley, 2018), was compared between CC and SC individuals. The aperiodic slope was significantly steeper i.e. more negative, at occipital electrodes in CC than in SC individuals (F(1,59) = 13.1, p < 0.001) (Figure 3). Eye closure and visual stimulation did not affect the steepness of the aperiodic slope (F(2,59) = 0.78, p = 0.465, group-by-condition interaction: F(2,59) = 0.12, p = 0.885).

The aperiodic intercept (1-20 Hz) was compared between CC and SC individual to estimate group differences in broadband neural activity(Manning et al., 2009; Musall et al., 2014; Winawer et al., 2013) and was found to be significantly larger at occipital electrodes in CC than SC individuals (main effect of group: F(1,59) = 5.2, p = 0.026) (Figure 3). Eye closure did not affect the magnitude of the aperiodic intercept in either group(main effect of condition: F(2,59) = 0.16, p = 0.848, group-by-condition interaction: F(2,59) = 0.11, p = 0.892).

Within the CC group, visual acuity, time since surgery and duration of blindness did not significantly correlate with the aperiodic slope or the intercept (all p's > 0.083, Supplementary Material S7). Age negatively correlated with the aperiodic intercept across CC and SC individuals, that is, a flattening of the intercept was observed with age. Similar effects of chronological age have been previously observed (Hill et al., 2022; Voytek et al., 2015) (Supplementary Material S6, Supplementary Material S9).

Glx concentration predicted the aperiodic intercept in CC individuals' visual cortices during ambient and flickering visual stimulation.

We exploratorily tested the relationship between GIx, GABA+ and GIx/GABA+ measured at rest and the EEG aperiodic intercept measured at rest and during flickering visual stimulation, separately for the CC and the SC group.



Figure 4: Exploratory correlation analyses between the aperiodic intercept (1-20 Hz) and glutamate/glutamine (Glx) concentration in the visual cortex. Correlations between water-normalized Glx concentration and aperiodic intercept are shown for the eyes closed (EC, left), eyes open (EO, middle) and visual stimulation (LU, right) conditions for sighted controls (SC, green, top) and individuals with reversed congenital cataracts (CC, red, bottom). Displayed p values are Bonferroni corrected for multiple comparisons.

Visual cortex Glx concentration in CC individuals was positively correlated with the aperiodic intercept either when participants had their eyes open during rest (r = 0.91, p = 0.001, Bonferroni corrected) or when they viewed flickering stimuli (r = 0.90, p < 0.001, Bonferroni corrected). Corresponding correlations were not significant for Glx concentrations in the eyes closed condition (r = 0.341, p > 0.99, Bonferroni corrected). By contrast, in SC individuals no significant correlation was observed between visual cortex Glx concentration and aperiodic intercept in any condition (all p's > 0.99, Bonferroni corrected). (Figure 4).

A negative correlation between the aperiodic slope and Glx concentration in CC individuals (i.e., steeper slopes with increasing Glx concentration) was observed during visual stimulation, but did not

survive correction for multiple comparisons (Supplementary Material S8). No such correlation was observed between Glx concentration and aperiodic slope in the eyes open or closed conditions. Visual cortex GABA+ concentration and Glx/GABA+ concentration ratios did not significantly correlate with the aperiodic intercept or slope in either CC or SC individuals, during any experimental condition (Supplementary Material S8).

DISCUSSION

Research in non-human animals has provided convincing evidence that the ratio of excitation to inhibition (E/I) in visual cortex is reliant on early visual experience (Froemke, 2015; Haider et al., 2006; Hensch et al., 1998; Takesian & Hensch, 2013; Wu et al., 2022). In parallel, research in humans who were born blind due to dense bilateral cataracts, and received delayed sight restoration surgery in childhood or as adults, has found limited recovery of both basic visual and higher order visual functions (Birch et al., 2009; Röder & Kekunnaya, 2021). The present study tested whether neurotransmitter concentrations and electrophysiological markers of cortical E/I ratio depend on early visual experience in humans, and how possible changes in visual cortex E/I ratio relate to visual recovery. First, we employed Magnetic Resonance Spectroscopy (MRS) and assessed Glutamate/Glutamine (Glx) and Gamma-Aminobutyric Acid (GABA+) concentrations, as well as their ratio, in the visual cortex (Shibata et al., 2017; Steel et al., 2020; Takei et al., 2016). Second, the slope and intercept of the aperiodic spectrum of EEG resting-state activity during eye opening and eye closure (Gao et al., 2017; Muthukumaraswamy & Liley, 2018; Ossandón et al., 2023), as well as during flickering stimulation (Pant et al., 2023), were measured over the occipital cortex in the same individuals. The EEG measures allowed us to relate neurotransmitter changes to neural activity changes in congenital cataract-reversal individuals.

We found a lower Glx/GABA+ concentration ratio in the visual cortex of congenital cataractreversal (CC) individuals as compared to normally sighted controls (SC). Additionally, the slope of the aperiodic EEG power spectrum was steeper for the low frequency range (1-20 Hz), and its intercept was higher in CC than SC individuals. In the CC group, Glx concentration correlated with the intercept of the aperiodic component during ambient and flickering stimulation. Glx/GABA+ concentration ratio during eye closure predicted visual acuity of CC individuals. Together, the present results provide strong evidence for experience-dependent development of the E/I ratio in the human visual cortex, with consequences for behavior.

Altered Glx/GABA+ ratio after sight restoration in congenitally blind humans

Previous MRS studies in the visual cortex of permanently congenitally blind humans reported higher Glx concentrations (Coullon et al., 2015) in five anophthalmic humans, and numerically lower GABA concentrations in congenitally blind humans (Weaver et al., 2013) (n = 9), as compared to normally sighted individuals. These results were interpreted as suggesting a higher E/I ratio in the visual cortex of permanently congenitally blind humans, which would be consistent with the extant literature on higher BOLD activity in the visual cortices of the same population (Bedny, 2017; Röder & Kekunnaya, 2022). We observed a lower Glx/GABA+ ratio in CC individuals, which suggests a lower rather than higher E/I ratio. Our results imply a change in neurotransmitter concentrations as a consequence of *restoring* vision following congenital blindness. Here, we speculate that due to limited structural plasticity after a phase of congenital blindness, the neural circuits of CC individuals, which had adapted to blindness after birth, employ available, likely predominantly physiological plasticity mechanisms (Knudsen, 1998; Mower et al., 1985; Röder et al., 2021), in order to re-adapt to the newly available visual excitation following sight restoration.

Structural remodeling for typical E/I balance requires visual experience following birth (Hensch & Fagiolini, 2005; Takesian & Hensch, 2013; H. Zhang et al., 2018) and is linked to a sensitive period (Desai et al., 2002; Hensch & Fagiolini, 2005). A repeatedly documented finding in permanently congenitally blind humans is the increased thickness of visual cortex (Andelin et al., 2019; Guerreiro et al., 2015; Hölig et al., 2023; Jiang et al., 2009), which was not observed in late-blind humans (Andelin et al., 2019). These structural changes in permanently congenitally blind individuals were interpreted as a lack of experience dependent pruning of exuberant synapses and/or reduced myelination typically shifting of the grey-white matter boundary (Natu et al., 2019). In parallel, it was observed that the overproduction of synapses during the initial phase of brain development in non-human primates was independent of experience, but that synaptic pruning, predominantly of excitatory synapses, depended on visual experience (Bourgeois, 1996; Bourgeois et al., 1989). This lack of excitatory pruning has been though to underlie the observed higher excitability of visual cortex due to congenital visual deprivation (Benevento et al., 1992; Huang et al., 2015; Morales et al., 2002), which was interpreted as a homeostatic adjustment of the E/I ratio resulting from the lack of visual feedforward excitation (Huang et al., 2015; Turrigiano & Nelson, 2004). Indeed, sight restoration in non-human primates after several months of congenital bilateral lid suture resulted in higher spontaneous firing in visual association cortex (Hyvärinen et al., 1981). Further, neuronal spiking was increased in dark reared mice when exposed to ambient light (Benevento et al., 1992). Crucially, increased visual cortex thickness (Feng et al., 2021; Guerreiro et al., 2015; Hölig et al., 2023) and higher BOLD activity during rest with the eyes open (Raczy
et al., 2022) have been observed for CC individuals as well, suggesting incomplete recovery of cortical structure and function after sight restoration in humans. Thus, the restored feedforward drive to visual cortex after surgery might reach a visual cortex with a lower threshold for excitation, possible due to a relatively higher number of excitatory synapses (Bourgeois, 1996; Morales et al., 2002).

Studies in non-human animals have demonstrated that excitation and inhibition appear to go hand-in-hand (Froemke, 2015; Haider et al., 2006; Isaacson & Scanziani, 2011; Tao & Poo, 2005). Outside of the sensitive period, the visual cortices of CC individuals to maintain neural circuit stability (Lee & Kirkwood, 2019; Turrigiano & Nelson, 2004). An overall reduction in Glx/GABA ratio would counteract the aforementioned adaptations to congenital blindness, e.g. a lower threshold for excitation, which might come with the risk of runaway excitation in the presence of restored visually-elicited excitation. Previous MRS studies have observed a reduction of GABA concentrations in visual cortex (Lunghi et al., 2015) and an increase in the BOLD response (Binda et al., 2018) following monocular blindfolding in adulthood, which was interpreted as indicative of adult homeostatic plasticity. Further, studies in adult mice have provided support for a homeostatic adjustment of the E/I ratio following prolonged changes in neural activity (Chen et al., 2022; Goel & Lee, 2007; Keck et al., 2017; Whitt et al., 2013). For example, a long period of decreased activity following enucleation in adult mice commensurately decreased inhibitory drive (Keck et al., 2011), primarily onto excitatory neurons (Barnes et al., 2015). In line with the lowered Glx/GABA+ ratio being a compensatory measure, the observed correlation of the Glx/GABA+ ratio during eye closure and visual acuity suggests that the more successful this downregulation of the E/I ratio, the better the visual recovery.

The correlation of a lower Glx/GABA+ ratio with better visual acuity is reminiscent of a previously identified correlation in a larger group of CC individuals between decreased visual cortex thickness and better visual acuity (Hölig et al., 2023). Hence, CC individuals with more advanced structural normalization appear to have a better starting point for functional recovery mediated by physiological plasticity.

Glx correlated with the aperiodic intercept of EEG resting-state activity during visual stimulation in congenital cataract-reversal individuals.

An increased intercept of the aperiodic component of EEG activity was observed in the same CC individuals who underwent MRS assessment, irrespective of eye opening or eye closure, as well as during flickering stimulation. The intercept of the aperiodic component has been linked to overall

neuronal spiking activity (Manning et al., 2009; Musall et al., 2014) and fMRI BOLD activity (Winawer et al., 2013).

Moreover, the slope of the aperiodic component for the low frequency range (1-20 Hz) was steeper in CC individuals. By contrast, the slope of the higher (20-40 Hz) frequency range was flatter in CC than SC individuals (Ossandón et al., 2023). Higher frequencies (such as 20-40 Hz) have been predominantly associated with local circuit activity and feedforward signaling (Bastos et al., 2018; Van Kerkoerle et al., 2014); the increased 20-40 Hz slope may therefore signal increased spontaneous spiking activity in local networks. We speculate that the steeper slope of the aperiodic activity for the lower frequency range (1-20 Hz) in CC individuals reflects the concomitant increase in inhibition.

Interestingly, in CC individuals, the intercept of the aperiodic activity was highly correlated with the Glx concentration during rest with eyes open, and during flickering stimulation (also see Supplementary Material S11). Based on the assumption that the aperiodic intercept reflects broadband firing (Manning et al., 2009; Winawer et al., 2013), this suggests that the Glx concentration might be related to broadband firing in CC individuals during active and passive visual stimulation. As this is the first study testing a relationship between aperiodic EEG parameters and MRS parameters in humans, we interpret this finding based on results from non-human animals. In typically developed adults, sparse neuronal coding (Toyoizumi et al., 2013) after synaptic pruning reflected decorrelated activity (Chini et al., 2022; Sompolinsky et al., 2001; Trägenap et al., 2023; Vinje & Gallant, 2000). Given that visual deprivation resulted in interrupted pruning of predominantly excitatory synapses in monkeys' visual cortices (Bourgeois, 1996, 1997), we speculate that in the absence of adequate inhibitory tuning for incoming visual input, restored feedforward drive might result in more correlated spiking activity in CC individuals. Indeed, poorly tuned visual responses were evidenced in prior work with CC individuals, including larger (population) receptive fields (Heitmann et al., 2023) and a broader scalp topography of the first cortical visual event related potential (Sourav et al., 2018), as well as higher gamma band activity (Ossandón et al., 2023), which has been linked to firing in feedforward circuits (Van Kerkoerle et al., 2014). Electrophysiological studies with CC individuals have additionally demonstrated a reduced stimulus-selectivity of visual association cortex (Le Grand et al., 2001; Röder et al., 2013; Segalowitz et al., 2017), consistent with imprecise neural representations in this population.

Why might an enhanced inhibitory drive, as indicated by the lower Glx/GABA ratio and, possibly, the 1-20 Hz range of aperiodic EEG activity, not allow for complete recovery of neural tuning? As mentioned above, E/I balance is reflective of multiple interacting mechanisms, and typically maintained

by both feedforward inhibition and feedback-mediated inhibition (Froemke, 2015; Isaacson & Scanziani, 2011; Keck et al., 2017; Wu et al., 2022). Feedback connectivity typically emerges later than feedforward connectivity (Batardière et al., 2002; Burkhalter, 1993), and thus is likely more susceptible to damage from early sensory deprivation (Magrou et al., 2018; Yusuf et al., 2022). The markedly reduced alpha oscillatory activity during rest (Ossandón et al., 2023) and in response to white-noise stimulation (Pant et al., 2023) has been interpreted as indirect evidence for deficits in recurrent connectivity within the visual system of CC individuals. Moreover, deficits in the higher harmonic responses and intermodulation frequency responses in steady state visual-evoked responses (Pitchaimuthu et al., 2021), both indicative of bidirectional processing in visual cortex (Kim et al., 2011), have been reported as additional evidence for altered recurrent circuitry in CC individuals. Therefore, the downregulated E/I ratio in CC individuals reflected in the present study likely differs from fine-tuned inhibition within recurrent networks necessary for typical visual processing.

Aperiodic EEG activity correlated with chronological age in sight recovery individuals and normally sighted controls

In both the CC and SC group, the intercept of the aperiodic component of EEG activity decreased with chronological age, irrespective of condition. This chronological age effect replicates corresponding earlier reports in healthy populations (Hill et al., 2022; Voytek et al., 2015). The effect of chronological age in the present study is, again, similar to a correspondingly preserved effect of chronological age on the cortical thickness in CC individuals in cross-sectionally assessed MRI data (Hölig et al., 2023). The reduction of visual cortex thickness during childhood, after an initial increase, is a well-documented trend in brain development (Gilmore et al., 2020; Natu et al., 2019). Thus, we speculate that some typical developmental changes emerge despite aberrant visual experience.

Limitations

To the best of our knowledge, the present study is the first assessment of neurotransmitter concentrations within the visual cortex of sight recovery individuals with a history of congenital blindness by employing non-invasive MRS.

We are aware that MRS has a low spatial specificity. Moreover, MRS measures do not allow us to distinguish between presynaptic, postsynaptic and vesicular neurotransmitter concentrations. However, previous work has validated the link between MRS measures of GABA and Glutamate and the activity of inhibitory and excitatory neuronal assemblies, respectively, both in rodents and non-human

primates (Bielicki et al., 2004; Takado et al., 2022). Further, our phantom testing showed high correlations between the experimentally varied metabolite concentrations and the extracted GABA and Glx concentrations, validating the employed assessment and analysis pipelines (Figure S3). Finally, all reported group differences in MRS parameters were specific to visual cortex, and were not found for the frontal control voxel.

The sample size of the present study is relatively high for the rare population, but undoubtedly, overall, rather small. We nevertheless think that our results are valid. Our findings neurochemically (Glx andGABA+ concentration), and anatomically (visual cortex) specific. The MRS parameters varied with parameters of the aperiodic EEG activity and visual acuity. The group differences for the EEG assessments corresponded to those of a larger sample of CC individuals (n=38) (Ossandón et al., 2023), and effects of chronological age were as expected from the literature.

Conclusion

The present study in sight recovery individuals with a history of congenital blindness indicates that E/I balance is a result of early experience, and crucial for human behavior. We provide evidence that E/I balance in sight recovery individuals is altered even years after surgery, which might result from the previous adaptation to congenital blindness.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST

Dr. Sunitha Lingareddy is the Managing Director Radiology at Lucid Medical Diagnostics, Hyderabad, India. All other authors have no conflicts to declare.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

RP, KP, JO, JF and BR conceptualized the study. RP, KP, IS and PR collected the data. IS, PR and RK diagnosed, recruited and provided clinical assessments of participants. RP, JO and KP analyzed the data. BR and JF supervised data analysis and methodological decisions. BR, RK and SL provided infrastructure, resources and funding. RP and BR wrote the original draft of the manuscript, and all authors provided edits and reviews on the final draft of the manuscript.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We thank the technical staff of the Lucid Medical Diagnostics Center, Banjara Hills, Hyderabad, India, in particular Mr. Balakrishna Vaddepally, for technical assistance during collection of MRS/MRI data. We

would like to acknowledge Dr. Suddha Sourav for technical support, and Ms. Prativa Regmi for assistance with phantom testing and data collection. We are grateful to D. Balasubramanian of the L.V. Prasad Eye Institute for initiating and supporting our research. The study was funded by the German Research Foundation (DFG Ro 2625/10-1 and SFB 936-178316478-B11) to Brigitte Röder. RP was supported by a PhD student fellowship from the Hector Fellow Academy GmbH.

KEYWORDS

Brain development, Sensitive periods, Visual Cortex, congenital cataracts, sight recovery, Excitatory-Inhibitory balance.

REFERENCES

Andelin, A. K., Olavarria, J. F., Fine, I., Taber, E. N., Schwartz, D., Kroenke, C. D., & Stevens, A. A. (2019). The effect of onset age of visual deprivation on visual cortex surface area acrossspecies. *Cerebral Cortex (New York, NY), 29*(10), 4321.

https://doi.org/10.1093/CERCOR/BHY315

- Badde, S., Ley, P., Rajendran, S. S., Shareef, I., Kekunnaya, R., & Röder, B. (2020). Sensory
 experience during early sensitive periods shapes cross-modal temporal biases. *eLife*.
 https://doi.org/10.7554/ELIFE.61238
- Barnes, S. J., Sammons, R. P., Jacobsen, R. I., Mackie, J., Keller, G. B., & Keck, T. (2015).
 Subnetwork-specific homeostatic plasticity in mouse visual cortex in vivo. *Neuron*, *86*(5), 1290–1303. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.NEURON.2015.05.010
- Baroncelli, L., Maffei, L., & Sale, A. (2011). New perspectives in amblyopia therapy on adults: A critical role for the excitatory/inhibitory balance. *Frontiers in Cellular Neuroscience*, *5*(NOVEMBER), 1–6. https://doi.org/10.3389/FNCEL.2011.00025
- Bastos, A. M., Loonis, R., Kornblith, S., Lundqvist, M., & Miller, E. K. (2018). Laminar recordings in frontal cortex suggest distinct layers for maintenance and control of working memory.

Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 115(5), 1117–1122.

https://doi.org/10.1073/PNAS.1710323115/SUPPL_FILE/PNAS.1710323115.SAPP.PDF

- Batardière, A., Barone, P., Knoblauch, K., Giroud, P., Berland, M., Dumas, A. M., & Kennedy, H.
 (2002). Early specification of the hierarchical organization of visual cortical areas in the macaque monkey. *Cerebral Cortex (New York, N.Y. : 1991)*, *12*(5), 453–465.
 https://doi.org/10.1093/CERCOR/12.5.453
- Bedny, M. (2017). Evidence from blindness for a cognitively pluripotent cortex. In *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tics.2017.06.003
- Benevento, L. A., Bakkum, B. W., Port, J. D., & Cohen, R. S. (1992). The effects of dark-rearing on the electrophysiology of the rat visual cortex. *Brain Research*, *572*(1–2), 198–207. https://doi.org/10.1016/0006-8993(92)90470-T
- Bezalel, V., Paz, R., & Tal, A. (2019). Inhibitory and excitatory mechanisms in the human cingulate-cortex support reinforcement learning: A functional Proton Magnetic Resonance Spectroscopy study. *NeuroImage*, *184*, 25–35.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/J.NEUROIMAGE.2018.09.016
- Bielicki, G., Chassain, C., Renou, J. P., Farges, M. C., Vasson, M. P., Eschalier, A., & Durif, F.
 (2004). Brain GABA editing by localized in vivo 1H magnetic resonance spectroscopy.
 NMR in Biomedicine, 17(2), 60–68. https://doi.org/10.1002/NBM.863
- Binda, P., Kurzawski, J. W., Lunghi, C., Biagi, L., Tosetti, M., & Morrone, M. C. (2018). Response to short-term deprivation of the human adult visual cortex measured with 7T BOLD. *eLife*, 7. https://doi.org/10.7554/ELIFE.40014

- Birch, E. E., Cheng, C., Stager, D. R., Weakley, D. R., & Stager, D. R. (2009). The critical period for surgical treatment of dense congenital bilateral cataracts. *Journal of Aapos*, 13(1), 67. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JAAPOS.2008.07.010
- Birch, E. E., Stager, D., Leffler, J., & Weakley, D. (1998). Early treatment of congenital unilateral cataract minimizes unequal competition. *Investigative Ophthalmology and Visual Science*.
- Birch, E. E., Swanson, W. H., Stager, D. R., Woody, M., & Everett, M. (1993). Outcome after very early treatment of dense congenital unilateral cataract. *Investigative Ophthalmology and Visual Science*.
- Bottari, D., Kekunnaya, R., Hense, M., Troje, N. F., Sourav, S., & Röder, B. (2018). Motion processing after sight restoration: No competition between visual recovery and auditory compensation. *NeuroImage*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2017.11.050
- Bottari, D., Troje, N. F., Ley, P., Hense, M., Kekunnaya, R., & Röder, B. (2016). Sight restoration after congenital blindness does not reinstate alpha oscillatory activity in humans. *Scientific Reports*. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep24683
- Bourgeois, J. P. (1996). Synaptogenesis in the occipital cortex of macaque monkey devoid of retinal input from early embryonic stages. *The European Journal of Neuroscience*, 8(5), 942–950. https://doi.org/10.1111/J.1460-9568.1996.TB01581.X
- Bourgeois, J. P. (1997). Synaptogenesis, heterochrony and epigenesis in the mammalian neocortex. *Acta Paediatrica, International Journal of Paediatrics, Supplement, 86*(422), 27–33. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1651-2227.1997.tb18340.x

Bourgeois, J. P., Jastreboff, P. J., & Rakic, P. (1989). Synaptogenesis in visual cortex of normal and preterm monkeys: Evidence for intrinsic regulation of synaptic overproduction.
 Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 86(11), 4297–4301. https://doi.org/10.1073/PNAS.86.11.4297

Brainard, D. H. (1997). The Psychophysics Toolbox. *Spatial Vision*, *10*(4). https://doi.org/10.1163/156856897X00357

- Brooks, W. M., Friedman, S. D., & Stidley, C. A. (1999). Reproducibility of 1 H-MRS In Vivo. *Reson Med*, *41*, 193–197. https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1522-2594(199901)41:1
- Burkhalter, A. (1993). Development of forward and feedback connections between areas v1 and v2 of human visual cortex. *Cerebral Cortex*. https://doi.org/10.1093/cercor/3.5.476
- Cavassila, S., Deval, S., Huegen, C., Van Ormondt, D., & Graveron-Demilly, D. (2001). Cramér-Rao bounds: An evaluation tool for quantitation. *NMR in Biomedicine*, *14*(4), 278–283. https://doi.org/10.1002/NBM.701
- Chattopadhyaya, B., Di Cristo, G., Higashiyama, H., Knott, G. W., Kuhlman, S. J., Welker, E., & Huang, Z. J. (2004). Experience and activity-dependent maturation of perisomatic GABAergic innervation in primary visual cortex during a postnatal critical period. *Journal* of Neuroscience, 24(43), 9598–9611. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1851-04.2004
- Chen, L., Li, X., Tjia, M., & Thapliyal, S. (2022). Homeostatic plasticity and excitation-inhibition balance: The good, the bad and the ugly. *Current Opinion in Neurobiology*, *75*, 102553. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CONB.2022.102553

Chini, M., Pfeffer, T., & Hanganu-Opatz, I. (2022). An increase of inhibition drives the developmental decorrelation of neural activity. *eLife*, *11*. https://doi.org/10.7554/ELIFE.78811

Coullon, G. S. L., Emir, U. E., Fine, I., Watkins, K. E., & Bridge, H. (2015). Neurochemical changes in the pericalcarine cortex in congenital blindness attributable to bilateral anophthalmia. *Journal of Neurophysiology*. https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.00567.2015

- Delorme, A., & Makeig, S. (2004). EEGLAB: An open source toolbox for analysis of single-trial EEG dynamics including independent component analysis. *Journal of Neuroscience Methods*, *134*(1). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jneumeth.2003.10.009
- Desai, N. S., Cudmore, R. H., Nelson, S. B., & Turrigiano, G. G. (2002). Critical periods for experience-dependent synaptic scaling in visual cortex. *Nature Neuroscience 2002 5:8*, 5(8), 783–789. https://doi.org/10.1038/nn878
- Donoghue, T., Dominguez, J., & Voytek, B. (2020). Electrophysiological frequency band ratio measures conflate periodic and aperiodic neural activity. *eNeuro*, 7(6).

https://doi.org/10.1523/ENEURO.0192-20.2020

- Donoghue, T., Haller, M., Peterson, E. J., Varma, P., Sebastian, P., Gao, R., Noto, T., Lara, A. H., Wallis, J. D., Knight, R. T., Shestyuk, A., & Voytek, B. (2020). Parameterizing neural power spectra into periodic and aperiodic components. *Nature Neuroscience*. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41593-020-00744-x
- Edden, R. A. E., Puts, N. A. J., Harris, A. D., Barker, P. B., & Evans, C. J. (2014). Gannet: A batchprocessing tool for the quantitative analysis of gamma-aminobutyric acid-edited MR

spectroscopy spectra. Journal of Magnetic Resonance Imaging.

https://doi.org/10.1002/jmri.24478

Ehrlich, L. H. (1948). Spontaneous absorption of congenital cataract following maternal rubella. *Archives of Ophthalmology*, *39*(2), 205–209.

https://doi.org/10.1001/ARCHOPHT.1948.00900020210007

Elliott, D. B. (2016). The good (logMAR), the bad (Snellen) and the ugly (BCVA, number of letters read) of visual acuity measurement. *Ophthalmic and Physiological Optics*, *36*(4), 355–358. https://doi.org/10.1111/OPO.12310

Favaro, J., Colombo, M. A., Mikulan, E., Sartori, S., Nosadini, M., Pelizza, M. F., Rosanova, M., Sarasso, S., Massimini, M., & Toldo, I. (2023). The maturation of aperiodic EEG activity across development reveals a progressive differentiation of wakefulness from sleep. *NeuroImage*, 277. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.NEUROIMAGE.2023.120264

Feng, Y., Collignon, O., Maurer, D., Yao, K., & Gao, X. (2021). Brief postnatal visual deprivation triggers long-lasting interactive structural and functional reorganization of the human cortex. *Frontiers in Medicine*, *8*, 752021.

https://doi.org/10.3389/FMED.2021.752021/BIBTEX

- Froemke, R. C. (2015). Plasticity of cortical excitatory-inhibitory balance. *Annual Review of Neuroscience*, *38*, 195–219. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-neuro-071714-034002
- Gandhi, S. P., Yanagawa, Y., & Stryker, M. P. (2008). Delayed plasticity of inhibitory neurons in developing visual cortex. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, *105*(43), 16797–16802. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0806159105

- Gao, R., Peterson, E. J., & Voytek, B. (2017). Inferring synaptic excitation/inhibition balance from field potentials. *NeuroImage*, *158*(March), 70–78. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2017.06.078
- Gianfranceschi, L., Siciliano, R., Walls, J., Morales, B., Kirkwood, A., Huang, Z. J., Tonegawa, S., & Maffei, L. (2003). Visual cortex is rescued from the effects of dark rearing by overexpression of BDNF. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, *100*(21), 12486–12491.

https://doi.org/10.1073/PNAS.1934836100/ASSET/30EA89DF-8245-4DE1-BCC3-03302D84B3D9/ASSETS/GRAPHIC/PQ1934836005.JPEG

- Gilmore, J. H., Langworthy, B., Girault, J. B., Fine, J., Jha, S. C., Kim, S. H., Cornea, E., & Styner,
 M. (2020). Individual variation of human cortical structure is established in the first year
 of life. *Biological Psychiatry. Cognitive Neuroscience and Neuroimaging*, *5*(10), 971.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/J.BPSC.2020.05.012
- Goel, A., & Lee, H. K. (2007). Persistence of experience-induced homeostatic synaptic plasticity through adulthood in superficial layers of mouse visual cortex. *Journal of Neuroscience*, *27*(25), 6692–6700. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.5038-06.2007

Grent-'t-Jong, T., Gajwani, R., Gross, J., Gumley, A. I., Lawrie, S. M., Schwannauer, M., Schultze-Lutter, F., Williams, S. R., & Uhlhaas, P. J. (2022). MR-Spectroscopy of GABA and glutamate/glutamine concentrations in auditory cortex in clinical high-risk for psychosis individuals. *Frontiers in Psychiatry*, *13*(March), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyt.2022.859322 Guerreiro, M. J. S., Erfort, M. V., Henssler, J., Putzar, L., & Röder, B. (2015). Increased visual cortical thickness in sight-recovery individuals. *Human Brain Mapping*. https://doi.org/10.1002/hbm.23009

Gyurkovics, M., Clements, G. M., Low, K. A., Fabiani, M., & Gratton, G. (2021). The impact of 1/f activity and baseline correction on the results and interpretation of time-frequency analyses of EEG/MEG data: A cautionary tale. *NeuroImage*, 237. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2021.118192

- Hadad, B. S., Maurer, D., & Lewis, T. L. (2012). Sparing of sensitivity to biological motion but not of global motion after early visual deprivation. *Developmental Science*.
 https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-7687.2012.01145.x
- Haider, B., Duque, A., Hasenstaub, A. R., & McCormick, D. A. (2006). Neocortical network activity in vivo is generated through a dynamic balance of excitation and inhibition.
 Journal of Neuroscience. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.5297-05.2006
- Haller, M., Donoghue, T., Peterson, E., Varma, P., Sebastian, P., Gao, R., Noto, T., Knight, R. T., Shestyuk, A., & Voytek, B. (2018). Parameterizing neural power spectra. *bioRxiv*, 299859.
- Harris, A. D., Puts, N. A. J., & Edden, R. A. E. (2015). Tissue correction for GABA-edited MRS: considerations of voxel composition, tissue segmentation and tissue relaxations. *Journal of Magnetic Resonance Imaging : JMRI, 42*(5), 1431.

https://doi.org/10.1002/JMRI.24903

Heitmann, C., Zhan, M., Linke, M., Hölig, C., Kekunnaya, R., Hoof, R. van, Goebel, R., & Röder, B.
(2023). Early visual experience refines the retinotopic organization within and across
visual cortical regions. *Current Biology*, 0(0). https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CUB.2023.10.010

- Henry, M. E., Lauriat, T. L., Shanahan, M., Renshaw, P. F., & Jensen, J. E. (2011). Accuracy and stability of measuring GABA, glutamate, and glutamine by proton magnetic resonance spectroscopy: A phantom study at 4 Tesla. *Journal of Magnetic Resonance*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jmr.2010.11.003
- Hensch, T. K. (2005). Critical period plasticity in local cortical circuits. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, *6*(11), 877–888. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrn1787
- Hensch, T. K., & Bilimoria, P. M. (2012). Re-opening windows: Manipulating critical periods for brain development. *Cerebrum: The Dana Forum on Brain Science*.
- Hensch, T. K., & Fagiolini, M. (2004). Excitatory-inhibitory balance and critical period plasticity in developing visual cortex. *Progress in Brain Research*, *147*(SPEC. ISS.), 115–124. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0079-6123(04)47009-5
- Hensch, T. K., & Fagiolini, M. (2005). Excitatory-inhibitory balance and critical period plasticity in developing visual cortex. *Progress in Brain Research*, *147*(SPEC. ISS.), 115–124. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0079-6123(04)47009-5
- Hensch, T. K., Fagiolini, M., Mataga, N., Stryker, M. P., Baekkeskov, S., & Kash, S. F. (1998). Local GABA circuit control of experience-dependent plasticity in developing visual cortex. *Science*. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.282.5393.1504

Hill, A. T., Clark, G. M., Bigelow, F. J., Lum, J. A. G., & Enticott, P. G. (2022). Periodic and aperiodic neural activity displays age-dependent changes across early-to-middle childhood. *Developmental Cognitive Neuroscience*, *54*, 101076. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.DCN.2022.101076

- Hölig, C., Guerreiro, M. J. S., Lingareddy, S., Kekunnaya, R., & Röder, B. (2023). Sight restoration in congenitally blind humans does not restore visual brain structure. *Cerebral Cortex*, 33(5), 2152–2161. https://doi.org/10.1093/CERCOR/BHAC197
- Homan, R. W., Herman, J., & Purdy, P. (1987). Cerebral location of international 10-20 system
 electrode placement. *Electroencephalography and Clinical Neurophysiology*, 66(4).
 https://doi.org/10.1016/0013-4694(87)90206-9
- Huang, S., Hokenson, K., Bandyopadhyay, S., Russek, S. J., & Kirkwood, A. (2015). Brief dark
 exposure reduces tonic inhibition in visual cortex. *Journal of Neuroscience*, *35*(48),
 15916–15920. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1813-15.2015
- Hyvärinen, J., Carlson, S., & Hyvärinen, L. (1981). Early visual deprivation alters modality of neuronal responses in area 19 of monkey cortex. *Neuroscience Letters*, *26*(3), 239–243. https://doi.org/10.1016/0304-3940(81)90139-7
- Isaacson, J. S., & Scanziani, M. (2011). How inhibition shapes cortical activity. *Neuron*, 72(2), 231–243. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.NEURON.2011.09.027
- Jenkins, C., Chandler, M., Langbein, F. C., & Shermer, S. M. (2019). Seeking ground truth for GABA quantification by edited magnetic resonance spectroscopy: Comparative analysis of TARQUIN, LCModel, JMRUI and GANNET. In *arXiv*.
- Jensen, O., & Mazaheri, A. (2010). Shaping functional architecture by oscillatory alpha activity: Gating by inhibition. *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience*.

https://doi.org/10.3389/fnhum.2010.00186

- Jiang, J., Zhu, W., Shi, F., Liu, Y., Li, J., Qin, W., Li, K., Yu, C., & Jiang, T. (2009). Thick visual cortex in the early blind. *Journal of Neuroscience*. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.5451-08.2009
- Kalia, A., Lesmes, L. A., Dorr, M., Gandhi, T., Chatterjee, G., Ganesh, S., Bex, P. J., & Sinha, P. (2014). Development of pattern vision following early and extended blindness. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *111*(5), 2035–2039.
 https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1311041111
- Keck, T., Hübener, M., & Bonhoeffer, T. (2017). Interactions between synaptic homeostatic mechanisms: An attempt to reconcile BCM theory, synaptic scaling, and changing excitation/inhibition balance. *Current Opinion in Neurobiology*, 43, 87–93. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CONB.2017.02.003
- Keck, T., Scheuss, V., Jacobsen, R. I., Wierenga, C. J., Eysel, U. T., Bonhoeffer, T., & Hübener, M.
 (2011). Loss of sensory input causes rapid structural changes of inhibitory neurons in adult mouse visual cortex. *Neuron*, *71*(5), 869–882.

https://doi.org/10.1016/J.NEURON.2011.06.034

- Khanna, R., Foster, A., Krishnaiah, S., Mehta, M., & Gogate, P. (2013). Visual outcomes of bilateral congenital and developmental cataracts in young children in south India and causes of poor outcome. *Indian Journal of Ophthalmology*, *61*(2), 65–70.
 https://doi.org/10.4103/0301-4738.107194
- Kim, Y. J., Grabowecky, M., Paller, K. A., & Suzuki, S. (2011). Differential roles of frequencyfollowing and frequency-doubling visual responses revealed by evoked neural

harmonics. Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience, 23(8), 1875.

https://doi.org/10.1162/JOCN.2010.21536

Kleiner, M., Brainard, D. H., Pelli, D. G., Broussard, C., Wolf, T., & Niehorster, D. (2007). What's new in Psychtoolbox-3? *Perception*, *36*.

Knudsen, E. I. (1998). Capacity for plasticity in the adult owl auditory system expanded by juvenile experience. *Science*, *279*(5356), 1531–1533.

https://doi.org/10.1126/SCIENCE.279.5356.1531

Knudsen, E. I. (2004). Sensitive periods in the development of the brain and behavior. *Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience*. https://doi.org/10.1162/0898929042304796

Le Grand, R., Mondloch, C. J., Maurer, D., & Brent, H. P. (2001). Early visual experience and face processing. *Nature 2001 410:6831*, *410*(6831), 890–890. https://doi.org/10.1038/35073749

- Lee, H.-K., & Kirkwood, A. (2019). Mechanisms of homeostatic synaptic plasticity in vivo. *Frontiers in Cellular Neuroscience*, *13*, 520. https://doi.org/10.3389/FNCEL.2019.00520
- Levelt, C. N., & Hübener, M. (2012). Critical-Period plasticity in the visual cortex. *Annual Review* of Neuroscience. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-neuro-061010-113813
- Lewis, T. L., & Maurer, D. (2005). Multiple sensitive periods in human visual development:
 Evidence from visually deprived children. *Developmental Psychobiology*, 46(3), 163–183.
 https://doi.org/10.1002/dev.20055
- Lewis, T. L., & Maurer, D. (2009). Effects of early pattern deprivation on visual development. *Optometry and Vision Science : Official Publication of the American Academy of Optometry*, *86*(6), 640–646. https://doi.org/10.1097/OPX.0B013E3181A7296B

Liu, B., Wang, G., Gao, D., Gao, F., Zhao, B., Qiao, M., Yang, H., Yu, Y., Ren, F., Yang, P., Chen, W., & Rae, C. D. (2015). Alterations of GABA and glutamate-glutamine levels in premenstrual dysphoric disorder: A 3T proton magnetic resonance spectroscopy study. *Psychiatry Research - Neuroimaging*, 231(1), 64–70.

https://doi.org/10.1016/J.PSCYCHRESNS.2014.10.020

- Lombardi, F., Herrmann, H. J., & de Arcangelis, L. (2017). Balance of excitation and inhibition determines 1/f power spectrum in neuronal networks. *Chaos: An Interdisciplinary Journal of Nonlinear Science*, *27*(4), 047402. https://doi.org/10.1063/1.4979043
- Lozano-Soldevilla, D. (2018). On the physiological modulation and potential mechanisms underlying parieto-occipital alpha oscillations. *Frontiers in Computational Neuroscience*, *12*, 23. https://doi.org/10.3389/FNCOM.2018.00023/BIBTEX
- Lozano-Soldevilla, D., Ter Huurne, N., Cools, R., & Jensen, O. (2014). GABAergic modulation of visual gamma and alpha oscillations and its consequences for working memory performance. *Current Biology*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2014.10.017
- Lunghi, C., Emir, U. E., Morrone, M. C., & Bridge, H. (2015). Short-Term monocular deprivation alters GABA in the adult human visual cortex. *Current Biology*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2015.04.021
- Maffei, A., Nelson, S. B., & Turrigiano, G. G. (2004). Selective reconfiguration of layer 4 visual cortical circuitry by visual deprivation. *Nature Neuroscience 2004 7:12*, 7(12), 1353–1359. https://doi.org/10.1038/nn1351
- Magrou, L., Barone, P., Markov, N. T., Killackey, H. P., Giroud, P., Berland, M., Knoblauch, K., Dehay, C., & Kennedy, H. (2018). How areal specification shapes the local and interareal

circuits in a macaque model of congenital blindness. *Cerebral Cortex, 28*(8), 3017–3034. https://doi.org/10.1093/CERCOR/BHY125

- Manning, J. R., Jacobs, J., Fried, I., & Kahana, M. J. (2009). Broadband shifts in local field potential power spectra are correlated with single-neuron spiking in humans. *The Journal of Neuroscience : The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, *29*(43), 13613–13620. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2041-09.2009
- Maurer, D., & Hensch, T. K. (2012). Amblyopia: Background to the special issue on stroke recovery. *Developmental Psychobiology*, *54*(3), 224–238.

https://doi.org/10.1002/dev.21022

Maurer, D., & Lewis, T. L. (2017). Visual Systems. In *The Neurobiology of Brain and Behavioral Development*. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-804036-2.00008-X

McKyton, A., Ben-Zion, I., Doron, R., & Zohary, E. (2015). The limits of shape recognition following late emergence from blindness. *Current Biology*.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2015.06.040

Medel, V., Irani, M., Ossandón, T., & Boncompte, G. (2020). Complexity and 1/f slope jointly reflect cortical states across different E/I balances. *bioRxiv*, 2020.09.15.298497. https://doi.org/10.1101/2020.09.15.298497

Mescher, M., Merkle, H., Kirsch, J., Garwood, M., & Gruetter, R. (1998). Simultaneous in vivo spectral editing and water suppression. https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1099-1492(199810)11:6

Mikkelsen, M., Loo, R. S., Puts, N. A. J., Edden, R. A. E., & Harris, A. D. (2018). Designing GABAedited Magnetic Resonance Spectroscopy studies: Considerations of scan duration,

Signal-To-Noise ratio and sample size. *Journal of Neuroscience Methods*, 303, 86. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JNEUMETH.2018.02.012

- Miller, K. J. (2010). Broadband spectral change: Evidence for a macroscale correlate of population firing rate? *Journal of Neuroscience*, *30*(19), 6477–6479.
 https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.6401-09.2010
- Morales, B., Choi, S. Y., & Kirkwood, A. (2002). Dark rearing alters the development of GABAergic transmission in visual cortex. *Journal of Neuroscience*, *22*(18), 8084–8090. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.22-18-08084.2002
- Mower, G. D., Caplan, C. J., Christen, W. G., & Duffy, F. H. (1985). Dark rearing prolongs physiological but not anatomical plasticity of the cat visual cortex. *The Journal of Comparative Neurology*, *235*(4), 448–466. https://doi.org/10.1002/CNE.902350404
- Mullins, P. G., McGonigle, D. J., O'Gorman, R. L., Puts, N. A. J., Vidyasagar, R., Evans, C. J.,
 Edden, R. A. E., Brookes, M. J., Garcia, A., Foerster, B. R., Petrou, M., Price, D., Solanky,
 B. S., Violante, I. R., Williams, S., & Wilson, M. (2014). Current practice in the use of
 MEGA-PRESS spectroscopy for the detection of GABA. In *NeuroImage*.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2012.12.004
- Mullins, P. G., Rowland, L., Bustillo, J., Bedrick, E. J., Lauriello, J., & Brooks, W. M. (2003). Reproducibility of 1H-MRS measurements in schizophrenic patients. *Magnetic Resonance in Medicine*, *50*(4), 704–707. https://doi.org/10.1002/MRM.10598
- Musall, S., Von Pföstl, V., Rauch, A., Logothetis, N. K., & Whittingstall, K. (2014). Effects of neural synchrony on surface EEG. *Cerebral Cortex*, 24(4), 1045–1053. https://doi.org/10.1093/CERCOR/BHS389

Muthukumaraswamy, S. D., & Liley, D. T. (2018). 1/F electrophysiological spectra in resting and drug-induced states can be explained by the dynamics of multiple oscillatory relaxation processes. *NeuroImage*, *179*(November 2017), 582–595. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2018.06.068

Nanda, A., Johnson, G. W., Mu, Y., Ahrens, M. B., Chang, C., Englot, D. J., Breakspear, M., & Rubinov, M. (2023). Time-resolved correlation of distributed brain activity tracks E-I balance and accounts for diverse scale-free phenomena. *Cell Reports*, *42*(4), 112254. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CELREP.2023.112254

Natu, V. S., Gomez, J., Barnett, M., Jeska, B., Kirilina, E., Jaeger, C., Zhen, Z., Cox, S., Weiner, K.
 S., Weiskopf, N., & Grill-Spector, K. (2019). Apparent thinning of human visual cortex during childhood is associated with myelination. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, *116*(41), 20750–20759.
 https://doi.org/10.1073/PNAS.1904931116/SUPPL FILE/PNAS.1904931116.SAPP.PDF

Ossandón, J. P., Stange, L., Gudi-Mindermann, H., Rimmele, J. M., Sourav, S., Bottari, D., Kekunnaya, R., & Röder, B. (2023). The development of oscillatory and aperiodic resting state activity is linked to a sensitive period in humans. *NeuroImage*, *275*, 120171. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.NEUROIMAGE.2023.120171

Pant, R., Ossandón, J., Stange, L., Shareef, I., Kekunnaya, R., & Röder, B. (2023). Stimulusevoked and resting-state alpha oscillations show a linked dependence on patterned visual experience for development. *NeuroImage: Clinical*, 103375. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.NICL.2023.103375 Paslakis, G., Träber, F., Roberz, J., Block, W., & Jessen, F. (2014). N-acetyl-aspartate (NAA) as a correlate of pharmacological treatment in psychiatric disorders: A systematic review.
 European Neuropsychopharmacology, 24(10), 1659–1675.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/J.EURONEURO.2014.06.004

Pedersini, C. A., Miller, N. P., Gandhi, T. K., Gilad-Gutnick, S., Mahajan, V., Sinha, P., & Rokers, B.
 (2023). White matter plasticity following cataract surgery in congenitally blind patients.
 Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, *120*(19), e2207025120.
 https://doi.org/10.1073/PNAS.2207025120

- Penny, W., Friston, K., Ashburner, J., Kiebel, S., & Nichols, T. (2007). Statistical Parametric Mapping: The analysis of functional brain images. *Statistical Parametric Mapping: The Analysis of Functional Brain Images*.
- Pitchaimuthu, K., Dormal, G., Sourav, S., Shareef, I., Rajendran, S. S., Ossandón, J. P.,
 Kekunnaya, R., & Röder, B. (2021). Steady state evoked potentials indicate changes in
 nonlinear neural mechanisms of vision in sight recovery individuals. *Cortex*, 144, 15–28.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CORTEX.2021.08.001
- Plöchl, M., Ossandón, J. P., & König, P. (2012). Combining EEG and eye tracking: Identification, characterization, and correction of eye movement artifacts in electroencephalographic data. *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience*, 6(OCTOBER 2012), 1–23.
 https://doi.org/10.3389/fnhum.2012.00278
- Putzar, L., Hötting, K., & Röder, B. (2010). Early visual deprivation affects the development of face recognition and of audio-visual speech perception. *Restorative Neurology and Neuroscience*. https://doi.org/10.3233/RNN-2010-0526

Putzar, L., Hötting, K., Rösler, F., & Röder, B. (2007). The development of visual feature binding processes after visual deprivation in early infancy. *Vision Research*.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.visres.2007.07.002

- Raczy, K., Holig, C., Guerreiro, M. J. S., Lingareddy, S., Kekunnaya, R., & Roder, B. (2022). Typical resting-state activity of the brain requires visual input during an early sensitive period.
 Brain Communications, 4(4). https://doi.org/10.1093/BRAINCOMMS/FCAC146
- Rajendran, S. S., Bottari, D., Shareef, I., Pitchaimuthu, K., Sourav, S., Troje, N. F., Kekunnaya, R.,
 & Röder, B. (2020). Biological action identification does not require early visual input for development. *eNeuro*, 7(5).
- Röder, B., & Kekunnaya, R. (2021). Visual experience dependent plasticity in humans. In *Current Opinion in Neurobiology* (Vol. 67, pp. 155–162). Elsevier Ltd. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.conb.2020.11.011
- Röder, B., & Kekunnaya, R. (2022). Effects of early visual deprivation. *Oxford Research Encyclopedia of Psychology*.

https://doi.org/10.1093/ACREFORE/9780190236557.013.839

Röder, B., Kekunnaya, R., & Guerreiro, M. J. S. (2021). Neural mechanisms of visual sensitive periods in humans. *Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews*, *120*, 86–99.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/J.NEUBIOREV.2020.10.030

Röder, B., Ley, P., Shenoy, B. H., Kekunnaya, R., & Bottari, D. (2013). Sensitive periods for the functional specialization of the neural system for human face processing. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*.
 https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1309963110

- Schaworonkow, N., & Voytek, B. (2021). Longitudinal changes in aperiodic and periodic activity in electrophysiological recordings in the first seven months of life. *Developmental Cognitive Neuroscience*, 47. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dcn.2020.100895
- Segalowitz, S. J., Sternin, A., Lewis, T. L., Dywan, J., & Maurer, D. (2017). Electrophysiological evidence of altered visual processing in adults who experienced visual deprivation during infancy. *Developmental Psychobiology*. https://doi.org/10.1002/dev.21502
- Shibata, K., Sasaki, Y., Bang, J. W., Walsh, E. G., Machizawa, M. G., Tamaki, M., Chang, L. H., &
 Watanabe, T. (2017). Overlearning hyperstabilizes a skill by rapidly making
 neurochemical processing inhibitory-dominant. *Nature Neuroscience 2017 20:3*, 20(3),
 470–475. https://doi.org/10.1038/nn.4490
- Simpson, R., Devenyi, G. A., Jezzard, P., Hennessy, T. J., & Near, J. (2017). Advanced processing and simulation of MRS data using the FID appliance (FID-A)—An open source, MATLABbased toolkit. *Magnetic Resonance in Medicine*, *77*(1), 23–33.

https://doi.org/10.1002/MRM.26091

- Singh, A. K., Phillips, F., Merabet, L. B., & Sinha, P. (2018). Why does the cortex reorganize after sensory loss? In *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tics.2018.04.004
- Sompolinsky, H., Yoon, H., Kang, K., & Shamir, M. (2001). Population coding in neuronal systems with correlated noise. *Physical Review E, 64*(5), 051904. https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevE.64.051904
- Sourav, S., Bottari, D., Kekunnaya, R., & Röder, B. (2018). Evidence of a retinotopic organization of early visual cortex but impaired extrastriate processing in sight recovery individuals. *Journal of Vision*. https://doi.org/10.1167/18.3.22

Sourav, S., Bottari, D., Shareef, I., Kekunnaya, R., & Röder, B. (2020). An electrophysiological biomarker for the classification of cataract-reversal patients: A case-control study. *EClinicalMedicine*, *27*. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ECLINM.2020.100559

- Steel, A., Mikkelsen, M., Edden, R. A. E., & Robertson, C. E. (2020). Regional balance between glutamate+glutamine and GABA+ in the resting human brain. *NeuroImage*, *220*. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.NEUROIMAGE.2020.117112
- Takado, Y., Takuwa, H., Sampei, K., Urushihata, T., Takahashi, M., Shimojo, M., Uchida, S., Nitta, N., Shibata, S., Nagashima, K., Ochi, Y., Ono, M., Maeda, J., Tomita, Y., Sahara, N., Near, J., Aoki, I., Shibata, K., & Higuchi, M. (2022). MRS-measured glutamate versus GABA reflects excitatory versus inhibitory neural activities in awake mice. *Journal of Cerebral Blood Flow & Metabolism*, *42*(1), 197. https://doi.org/10.1177/0271678X211045449
- Takei, Y., Fujihara, K., Tagawa, M., Hironaga, N., Near, J., Kasagi, M., Takahashi, Y., Motegi, T.,
 Suzuki, Y., Aoyama, Y., Sakurai, N., Yamaguchi, M., Tobimatsu, S., Ujita, K., Tsushima, Y.,
 Narita, K., & Fukuda, M. (2016). The inhibition/excitation ratio related to task-induced
 oscillatory modulations during a working memory task: A multtimodal-imaging study
 using MEG and MRS. *NeuroImage*, *128*, 302–315.

https://doi.org/10.1016/J.NEUROIMAGE.2015.12.057

- Takesian, A. E., & Hensch, T. K. (2013). Balancing plasticity/stability across brain development. In *Progress in Brain Research*. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-444-63327-9.00001-1
- Tao, H. W., & Poo, M. M. (2005). Activity-dependent matching of excitatory and inhibitory inputs during refinement of visual receptive fields. *Neuron*, 45(6), 829–836. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.NEURON.2005.01.046

- Toyoizumi, T., Miyamoto, H., Yazaki-Sugiyama, Y., Atapour, N., Hensch, T. K., & Miller, K. D. (2013). A theory of the transition to critical period plasticity: Inhibition selectively suppresses spontaneous activity. *Neuron*, *80*(1), 51–63. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.NEURON.2013.07.022
- Träber, F., Block, W., Freymann, N., Gür, O., Kucinski, T., Hammen, T., Ende, G., Pilatus, U., Hampel, H., Schild, H. H., Heun, R., & Jessen, F. (2006). A multicenter reproducibility study of single-voxel 1H-MRS of the medial temporal lobe. *European Radiology*, *16*(5), 1096–1103. https://doi.org/10.1007/S00330-005-0108-Y/TABLES/3
- Trägenap, S., Whitney, D. E., Fitzpatrick, D., & Kaschube, M. (2023). The nature-nurture transform underlying the emergence of reliable cortical representations. *bioRxiv*, 2022.11.14.516507. https://doi.org/10.1101/2022.11.14.516507
- Turrigiano, G. G., & Nelson, S. B. (2004). Homeostatic plasticity in the developing nervous system. *Nature Reviews. Neuroscience*, *5*(2), 97–107. https://doi.org/10.1038/NRN1327
- Tytla, M. E., Lewis, T. L., Maurer, D., & Brent, H. P. (1993). Stereopsis after congenital cataract. Investigative Ophthalmology and Visual Science.
- Van Kerkoerle, T., Self, M. W., Dagnino, B., Gariel-Mathis, M. A., Poort, J., Van Der Togt, C., & Roelfsema, P. R. (2014). Alpha and gamma oscillations characterize feedback and feedforward processing in monkey visual cortex. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, *111*(40), 14332–14341. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1402773111

Van Vreeswijk, C., & Sompolinsky, H. (1996). Chaos in neuronal networks with balanced excitatory and inhibitory activity. *Science*, 274(5293), 1724–1726. https://doi.org/10.1126/SCIENCE.274.5293.1724

Vinje, W. E., & Gallant, J. L. (2000). Sparse coding and decorrelation in primary visual cortex during natural vision. *Science*, *287*(5456), 1273–1276.
https://doi.org/10.1126/SCIENCE.287.5456.1273/ASSET/EEAED050-142C-4A76-A242-62162F400944/ASSETS/GRAPHIC/SE0508266004.JPEG

- Voytek, B., Kramer, M. A., Case, J., Lepage, K. Q., Tempesta, Z. R., Knight, R. T., & Gazzaley, A. (2015). Age-related changes in 1/f neural electrophysiological noise. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 35(38). https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2332-14.2015
- Weaver, K. E., Richards, T. L., Saenz, M., Petropoulos, H., & Fine, I. (2013). Neurochemical changes within human early blind occipital cortex. *Neuroscience*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroscience.2013.08.004
- Whitt, J. L., Petrus, E., & Lee, H. K. (2013). Experience-dependent homeostatic synaptic plasticity in neocortex. *Neuropharmacology*, 78(C), 45–54. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.NEUROPHARM.2013.02.016

Wilson, M., Andronesi, O., Barker, P. B., Bartha, R., Bizzi, A., Bolan, P. J., Brindle, K. M., Choi, I.
Y., Cudalbu, C., Dydak, U., Emir, U. E., Gonzalez, R. G., Gruber, S., Gruetter, R., Gupta, R.
K., Heerschap, A., Henning, A., Hetherington, H. P., Huppi, P. S., ... Howe, F. A. (2019).
Methodological consensus on clinical proton MRS of the brain: Review and
recommendations. *Magnetic Resonance in Medicine*, *82*(2), 527–550.
https://doi.org/10.1002/MRM.27742

- Wilson, M., Reynolds, G., Kauppinen, R. A., Arvanitis, T. N., & Peet, A. C. (2011). A constrained least-squares approach to the automated quantitation of in vivo 1H magnetic resonance spectroscopy data. *Magnetic Resonance in Medicine : Official Journal of the Society of Magnetic Resonance in Medicine / Society of Magnetic Resonance in Medicine*. https://doi.org/10.1002/mrm.22579
- Winawer, J., Kay, K. N., Foster, B. L., Rauschecker, A. M., Parvizi, J., & Wandell, B. A. (2013).
 Asynchronous broadband signals are the principal source of the BOLD response in human visual cortex. *Current Biology : CB*, *23*(13), 1145–1153.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CUB.2013.05.001
- Wong-Riley, M. T. T. (2021). The critical period: Neurochemical and synaptic mechanisms shared by the visual cortex and the brain stem respiratory system. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B*, *288*(1958). https://doi.org/10.1098/RSPB.2021.1025
- Wu, Y. K., Miehl, C., & Gjorgjieva, J. (2022). Regulation of circuit organization and function through inhibitory synaptic plasticity. *Trends in Neurosciences*, 45(12), 884–898.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/J.TINS.2022.10.006
- Yusuf, P. A., Lamuri, A., Hubka, P., Tillein, J., Vinck, M., & Kral, A. (2022). Deficient recurrent cortical processing in congenital deafness. *Frontiers in Systems Neuroscience*, 16(February). https://doi.org/10.3389/fnsys.2022.806142
- Zhang, H., Mu, L., Wang, D., Xia, D., Salmon, A., Liu, Q., & Wong-Riley, M. T. T. (2018). Uncovering a critical period of synaptic imbalance during postnatal development of the rat visual cortex: Role of brain-derived neurotrophic factor. *The Journal of Physiology*, *596*(18), 4511–4536. https://doi.org/10.1113/JP275814

- Zhang, L., Huang, C. C., Dai, Y., Luo, Q., Ji, Y., Wang, K., Deng, S., Yu, J., Xu, M., Du, X., Tang, Y., Shen, C., Feng, J., Sahakian, B. J., Lin, C. P., & Li, F. (2020). Symptom improvement in children with autism spectrum disorder following bumetanide administration is associated with decreased GABA/glutamate ratios. *Translational Psychiatry 2020 10:1*, *10*(1), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41398-020-0692-2
- Zöllner, H. J., Oeltzschner, G., Schnitzler, A., & Wittsack, H. J. (2021). In silico GABA+ MEGA-PRESS: Effects of signal-to-noise ratio and linewidth on modeling the 3 ppm GABA+ resonance. *NMR in Biomedicine*, *34*(1), e4410. https://doi.org/10.1002/NBM.4410

Supplementary Material

S1. Magnetic Resonance Spectroscopy OFF-Spectra



a. Visual Cortex

Figure S1: **OFF spectra obtained from Magnetic Resonance Spectroscopy (MRS).** *a.* Average spectra showing NAA peaks in the visual cortices of normally sighted individuals (SC, green) and individuals with reversed congenital cataracts (CC, red) are shown. Spectra are displayed for the eyes open (EO) and eyes closed (EC) conditions. The standard error of the mean is shaded. NAA concentration distributions for each group and condition are demonstrated as violin plots on the right. The solid black lines indicate median values. The coloured lines connect values of individual

participants across conditions. b. Corresponding average MRS spectra and NAA concentration distributions measured from the frontal cortex are displayed.



S2. Tissue Fractions

Figure S2: Tissue fractions for Magnetic Resonance Spectroscopy (MRS) voxels. The fractions of white matter (yellow), grey matter (grey) and cerebrospinal fluid (blue) are displayed for the eyes open (EO), and eyes closed (EC) conditions in the congenital cataract-reversal group (CC) and the normally sighted control group (SC). Tissue fractions were separately calculated for the visual (left) and frontal (right) cortex voxels.

S3. MRS Data Quality Metrics

Signal-to-Noise Ratio					
		CC	SC		
Visual Cortex	GABA+	21.53 (3.66)	19.08 (3.99)		
	Glx	23.75 (3.75)	22.18 (5.26)		
Frontal Cortex	GABA+	10.311 (2.20)	8.30 (1.93)		
	Glx	15.82 (4.85)	13.58 (3.86)		
Full-Width-Half Maxima					
		СС	SC		
Visual Cortex	GABA+	19.84 (1.13)	19.10 (0.71)		

	Glx	16.62 (1.63)	16.46 (1.63)	
Frontal Cortex	GABA+	21.69 (3.15)	23.23 (3.41)	
	Glx	27.54 (8.70)	30.63 (12.64)	
Fit Error				
		CC	SC	
Visual Cortex	GABA+	3.42 (0.63)	3.68 (0.63)	
	Glx	3.10 (0.58)	3.18 (0.47)	
Frontal Cortex	GABA+	6.57 (2.20)	8.31 (3.65)	
	Glx	4.44 (1.54)	5.15 (1.90)	

Table S3: Quality metrics for edited Magnetic Resonance Spectroscopy data obtained from Gannet 3.0.

The mean quality metric reported across participants with the standard deviation in parentheses. The displayed quality metrics are those output from Gannet 3.0: Signal-to-noise-ratio (SNR), calculated in GannetFit.m by estimating the noise in the GABA+/Glx signal across acquisitions and dividing the absolute peak height of the GABA+/Glx signal by the estimated noise; Full-width-half-maxima (FWHM), defined as the width of the GABA+ peak in Hertz (Hz); and Fit Error, defined as the standard deviation of the residual of the GABA+/Glx peak fit, expressed as a percentage of the GABA+/Glx peak height.

S4. Phantom Testing

Phantom testing was conducted to confirm the quality of the MRS data and analysis pipeline. GABA concentration was varied from 0 to 2mM in a 1L, 7.2 pH phantom with fixed metabolite concentrations of Cr (8 mM), NAA (15 mM), Glutamate (12 mM) and Glutamine (3 mM) (Jenkins et al., 2019). Phosphate Buffer Saline (PBS) was used to maintain the pH at room temperature. The base solution of several metabolites was included to gauge the quality of the overall signal as well as ensuring the similarity of the phantom to metabolites present in-vivo (Jenkins et al., 2019). The range of used GABA concentrations included the previously reported GABA concentration in the visual cortex of congenitally blind individuals (Weaver et al., 2013).



Figure S4: Phantom testing of GABA concentrations. Plots depicting the correlation between known and measured concentrations from phantom scans of (left) Gamma-Aminobutyric Acid (GABA) and (right) ratio of GABA to Glutamate/Glutamine (Glx) concentration. In the left panel, previously reported GABA concentration from the visual cortex of congenitally blind individuals (Weaver et al., 2013) is marked with a vertical dotted line.

Eleven phantom scans were obtained varying the known concentration of GABA in steps of 0.2 mM (corresponding to 0.0206 g) (Figure S4), the reported difference in visual cortex GABA concentration between early blind (mean = 0.3 mM) and normally sighted (mean = 0.5 mM) individuals' visual cortex (Weaver et al., 2013). Note that the authors reported that this group difference did not survive the Bonferroni-Holm correction. Nevertheless, to the best of our knowledge, no other study has reported significant GABA concentration differences between permanently congenitally blind humans and sighted controls based on MRS assessments in humans.

For both GABA+ and the concentration ratio of GABA+/Glx (calculated instead of Glx/GABA+ due to the 0-GABA concentration solution), our measured values showed significant agreement with the known phantom concentration values (Figure S4). These results demonstrate that our data acquisition and analysis pipeline were adequate to identify differences between CC and SC individuals' visual cortices within previously reported concentration ranges.

S5. Metabolite ratios

As a test of stability of within-participant MRS measurements, the visual cortex Glx/GABA+ ratio as well NAA/Cr, Cho/NAA and Cho/Cr ratios were compared within the same subjects tested at different time-points. Six normally sighted participants were scanned 2-4 weeks apart. The concentration ratios from the first and second scan were compared with t-tests were separately for the eyes closed (EC) and eyes open (EO) conditions (Figure S4). We did not find a significant difference in any of the four tested ratios across individuals (all p's > 0.271, all t's < 1.23).



Figure S5: Within-subject metabolite ratio stability. From left to right, violin plots depict the ratio of Glutamate/Glutamine (Glx) to Gamma-Aminobutyric acid complex (GABA+), N-Acetyl Aspartate (NAA) to Creatine (Cr), Choline (Cho) to NAA and Cho to Cr across two scans with the eyes opened (EO) and eyes closed (EC). Scans were conducted 2-4 weeks apart. Line segments indicate individual subjects across scans.

S6. Exploratory correlation analysis between Magnetic Resonance Spectroscopy measures and visual deprivation history



Figure S6.1. Effect of visual deprivation history on GABA+ concentration: Correlations between visual cortex GABA concentration and (left to right) chronological age of the congenital cataract-reversal (CC, red) and normally sighted individuals (SC, blue), and duration of visual deprivation, time since surgery and visual acuity in the CC individuals, are depicted. Correlations were separately calculated for the eyes open (EO, top row) and eyes closed (EC, bottom row) conditions.



Figure S6.2. Effect of visual deprivation history on Glx concentration: Correlations between visual cortex Glutamate/Glutamine (Glx) concentration and (left to right) age in the congenital cataract-reversal (CC, red) and normally sighted control (SC, blue) groups, and duration of visual deprivation, time since surgery and visual acuity in the CC group, are depicted. Correlations were separately calculated for the eyes open (EO, top row) and eyes closed (EC, bottom row) conditions.



Figure S6.3. Effect of visual deprivation history on Glx/GABA concentration: Correlations between visual cortex Glx/GABA concentration and (left to right) age in the congenital cataract-reversal (CC, red) and normally sighted control (SC, blue) groups, and duration of visual deprivation, time since surgery and visual acuity in the CC group, are depicted. Correlations were separately calculated for the eyes open (EO, top row) and eyes closed (EC, bottom row) conditions.

S7. Exploratory correlation analysis between the aperiodic slope and intercept of the EEG power spectrum and visual deprivation history


Figure S7.1: Effect of visual deprivation history on aperiodic intercept: Correlations between aperiodic intercept and (left to right) age in the congenital cataract-reversal (CC, red) and normally sighted control (SC, blue) groups, and duration of visual deprivation, time since surgery and visual acuity in the CC group, are depicted. Correlations were separately calculated for the aperiodic intercept while participants viewed stimuli that changed in luminance (LU, top row) and the eyes open (EO, middle row) and eyes closed (EC, bottom row) conditions.





S8. Exploratory correlation analysis between Electroencephalography and Magnetic Resonance Spectroscopy measures

We tested the correlations between Glx, GABA+ and Glx/GABA+ measured at rest, and EEG aperiodic broadband intercept as well as slope in CC and SC individuals, measured at rest and while participants observed a flickering visual stimulus. Below, we report the exploratory correlations prior to Bonferroni correction for 6 comparisons (Figures S7.1 - S7.5). Note that the correlation found between





Figure S8.1: Correlation between aperiodic slope and Glx/GABA+ concentration. Correlations between the aperiodic slope and visual cortex Glx/GABA+ concentration measured at rest with eyes closed (EC) (left panels) and eyes open (EO) (middle panels), and the correlation between aperiodic slope measured while subjects viewed flickering stimuli (LU) and visual cortex Glx/GABA+ concentration measured in the EO condition (right panels), are depicted. Correlations were calculated separately for normally sighted control (SC, blue, top row) and congenital cataract-reversal (CC, red, bottom row) individuals.



Figure S8.2: Correlation between aperiodic intercept and Glx/GABA+ concentration. Correlations between the aperiodic intercept and visual cortex Glx/GABA+ concentration measured at rest with eyes closed (EC) (left panels) and eyes open (EO) (middle panels), and the correlation between aperiodic intercept measured while subjects viewed flickering stimuli (LU) and visual cortex Glx/GABA+ concentration measured in the EO condition (right panels), are depicted. Correlations were calculated separately for normally sighted control (SC, blue, top row) and congenital cataract-reversal (CC, red, bottom row) individuals.



Figure S8.3: Correlation between aperiodic slope and GABA+ concentration. Correlations between the aperiodic slope and visual cortex GABA+ concentration measured at rest with eyes closed (EC) (left panels) and eyes open (EO) (middle panels), and the correlation between aperiodic slope measured while subjects viewed flickering stimuli (LU) and visual cortex GABA+ concentration measured in the EO condition (right panels), are depicted. Correlations were calculated separately for normally sighted control (SC, blue, top row) and congenital cataract-reversal (CC, red, bottom row) individuals.



Figure S8.4: Correlation between aperiodic intercept and GABA+ concentration. Correlations between the aperiodic intercept and visual cortex GABA+ concentration measured at rest with eyes closed (EC) (left panels) and eyes open (EO) (middle panels), and the correlation between aperiodic intercept measured while subjects viewed flickering stimuli (LU) and visual cortex GABA+ concentration measured in the EO condition (right panels), are depicted. Correlations were calculated separately for normally sighted control (SC, blue, top row) and congenital cataract-reversal (CC, red, bottom row) individuals.



Figure S8.5: Correlation between aperiodic slope and Glx concentration. Correlations between the aperiodic slope and visual cortex Glx concentration measured at rest with eyes closed (EC) (left panels) and eyes open (EO) (middle panels), and the correlation between aperiodic slope measured while subjects viewed flickering stimuli (LU) and visual cortex Glx concentration measured in the EO condition (right panels), are depicted. Correlations were calculated separately for normally sighted control (SC, blue, top row) and congenital cataract-reversal (CC, red, bottom row) individuals.



S9: Correlation analysis between aperiodic slope and intercept

Figure S9: Correlations between aperiodic slope and aperiodic intercept. Correlation between aperiodic slope and aperiodic intercept measured at rest with eyes closed (EC, left panel), eyes open (EO, middle slope and aperiodic intercept measured at rest with eyes closed (EC, left panel), eyes open (EO, middle slope and aperiodic slope and ap

panel), and while participants viewed flickering stimuli (LU, right panel). Correlations are shown across normally sighted control (SC, blue) and congenital cataract-reversal (CC, red) individuals.

S10. Individual subjects' MRS edited spectra (Visual Cortex)







Figure S10: Edited spectra of participants showing GABA+ and Glx peaks. Individual participants' edited spectra and the respective model fits for congenital cataract-reversal (CC, left) and normally sighted control (SC, right) individuals. Spectra are shown as output by GannetFit.m for the eyes closed and eyes open conditions for each subject.

S11. Exploratory correlation analysis between high frequency (20-40 Hz) aperiodic slope and Glutamate/Glutamine (Glx) concentrations

Given the surprisingly high correlation we observed between Glutamate/Glutamine (Glx) concentration in the visual cortex and the EEG aperiodic intercept in the 1-20 Hz range, we exploratorily tested the correlation between Glx and the aperiodic slope and intercept in the 20-40 Hz range. These data were available for the eyes open (EO) and eyes closed (EC) resting state conditions for every participant. Correlations were not calculated for the flickering stimulation (LU) condition as stimulation frequencies ranged from 1-30 Hz. Congenital cataract-reversal (CC) individuals showed a similarly high correlation between Glx concentration and the 20-40 Hz aperiodic intercept (r= 0.77, p = 0.009) as with the 1-20 Hz aperiodic intercept while watching ambient visual stimulation at rest (Figure 5). No such correlation was found while CC individuals' eyes were closed or in the normally sighted control (SC) group (Figure S10.1, S10.2). The relationship between Glx and aperiodic slope was in the same direction for the 1-20 Hz and 20-40 Hz slope values across CC individuals (Figure S7.5). Glx concentration was inversely correlated with the steepness of slope (r = -0.74, p = 0.0149), that is, the higher the Glx concentration, the steeper was the slope of the aperiodic component. This correlation of the steepness of the aperiodic slope with higher Glx concentration in CC individuals was the same as in the lower (1-20 Hz) frequency range (see S7.5). Note that this correlation is reported exploratorily and has not been corrected for multiple comparisons. No such correlations were found between the aperiodic slope or intercept and GABA+ or Glx/GABA+ concentrations.



Figure S11.1: Correlation between aperiodic intercept (20-40 Hz) and Glx concentration. Correlations between the aperiodic intercept (20-40 Hz) and visual cortex Glx concentration measured at rest with eyes closed (EC) (left panels) and eyes open (EO) (right panels) are depicted. Correlations were calculated separately for normally sighted control (SC, blue, top row) and congenital cataract-reversal (CC, red, bottom row) individuals.



Figure S11.2: Correlation between aperiodic (20-40 Hz) slope and Glx concentration. Correlations between the higher (20-40 Hz) aperiodic slope and visual cortex Glx concentration measured at rest with eyes closed (EC) (left panels) and eyes open (EO) (right panels) are depicted. Correlations were calculated separately for normally sighted control (SC, blue, top row) and congenital cataract-reversal (CC, red, bottom row) individuals.

S12. Exploratory correlation between alpha power and neurotransmitter concentration

Previous literature has repeatedly suggested that a transient period of congenital visual deprivation permanently lowers the amplitude of EEG alpha activity at occipital electrodes (Bottari et al., 2016; Ossandón et al., 2023; Pant et al., 2023). Additionally, one study applied lorazepam, a GABA agonist, and reported that the alpha amplitude was related to GABAergic transmission (Lozano-Soldevilla et al., 2014). We exploratorily assessed the correlation between alpha power and neurotransmitter concentrations to test whether they might be related to lowered alpha power during eyes opening (EO) or closure (EC) at rest, or while viewing flickering stimuli (LU). In the CC group but not in normally sighted control (SC) individuals, Glx concentration in the visual cortex was significantly correlated with alpha power while participants viewed flickering stimuli (LU condition: r = 0.71, p = 0.023); a trending correlation of Glx concentration and alpha power in the EO condition was additionally observed (r=0.62, p=0.052; Figure S11.2). Correspondingly, a trending correlation was found between CC but not SC individuals' alpha amplitude and GABA+ concentration while their eyes were closed (r = 0.63, p = 0.0503) (Figure S11.1). No correlations between Glx/GABA+ ratios and alpha amplitude were found in either group (Figure S11.3). Note that these correlations are exploratorily reported here without correction for multiple comparisons.



Figure S12.1: Correlation between alpha amplitude (8-14 Hz) and GABA+ concentration. Correlations between the alpha amplitude and visual cortex GABA+ concentration measured at rest with eyes closed (EC) (left panels) and eyes open (EO) (middle panels), and the correlation between alpha amplitude measured while subjects viewed flickering stimuli (LU) and visual cortex GABA+ concentration measured in the EO condition (right panels), are depicted. Correlations were calculated separately for normally sighted control (SC, blue, top row) and congenital cataract-reversal (CC, red, bottom row) individuals.







Figure S12.3: Correlation between alpha amplitude (8-14 Hz) and Glx/GABA+ concentration. Correlations between the alpha amplitude and visual cortex Glx/GABA+ concentration measured at rest with eyes closed (EC) (left panels) and eyes open (EO) (middle panels), and the correlation between alpha amplitude measured while subjects viewed flickering stimuli (LU) and visual cortex Glx/GABA+ concentration measured in the EO condition (right panels), are depicted. Correlations were calculated separately for sighted control (SC, blue, top row) and congenital cataract-reversal (CC, red, bottom row) individuals.

References

- Bottari, D., Troje, N. F., Ley, P., Hense, M., Kekunnaya, R., & Röder, B. (2016). Sight restoration after congenital blindness does not reinstate alpha oscillatory activity in humans. *Scientific Reports*. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep24683
- Jenkins, C., Chandler, M., Langbein, F. C., & Shermer, S. M. (2019). Seeking ground truth for GABA quantification by edited magnetic resonance spectroscopy: Comparative analysis of TARQUIN, LCModel, JMRUI and GANNET. In *arXiv*.

- Lozano-Soldevilla, D., Ter Huurne, N., Cools, R., & Jensen, O. (2014). GABAergic modulation of visual gamma and alpha oscillations and its consequences for working memory performance. *Current Biology*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2014.10.017
- Ossandón, J. P., Stange, L., Gudi-Mindermann, H., Rimmele, J. M., Sourav, S., Bottari, D., Kekunnaya, R., & Röder, B. (2023). The development of oscillatory and aperiodic resting state activity is linked to a sensitive period in humans. *NeuroImage*, *275*, 120171. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.NEUROIMAGE.2023.120171
- Pant, R., Ossandón, J., Stange, L., Shareef, I., Kekunnaya, R., & Röder, B. (2023). Stimulus-evoked and resting-state alpha oscillations show a linked dependence on patterned visual experience for development. *NeuroImage: Clinical*, 103375. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.NICL.2023.103375
- Weaver, K. E., Richards, T. L., Saenz, M., Petropoulos, H., & Fine, I. (2013). Neurochemical changes within human early blind occipital cortex. *Neuroscience*.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroscience.2013.08.004

Appendix II

Pant et al., (2023). Stimulus-evoked and resting-state alpha oscillations show a linked dependence on patterned visual experience for development. NeuroImage:Clinical, Vol. 38, 103375.

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

NeuroImage: Clinical

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/ynicl

Stimulus-evoked and resting-state alpha oscillations show a linked dependence on patterned visual experience for development

Rashi Pant^{a,*}, José Ossandón^a, Liesa Stange^a, Idris Shareef^{b,c}, Ramesh Kekunnaya^b, Brigitte Röder^a

^a Biological Psychology and Neuropsychology, University of Hamburg, Von-Melle-Park 11, 20146 Hamburg, Germany

^b Jasti V Ramanamma Children's Eye Care Center, Child Sight Institute, LV Prasad Eye Institute, 500034 Hyderabad, India

^c Department of Psychology, University of Nevada, 1664 N Virginia St, Reno, NV 89557, United States

ARTICLE INFO

Keywords: Sensitive period Sight recovery Alpha oscillations Visual cortex Impulse response function

ABSTRACT

Persistent visual impairments after congenital blindness due to dense bilateral cataracts have been attributed to altered visual cortex development within a sensitive period. Occipital alpha (8-14 Hz) oscillations were found to be reduced after congenital cataract reversal, while participants performed visual motion tasks. However, it has been unclear whether reduced alpha oscillations were task-specific, or linked to impaired visual behavior in cataract-reversed individuals. Here, we compared resting-state and stimulus-evoked alpha activity between individuals who had been treated for dense bilateral congenital cataracts (CC, n = 13, mean duration of blindness = 11.0 years) and age-matched, normally sighted individuals (SC, n = 13). We employed the visual impulse response function, adapted from VanRullen and MacDonald (2012), to test for the characteristic alpha response to visual white noise. Participants observed white noise stimuli changing in luminance with equal power at frequencies between 0 and 30 Hz. Compared to SC individuals, CC individuals demonstrated a reduced likelihood of exhibiting an evoked alpha response. Moreover, stimulus-evoked alpha power was reduced and correlated with a corresponding reduction of resting-state alpha power in the same CC individuals. Finally, CC individuals with an above-threshold evoked alpha peak had better visual acuity than CC individual without an evoked alpha peak. Since alpha oscillations have been linked to feedback communication, we suggest that the concurrent impairment in resting-state and stimulus-evoked alpha oscillations indicates an altered interaction of top-down and bottom-up processing in the visual hierarchy, which likely contributes to incomplete behavioral recovery in individuals who experienced transient congenital blindness.

1. Introduction

Dense bilateral congenital cataracts can cause complete patterned visual deprivation in humans (Birch et al., 2009). Delayed treatment results in increasingly severe visual impairment the later patients undergo surgery, which has been attributed to altered neural development instead of predominantly peripheral eye abnormalities (Maurer & Hensch, 2012; Röder & Kekunnaya, 2021). Based on invasive electrophysiological recordings in cochlear-implanted deaf cats (Yusuf et al., 2021, 2022), it was hypothesized that delayed sensory experience following birth particularly affects the elaboration of top-down processing (Röder & Kekunnaya, 2021), which is crucial for modulation of bottom-up signals. This hypothesis is consistent with feedback processing relying on corticocortical pathways, which showed a longer

developmental trajectory than feedforward pathways in the mammalian visual cortex (Burkhalter, 1993; Ibrahim et al., 2021; Batardière et al., 2002).

Consistent with impaired feedback processing in the absence of visual experience, electroencephalography (EEG) studies in individuals treated for congenital cataracts reported reduced alpha (8–14 Hz) oscillations during visual motion tasks (Bottari et al., 2016; Bottari et al., 2018). Multiple lines of evidence have linked alpha oscillations in the human EEG to feedback control of neural excitation in the visual cortex (Jensen & Mazaheri, 2010; Klimesch et al., 2007). Similar to findings from cataract-reversed individuals, permanently congenitally blind individuals also demonstrated lower alpha activity during non-visual tasks (Kriegseis et al., 2006) and at rest (Kriegseis et al., 2006; Novikova, 1974).

* Corresponding author at: Biological Psychology and Neuropsychology, Universität Hamburg, Von-Melle-Park 11, 20146 Hamburg, Room: 208, Germany. *E-mail address:* rashi.pant@uni-hamburg.de (R. Pant).

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nicl.2023.103375

Received 26 November 2022; Received in revised form 7 March 2023; Accepted 9 March 2023 Available online 13 March 2023 2213-1582/© 2023 The Authors. Published by Elsevier Inc. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/bync-nd/4.0/).







A special role of alpha oscillations in vision has been suggested by two widely-observed phenomena: first, the human EEG features prominent alpha oscillations at rest, which are enhanced with eye closure (Adrian & Matthews, 1934). Second, visual stimulation in the alpha range caused greater entrainment (Thut et al., 2011) of neural oscillations than at any other frequencies (Başar et al., 1997; Herrmann, 2001). Alpha oscillations were interpreted as the "natural frequency" at which an internal oscillator can be entrained by stimulation, resulting in an enhanced response (Notbohm et al., 2016; VanRullen, 2016). Preferred neural responses in the alpha range were further observed in the impulse response function of the visual system to unbiased visual white-noise (Childers & Perry, 1971; Lalor et al., 2007). VanRullen and MacDonald (2012) employed white-noise stimulation, which changed in luminance with equal power between 0 and 80 Hz. Occipital EEG responses were cross-correlated with the presented luminance values, revealing a peak in the alpha range of the cross-correlation spectrum. This phenomenon purportedly reflected an increased response of the visual system, typically oscillating at rest in the alpha range, to the alpha frequencies in the stimuli (Notbohm et al., 2016; Vanrullen & MacDonald, 2012). A correlation was observed between the amplitudes and frequencies of the resting-state and evoked alpha peaks, suggesting that both phenomena were linked. Based on such a relationship, and given the reduction of alpha oscillations in congenital blindness at rest (Novikova, 1974), we expected to find a reduction of both stimulus-evoked and resting-state alpha oscillations in cataract-reversed individuals.

Alternate accounts, however, interpreted evoked alpha oscillations as the linear addition of bottom-up activity from each stimulus, without reliance on resting-state alpha oscillations (Capilla et al., 2011; Keitel et al., 2019). Under this account, alpha reduction in cataract-reversed individuals might be specifically linked to visual processing, possibly as a consequence of impaired extrastriate processing (Sourav et al., 2018).

We adapted the EEG paradigm from VanRullen and MacDonald (2012) to elicit stimulus-evoked oscillations and unbiasedly determine the response properties of the visual cortex in sight-recovery individuals who underwent transient congenital blindness. Further, resting-state EEG was recorded with both eyes opened and eyes closed. Thirteen cataract-reversed individuals, who had been born blind due to bilateral dense cataracts, were compared to 13 age-matched, normally-sighted controls. We observed reduced alpha activity in the stimulus-evoked impulse response in cataract-reversed individuals, which was linked to

lower visual acuity. The same individuals demonstrated reduced restingstate alpha oscillations. We interpreted these findings as evidence of compromised development of recurrent processing of the visual environment, resulting in poor vision.

2. Methods

2.1. Participants

We tested two groups of participants.

The first group consisted of individuals who had been deprived of patterned vision at birth due to delayed treatment for dense bilateral congenital cataracts (CC individuals; n = 13, 3 female, Mean Age = 23.1 years, SD = 10.9 years, Range = 10.9 - 43.5 years) (Table 1). This group was recruited at the LV Prasad Eye Institute (LVPEI) by ophthalmologists and optometrists. Diagnosis of these patients was based on the following combination of criteria: the presence of dense bilateral congenital cataracts at birth, occlusion of the fundus, nystagmus, a diagnosis of dense bilateral congenital cataracts in immediate family members, and a visual acuity of counting fingers at 1 m or less prior to surgery, barring cases of absorbed lenses. Absorbed lenses occur specifically in individuals with dense congenital cataracts (Ehrlich, 1948). Participants with absorbed lenses were diagnosed based on the morphology of the lens, anterior capsule wrinkling, and plaque or thickness of stroma. All 13 participants lacked stereovision, and 9 of 13 participants were implanted with intraocular lenses (Mean Visual Acuity = 0.85, SD = 0.40, Range = 0.17-1.78, all measured in logMAR units). Participants wore their optical corrections for the duration of the experiment. Maternal rubella was excluded as a cause of congenital cataracts in this group; explicitly excluded in the medical files of 11 participants, and not noted in the medical records of 2 participants (Supplementary Table S9).

All but two participants in this group were operated on after at least 1 year of patterned visual deprivation prior to surgery (Mean duration of blindness = 11 years, Range = 0.2 - 31.4 years). One participant received cataract removal surgery at the age of 3 months (Table 1). All participants were tested at least 11 months after receiving cataract removal surgery (Mean time since surgery = 12 years, Range = 0.9 - 30.9 years) to exclude acute effects, and to allow for extensive post-surgical visual experience.

The second group was recruited from the local area of the city of Hyderabad, and consisted of normally sighted individuals (SC, n = 13, 2

Table 1

Demographic and clinical information of the participants with a history of dense bilateral congenital cataracts (CC). NA indicates patient's data for the field were not available. FFL: Fixating and Following Light; CF: Counting Fingers; PL: Perceiving Light. Duration of visual deprivation was calculated by subtracting the date of birth from the date of surgery on the first eye. Time since surgery was calculated by subtracting the date of surgery in the first eye from the date of testing. Visual acuity reported was on the date of testing and measured using the Freiburg Vision Test (FrACT) (Bach, 2007).

	COMORBIDITI	ES		GENDER	VISUAI ACUIT	L Y PRE-	DURATION OF VISUAL	TIME SINCE SURGERY (VEARS)	VISUAL ACUITY ON DATE TESTED	FAMILY HISTORY	INTRA- OCULAR
	ABSORBED LENSES	STRABISMUS	NYSTAGMUS		OD	OS	(YEARS)	(TEARS)	(LOGMAR)		LENG
1	No	Yes	Yes	Male	FFL -	$_{+}$	0.2	16.8	0.17	No	Yes
2	Yes	Yes	Yes	Male	1.18	1	20.8	22.7	0.9	Yes	Yes
3	Yes	Yes	Yes	Male	1.48	1.77	15.6	3.1	0.9	No	No
4	Yes	NA	Yes	Male	CF at 1.5 m	CF at 3 m	7.0	8.2	0.62	No	Yes
5	No	Yes	Yes	Male	NA	NA	14.0	18.4	0.88	Yes	Yes
6	No	Yes	Yes	Male	NA	NA	6.0	17.9	0.78	Yes	Yes
7	No	Yes	Yes	Male	PL+	PL+	0.8	12.4	0.54	No	No
8	Yes	Yes	Yes	Male	1.2	1.3	16.4	1.9	0.66	Yes	Yes
9	No	Yes	Yes	Male	NA	NA	5.0	5.9	0.93	Yes	No
10	No	Yes	Yes	Female	NA	NA	5.0	11.0	0.5	Yes	Yes
11	Yes	Yes	Yes	Female	1.77	1.77	15.0	0.9	1.78	Yes	Yes
12	No	NA	Yes	Male	NA	NA	6.0	30.9	1.34	Yes	No
13	Yes	Yes	Yes	Female	1.48	1.48	31.4	7.4	1.04	Yes	Yes

female, Mean Age = 25.2 years, SD = 9.4 years, Range = 12.1 - 41.8 years). The two groups did not differ in mean age (t(24) = 0.52, p = 0.606).

All participants were tested at the LVPEI in English, Hindi or Telugu. None had a history of genetic, neurological or cognitive disorders. All participants (and their parents or legal guardians in case of minors) gave written informed consent. The study was approved by the Local Ethics Commission of the LVPEI, Hyderabad, India, as well as the ethics board of the Faculty of Psychology and Human Movement, University of Hamburg (UHH, Hamburg, Germany). Participants were compensated for costs associated with participation in this study including travel and accommodation. Children were additionally given a small gift.

2.2. Procedure

Our experiment was adapted from VanRullen & MacDonald (2012) and modified for visually impaired individuals and children.

Stimuli were presented with a Dell laptop on a Dell 22-inch LCD monitor with a refresh rate of 60 Hz. Stimuli were created with MATLAB r2018b (The MathWorks, Inc., Natick, MA) and Psychtoolbox 3 (Brainard, 1997; Kleiner et al., 2007).

A session started with the recoding of resting-state EEG. Participants were asked to sit as still as possible during the recording, and either to fixate on a blank, dark screen (eyes open condition, EO) or to keep their eyes closed (eyes closed condition, EC). The order of these two conditions was randomized across participants, and each condition lasted for at least 3 min.

During the task, data were collected in a darkened room. In consecutive experimental trials, participants watched a circle at the center of a black screen. The visual angle subtended by the circle was 17 degrees. This circle changed in luminance between values ranging from 0 to 1. Luminance values changed with equal power at all temporal frequencies between 0 and 30 Hz, thus rendering each trial a white-noise luminance sequence (Fig. 1, Supplementary Material S1) (Luo et al., 2021; Vanrullen & MacDonald, 2012). Unique, randomly generated white-noise sequences were presented for every trial and participant. Luminance values were gamma corrected to ensure a linear luminance output (monitor gamma value = 2.041). Participants were asked to perform 100 trials of a duration of 6.25 s each, divided into blocks of 10 trials.

In 10% of trials, a single square subtending a visual angle of 6 degrees appeared at the circle's center. The luminance of this square was scaled to 0.9 times the luminance value of the circle. The target square would appear at the circle's center for a randomly selected time, excluding the first 50 and last 50 frames. For the duration of its appearance, this square changed luminance at the same frequency as the circle. Participants were instructed to watch for the target square. At the end of every trial, participants verbally indicated whether or not they saw a square on that trial (Fig. 1). The experimenter recorded the response (maximum response time = 10 s) (Supplementary Material S6). No feedback was provided on accuracy during the time of testing. At the end of every block, participants were asked whether they would like to take a break or continue with the task. Some participants terminated the experiment early; four participants (2 CC, 2 SC) performed 80 trials, and 1 CC participant performed 70 trials.

Prior to the beginning of the experiment, all participants performed 10 practice trials with a target appearing on 30% of them.

The EEG was recorded using Ag/AgCl electrodes attached according to the 10/20 system (Homan, Herman, & Purdy, 1987) to an elastic cap (EASYCAP GmbH, Herrsching, Germany). We recorded 32 channel EEG using a BrainAmp amplifier, with a bandwidth of 0.01–200 Hz and sampling rate of 5 kHz (https://www.brainproducts.com/). All scalp recordings were performed against a left ear lobe reference.

After the EEG recording, visual acuity was measured binocularly for every participant on the day of testing using the Freiburg Vision Test or FrACT (https://michaelbach.de/fract/, Bach, 2007). Visual acuity is reported as the logarithmic of the mean angle of resolution (logMAR), wherein higher values indicate worse vision (Elliott, 2016).

2.3. Data analysis

2.3.1. Visual stimulation EEG analysis

The EEGLab toolbox in MATLAB 2018b was used for data analyses (Delorme & Makeig, 2004). First, datasets were filtered using a Hamming windowed sinc FIR filter, with a high-pass cutoff of 1 Hz and a low-pass cutoff of 45 Hz. The resulting data were down-sampled to 60 Hz (antialiasing filtering performed by EEGLab's *pop_resample* function) to match the luminance stimulation rate. The data were divided into 6.25 s long epochs corresponding to each trial. Subsequently, baseline removal was conducted by subtracting the mean activity across the length of an epoch from every data point. After baseline removal, epochs with signals exceeding a threshold of \pm 120 μ V were rejected in order to exclude artifacts.

Based on the existing literature (Lozano-Soldevilla & VanRullen, 2016, 2019; VanRullen, 2016; VanRullen & MacDonald, 2012) and pilot testing with 73 electrodes at University of Hamburg (see Supplementary Material S2), we analyzed data exclusively from the two occipital electrodes, O1 and O2. Recordings were referenced to the left earlobe. For each trial, the luminance values presented from 0.5 s to 5.75 s after trial onset were cross-correlated with the corresponding EEG time points



Fig. 1. A. Schematic representation of the stimuli during a trial, and subsequent data analysis. Participants watched a circle that randomly changed in luminance. B. For each trial the EEG response was cross-correlated with the luminance value presented on that trial. C. The frequency spectrum of this cross-correlation analysis was calculated across all the trials. The peak frequency and amplitude of the cross-correlation spectrum was determined and used as a dependent variable.

during that trial. The initial and final portions were excluded from the analysis in order to eliminate the transients due to stimulus onset and offset (VanRullen & MacDonald, 2012). The average cross-correlation value across trials was computed across all visual stimulation epochs for every participant. As a control, we additionally calculated the cross-correlation of each EEG epoch with a luminance sequence that was presented on a different, randomly selected trial. This control analysis was carried out to ensure that the evoked alpha response was specific to the stimuli presented and not an artifact of any kind of flickering stimulation (VanRullen & MacDonald, 2012).

Next, the amplitude spectrum of each participant's cross-correlation function was calculated both for O1 and O2, for the delays between 0.2 s and 1.2 s. These delays were chosen as in VanRullen and MacDonald (2012). Using the *pwelch* function in MATLAB, we obtained the power spectral density of the cross-correlation (window length = 60 samples, overlap = 0, spectrum resolution = 1 Hz) (VanRullen & MacDonald, 2012).

Prior to identifying peaks in the spectrum of the cross-correlation function, we removed the aperiodic (1/f) component of this spectrum for each subject. Note that this analysis was not performed by VanRullen and MacDonald (2012). However, as has been suggested in several recent studies, we applied this correction to ensure that potential between-group differences in oscillations were not driven by differences in aperiodic activity (Donoghue et al., 2020b; Schaworonkow & Voytek, 2021). First, we fit the 1/f distribution function to the frequency spectrum of each participant. The 1/f distribution was fit to the normalized spectrum converted to logarithmic scale (range = 1-20 Hz) (Donoghue et al., 2020a; Gyurkovics et al., 2021; Schaworonkow & Voytek, 2021). We excluded the alpha range (8 – 14 Hz) for this fit, to avoid biasing the results (Donoghue et al., 2021; Schaworonkow & Voytek, 2021; Voytek et al., 2015; Waschke et al., 2017). This 1/f fit gave us a value of the slope, an overall intercept value corresponding to the broadband power of all frequencies, and a fit error for the cross-correlation spectrum of every participant. On subtracting the fitted 1/f spectrum from the original spectrum in logarithmic scale, we obtained the corrected crosscorrelation spectrum for each subject between 1 and 20 Hz.

We used MATLAB's *findpeaks* function to identify peaks between 7 and 14 Hz. Two criteria were used to define above-threshold peaks, in order to set quantitative criteria for whether an evoked alpha peak existed at all. First, the peak had to be higher than one standard deviation of the fit error, obtained from the 1/f fit of the cross-correlation spectrum. Second, peaks had to be at least 1 Hz (i.e. equal to the resolution of the spectrum) in width. Peak identification was performed individually for O1 and O2. Subsequently, for every subject, the peak frequency and amplitude were averaged across O1 and O2.

Finally, 1/f corrected spectra were averaged across O1 and O2 in order to obtain a mean cross-correlation spectrum for each subject.

2.3.2. Resting-State EEG analysis

Resting-state data were preprocessed identically to the visual stimulation EEG data. We filtered the 3-minute-long resting-state recordings using a Hamming windowed sinc FIR filter (High and Low Cutoffs: 1–45 Hz). Next, we divided the recording into epochs of 1 s, and rejected epochs with signals exceeding \pm 120 μ V. Finally, we calculated the power spectral density of the preprocessed EEG data using the *pwelch* function (window length = 1000 samples, overlap = 0).

We followed an identical procedure as the one described above for the cross-correlation spectrum to obtain peaks in the alpha range of the resting-state spectrum.

2.3.3. Statistical analysis

We hypothesized that stimulus-evoked occipital alpha activity in CC individuals was reduced compared to SC individuals. To test this hypothesis, first, the mean amplitude of the cross-correlation spectrum in the alpha range (8–14 Hz, averaged across O1 and O2) was compared between the two groups with a *t*-test. Second, a chi-square test was

employed to test the likelihood that CC vs SC individuals presented an evoked alpha response. Third, for the subgroups of individuals who demonstrated above-threshold evoked alpha responses in their crosscorrelation spectra, t-tests were conducted in order to compare the peak frequency and peak amplitude between CC and SC individuals.

Mean resting-state alpha activity was compared between groups. The average amplitude of the resting-state spectrum between 8 and 14 Hz for every subject (averaged across O1 and O2) was derived, and a group (2 levels: CC, SC) by condition (2 levels: EO, EC) ANOVA was performed on these average alpha amplitude values. Additionally, the likelihood of presenting an above-threshold resting-state alpha peak was compared between the two groups using Chi-squared tests. This was done separately for the EO and EC conditions. Finally, for the subgroup of individuals with above-threshold resting-state alpha peaks in the SC and CC groups, group-by-condition ANOVAs were performed in order to compare the peak frequency and peak amplitude values between these subgroups of CC and matched SC individuals.

As in VanRullen and MacDonald (2012), we tested for the presence of a correlation between the peak alpha frequency and amplitude values of the cross-correlation spectra, and the peak alpha frequency and amplitude in the resting-state (EC) spectra, respectively. These correlations were tested for the individuals who demonstrated an above-threshold alpha peak in the cross-correlation and resting-state (EC) spectra across both the CC and SC groups.

To determine whether vision loss history might predict the presence vs absence of alpha activity, CC participants were categorized based on whether or not they presented an above-threshold peak in the evoked alpha response, and compared on visual acuity, time since surgery, duration of blindness and age. Identical analyses were conducted comparing CC individuals categorized based on whether they presented above-threshold resting-state alpha activity, separately for the eyes closed and eyes opened conditions. Due to differing and small sizes of the subgroups of CC individuals, non-parametric testing was used to compare the subgroups via the Wilcoxon Rank Sum Test.

Anonymized data and materials will be made available upon reasonable request to the corresponding author, under stipulations of applicable law including, but not limited to the General Data Protection Regulation (EU 2016/679). This experiment was not pre-registered.

3. Results

3.1. Reduced amplitude of stimulus-evoked alpha activity in congenital cataract-reversed individuals

First, we tested the cross-correlation of the EEG response with the corresponding white-noise luminance sequence (the average cross-correlation from each group is depicted in Fig. 2A,B). As seen in Fig. 2C, the average spectral density of this cross-correlation showed a peak in the alpha range for both the SC and the CC group. However, the mean power in the alpha range (8–14 Hz) was significantly reduced in the CC compared to the SC group (t(24) = -2.3, p = 0.028) (Fig. 2C, 2D). While all SC participants displayed an above-threshold (see Methods) peak in the alpha range, only 8 of 13 CC participants did; the likelihood of an individual demonstrating an evoked alpha peak was significantly higher in the SC than in the CC group (Chi squared test: $\chi^2 = 6.2$, p = 0.013) (Fig. 2C):

For the subgroup of 8 CC individuals with an above-threshold evoked alpha peak (henceforth referred to as $CC_{Evoked+}$), peak frequency values did not differ from those observed for the SC group (t(19) = 0.3, p = 0.73) (Fig. 2E). Moreover, the peak evoked alpha amplitude did not significantly differ between the $CC_{Evoked+}$ subgroup and the SC group (t (19) = 1.35, p = 0.19) (Supplementary Material S3).



Fig. 2. Stimulus-evoked alpha activity in congenital cataract-reversed (CC) and normally sighted (SC) individuals. A,B. The cross-correlation of the EEG response with the corresponding luminance values presented. Average cross-correlation response from participants of the A. SC (green) and the B. CC (red) group, respectively. The average cross-correlation across all trials is plotted in colour. The grey line represents the average cross-correlation of the EEG response on every trial with a randomly selected, mismatched luminance sequence. The shaded region represents the standard error of mean. The dotted lines mark the section of the cross-correlation used to calculate the spectrum. C. The average spectrum of cross-correlation functions across all CC (red) and SC (green) subjects. The shaded region represents standard error of the mean. Inset table listing the number of individuals in each group with and without an above-threshold evoked alpha peak. D. Violin plots displaying the average evoked alpha amplitude (averaged between 8 and 14 Hz) in SC (green) and CC (red) individuals. Solid lines indicate the mean values and dotted lines indicate median values of the average evoked alpha amplitude in the SC and CC group. Individual subjects have been horizontally jittered for a better view of overlapping data points. E. Violin plots displaying the peak frequency distributions of SC and CC_{Evoked+} individuals, the subgroup of CC individuals who presented an abovethreshold evoked alpha peak. (For interpretation of the references to colour in this figure legend, the reader is referred to the web version of this article.)

3.2. Reduced amplitude of resting-state alpha activity in congenital cataract-reversed individuals

To test the effects of transient early visual deprivation on restingstate alpha oscillations, we compared the alpha range of the restingstate spectra between CC and SC individuals. CC individuals showed an overall reduction of the average alpha power (8–14 Hz) compared to SC individuals, in both the eyes open (EO) and the eyes closed (EC) conditions (main effect of group: F(1,48) = 9.6, p = 0.003) (Fig. 3A,C). Across groups, alpha amplitude was significantly lower in the eyes open (EO) than in the eyes closed (EC) condition (main effect of condition: F (1,48) = 11.5, p = 0.001). The reduction of alpha power from the EC to



Fig. 3. Resting-state alpha oscillations of congenital cataract-reversed (CC) and normally sighted control (SC) individuals. A. Mean resting-state spectra with eyes opened and eyes closed, averaged across all SC (green) and all CC (red) individuals. Shaded regions represent the standard error of the mean. Inset tables listing the number of individuals in each group with and without an above threshold alpha peak, for the eyes open and the eves closed condition. B. Violin plots illustrate the average (8-14 Hz) resting-state alpha amplitude distributions for SC and CC individuals. Solid lines indicate the mean values and dotted line indicate median values of the average evoked alpha amplitude in the SC and CC group. C. Violin plots illustrate the peak alpha frequency distributions for the subgroup of SC and CC individuals with an abovethreshold resting-state alpha peak in either the eyes open (SC_{RestEO+}, CC_{RestEO+}) or eyes closed (SC_{RestEC+}, CC_{RestEC+}) condition. D,E. Pearson correlation between stimulus-evoked and resting-state alpha oscillations. Correlations between values of D. amplitude and E. frequency of the resting-state and evoked alpha peaks across CC_{Evoked+} (red) and SC (green) individuals. (For interpretation of the references to colour in this figure legend, the reader is referred to the web version of this article.)

the EO condition was indistinguishable between the CC and SC group (group-by-condition interaction F(1,48) = 0.96, p = 0.333) (Fig. 3A,C).

The likelihood of demonstrating an above-threshold (see Methods) peak in the alpha range of the resting-state spectrum did not differ between the SC and CC groups, neither in the EO (Chi squared test: $\chi^2 = 0.72$, p = 0.395) nor in the EC condition (Chi squared test: $\chi^2 = 2.17$, p

= 0.141) (Fig. 3B).

Within the subgroups of CC and SC individuals with above-threshold resting-state alpha peaks (SC group: n = 13 in the EC condition, 10 in the EO condition, henceforth referred to as SC_{RestEC+} and SC_{RestEO+} respectively; CC group: n = 11 in the EC condition, 8 in the EO condition, henceforth referred to as CC_{RestEC+} and CC_{RestEO+} respectively), the peak

frequency value did not differ between the EO and EC conditions (main effect of condition: F(1,34) = 0.06, p = 0.81). Moreover, the subgroups of SC_{RestEO+}, SC_{RestEC+}, CC_{RestEC+} and CC_{RestEO+} individuals did not differ in peak frequency (main effect of group: F(1,34) = 2.3, p = 0.13, group-by-condition interaction: F(1,34) = 1.08, p = 0.31) (Fig. 3D).

Finally, there was a marginal reduction of the peak resting-state alpha amplitude in the $CC_{RestEC+}$ and $CC_{RestEO+}$ subgroups compared to the $SC_{RestEO+}$ and $SC_{RestEC+}$ subgroups (main effect of group: F(1,34) = 3.07, p = 0.089), and the expected increase of peak alpha amplitude with eye closure across subgroups (main effect of condition: F(1,34) = 8.17, p = 0.007, group-by-condition interaction: F(1,34) = 0.05, p = 0.821) (Supplementary Material S4).

Across the SC_{Evoked+} and CC_{Evoked+} subgroups (n = 21), there was a significant positive correlation between the peak resting-state alpha frequency and the peak evoked alpha frequency (r = 0.49, p = 0.024) and between the peak resting-state alpha amplitude and the peak evoked alpha amplitude (r = 0.51, p = 0.019) (Fig. 3E,F).

3.3. Concurrent reduction of stimulus-evoked and resting-state alpha power in congenital cataract-reversed individuals

As expected from the mechanistic account described in VanRullen and MacDonald (2012), the subgroup of $CC_{Evoked.}$ individuals, with no stimulus-evoked alpha peak (N = 5), had a significantly lower restingstate alpha amplitude than $CC_{Evoked+}$ individuals, who demonstrated such a peak (N = 8) (main effect of subgroup: F(1,22) = 14.3, p = 0.001) (Fig. 4A). Resting-state alpha power increased with eye closure in both subgroups (main effect of condition: F(1,22) = 7.3, p = 0.013). However, the magnitude of this effect was larger in $CC_{Evoked+}$ than in $CC_{Evoked-}$ individuals (subgroup-by-condition interaction F(1,22) = 4.61, p = 0.043; Fig. 4B).

Post-hoc testing revealed lower alpha power in the EC condition in CC_{Evoked} . than $CC_{Evoked+}$ individuals (t(11) = 3.3, p = 0.007), while this difference was marginally significant for the EO condition (t(11) = 1.96, p = 0.076).

3.4. Lower visual acuity in cataract-reversed individuals without an above-threshold evoked alpha response

Visual acuity was significantly better, that is, logMAR values were lower, in $CC_{Evoked+}$ (n = 8) than $CC_{Evoked-}$ (n = 5) individuals (Wilcoxon rank-sum test: z = 2.2, p = 0.0286) (Fig. 5). When we compared visual acuity in CC individuals with vs without an above-threshold resting state peak, there was no difference in visual acuity between $CC_{RestEC+}$ (n = 11) vs $CC_{RestEC-}$ individuals (n = 2) in the eyes closed condition (Wilcoxon rank-sum test: z = 1.09, p = 0.277), or between $CC_{RestEO+}$ (n = 7) vs $CC_{RestEO-}$ individuals (n = 6) in the eyes open condition (Wilcoxon rank-sum test: z = 0.14, p = 0.886) (Fig. 5). There was no subgroup difference in chronological age, time since surgery or duration of blindness between $CC_{Evoked+}$ and $CC_{Evoked-}$ individuals (Supplementary Material Fig. S7).

4. Discussion

The present study investigated stimulus-evoked and resting-state alpha (8-14 Hz) oscillations in individuals who had experienced congenital blindness for an average of 11 years, due to delayed surgery for dense bilateral congenital cataracts. We used the association between stimulus-evoked and resting-state alpha as a proxy to assess bottom-up and top-down processing in the visual system and how it depends on early visual experience in humans (see Yusuf et al., 2022, for a non-human model of auditory deprivation). Stimulus-evoked oscillations were assessed with the visual impulse response to white noise. In normally sighted individuals (SC) we replicated the main results from VanRullen and MacDonald (2012): we observed the characteristic prominent stimulus-evoked alpha response (Basar et al., 1997; Childers & Perry, 1971; Lalor et al., 2007; Vanrullen & MacDonald, 2012). Individuals treated for congenital cataracts (CC) demonstrated a lower amplitude of both stimulus-evoked and resting-state alpha oscillations, as compared to the SC group. Stimulus-evoked and resting-state alpha oscillations were correlated in amplitude and peak frequency across CC and SC individuals. Finally, visual acuity was worse in CC individuals who did not demonstrate an above-threshold evoked alpha peak. The present study provides electrophysiological evidence for the crucial role of early visual experience in the joint emergence of stimulus-evoked and



Fig. 4. A. Mean resting-state spectra plotted for the eyes opened and eyes closed conditions in the subgroup of cataract-reversed individuals with ($CC_{Evoked+}$, n = 8, black) and without (CC_{Evoked-}, n = 5, red) an abovethreshold evoked alpha peak. Shaded region represents the standard error of mean, B. Violin plots depict the mean alpha amplitude resting-state of $CC_{Evoked+}$ and $CC_{Evoked-}$ individuals. (For interpretation of the references to colour in this figure legend, the reader is referred to the web version of this article.)



Fig. 5. Violin plots depict the visual acuity in logMAR units in the CC group divided into subgroups with (black) and without (red) an above-threshold peak in the stimulus-evoked ($CC_{Evoked-}$), $CC_{evoked-}$), resting-state ($CC_{RestEC+}$, $CC_{RestEC+}$, eyes closed) and resting-state ($CC_{RestEO+}$, $CC_{RestEO-}$, eyes open) conditions. (For interpretation of the references to colour in this figure legend, the reader is referred to the web version of this article.)

resting-state alpha oscillations. These findings are compatible with the idea that the elaboration of top-down pathways, which functionally shape upstream sensory areas to process the visual environment, is experience-dependent; and likely linked to a sensitive period in human brain development.

Multiple lines of evidence have linked alpha oscillations to feedback communication in the visual system, including results from non-human animal studies (Maier et al., 2010; Van Kerkoerle et al., 2014) invasive recordings from humans at rest (Halgren et al., 2019), non-invasive EEG recordings (Händel et al., 2011; Jensen & Mazaheri, 2010; Klimesch et al., 2007; Worden et al., 2000) and transcranial magnetic stimulation studies in humans (Riddle et al., 2020; Sauseng et al., 2011; Zanto et al., 2011). Stimulus-evoked alpha activity has been proposed to result from entrainment of the cortical generators of resting-state oscillations (Basar et al., 1997; Herrmann, 2001; Herrmann et al., 2016; Notbohm et al., 2016; Zoefel et al., 2018) and thus, likely reflects an interaction of topdown and bottom-up signals. Evidence for an enhanced propensity of the visual cortex to generate alpha oscillations was demonstrated by assessing the impulse response to visual white noise (Vanrullen & MacDonald, 2012). Visual white noise comprises equal stimulation at all frequencies; nevertheless, visual circuits entrain predominantly in the alpha range. The correlation between the peak frequency and amplitude of stimulus-evoked and resting-state alpha oscillations, also observed in the present study, is compatible with a link between stimulus-evoked and resting state alpha oscillations (Vanrullen & MacDonald, 2012; Zoefel et al., 2018).

Within the entrainment account of stimulus-evoked alpha oscillations, we speculate that jointly reduced stimulus-evoked and restingstate alpha oscillations might reflect an altered interaction of topdown and bottom-up processing streams, or recurrent processing (Yusuf et al., 2022), in the visual cortex. Non-human animal models have provided three lines of evidence for this idea. First, the lack of visual experience caused a flattening of the cortical hierarchy in macaque visual cortex (Magrou et al., 2018). In sighted macaques, the laminar ratio, i.e. the ratio of supragranular neurons to the sum of supragranular and infragranular neurons, decreases from lower to higher visual regions, and is considered a quantitative measure of interareal distance in the cortical hierarchy (Markov et al., 2014). In enucleated macaques, this laminar ratio was altered, which might imply impaired interareal communication in the visual cortex (Magrou et al., 2018). Second, feedback interareal projections in the visual cortex have been shown to be the subject of experience-dependent shaping to a greater extent than feedforward projections in macaques (Batardière et al., 2002), humans (Burkhalter et al., 1993) and rodents (Ibrahim et al., 2021). Thus, the connectivity necessary to iteratively adjust resting-state activity to optimize visual processing might be particularly

vulnerable to the effects of early visual deprivation (Pezzulo et al., 2021). Third, analogous observations of altered feedback processing after sensory restitution were made in electrophysiological recordings from the auditory cortex of congenitally deaf cats, stimulated via cochlear implants. Feedback coupling from secondary to primary auditory cortex, measured by phase consistency, was particularly lowered by congenital auditory deprivation (Yusuf et al., 2021). Functional coupling between infragranular and supragranular layers in A1 was reduced in cochlear-implanted compared to normally hearing cats (Yusuf et al., 2022) suggesting an impairment of the interaction of feedback and feedforward processing streams after sensory restitution. Similar to the present work, the authors suggested that the lack of sensory experience at birth interrupts the sculpturing of feedback connectivity in sensory cortex, resulting in impaired orchestration of bottom-up and top-down processing pathways (Kral et al., 2017; Yusuf et al., 2021, 2022).

Reduced alpha entrainment would be consistent with lower visual capabilities in CC individuals. Previous studies have found that an alpha entrainment improves sub-threshold detection (Spaak et al., 2014) and distractor suppression (Wiesman & Wilson, 2019). Accordingly, in our study the individuals with reversed congenital cataract who featured a significant stimulus-evoked alpha peak were those with better visual acuity outcomes. Interestingly, a study which optogenetically inactivated top-down signals from marmoset V2 to V1 found increased receptive field sizes in V1 (Nurminen et al., 2018), which implies lower visual acuity. Assuming that lower alpha activity is associated with impaired feedback tuning of early visual cortex, it would be justified to conclude that a deficit of this mechanism contributes to the lower visual acuity as found in the present study and repeatedly documented in CC individuals. Further, our interpretation of impaired recurrent processing would be consistent with other visual deficits reported in CC individuals, including visual feature binding (McKyton et al., 2015; Putzar et al., 2007), coherent motion processing (Hadad et al., 2012; Rajendran et al., 2020) and face identity processing (Le Grand et al., 2001; Putzar et al., 2010). Higher visual functions require the integration of outputs of multiple neural circuits within and across visual areas, and thus, functional interareal connectivity. For example, deactivating top-down connectivity from the mouse homologous area V2 to V1 resulted in a reduced firing to illusory contours (Pak et al., 2020), reminiscent of a similar deficit in CC individuals (McKyton et al., 2015; Putzar et al., 2007). In addition to the present results, another electrophysiological study in CC individuals found evidence for impaired interareal communication. Pitchaimuthu et al. (2021) recorded steady-state visual evoked potentials to visual stimuli simultaneously changing two features - flickering and moving horizontally. Such combined stimulation typically results in intermodulation frequency responses in the EEG,

indicating the integration of input across multiple visual areas (Kim et al., 2011). Intermodulation frequency responses were absent in CC individuals, interpreted as evidence for impaired integration across visual regions (Pitchaimuthu et al., 2021).

The present findings are compatible with prospective developmental results from ferrets and humans. Invasive recordings in the ferret visual cortex demonstrated that the similarity between stimulus-driven and resting-state activity increased during early development (Berkes et al., 2011). Moreover, studies in humans have documented a protracted developmental trajectory for resting-state alpha oscillations into adolescence (Cellier et al., 2021; Marshall et al., 2002). Rare results on stimulus-evoked alpha responses in children suggested maturation beyond early childhood (Kolev et al., 1994). Therefore, we hypothesize that congenital blindness prevented the development of characteristic resting-state activity, which might prepare visual circuits to efficiently response to visual input. As a consequence, stimulus-evoked processing might be less efficient, resulting in worse visual behavior.

Testing the integrity of visual circuits in humans who were treated for bilateral dense cataracts could be considered analogous to the prevalent approach in non-human animals, wherein experimentally manipulated visual deprivation is used to study the effects of experience on brain development. Limitations of the human model have been discussed (Röder & Kekunnaya, 2021), and here we acknowledge some challenges for the present study. Humans who had experienced a period of visual deprivation longer than about 8 weeks following birth typically suffer from nystagmus (Supplementary Table S9), and therefore differences in involuntary eye movements between the CC and SC groups are confounded with our measurements. However, nystagmus might not explain the present results, as all CC participants suffered from nystagmus, but eight out of thirteen showed a stimulus-evoked alpha peak. Moreover, differences in resting-state EEG are unlikely to be linked to fixation abilities.

Further, non-invasively recorded alpha oscillations cannot unambiguously be equated with top-down activity. Testing for the modulation of alpha power with top-down cues in CC individuals would be necessary to further investigate whether top-down modulation of restored bottom-up input is affected by congenital visual deprivation in humans. Initial evidence suggested that despite an overall reduction of activity in CC compared to SC individuals in visual motion areas (hMT), CC individuals displayed increased hMT activity if the motion was task relevant (Guerreiro et al., 2022). In agreement with the present findings, these results suggest that top-down control of upstream visual areas is less stimulus-specific and precise, but not entirely absent in individuals who recovered vision after congenital blindness.

CRediT authorship contribution statement

Rashi Pant: Conceptualization, Formal analysis, Writing – original draft, Visualization. José Ossandón: Conceptualization, Software, Writing – review & editing. Liesa Stange: Software, Writing – review & editing. Idris Shareef: . Ramesh Kekunnaya: Supervision. Brigitte Röder: Supervision, Conceptualization, Writing – review & editing.

Declaration of Competing Interest

The authors declare that they have no known competing financial interests or personal relationships that could have appeared to influence the work reported in this paper.

Data availability

Data will be made available on request.

Acknowledgments

We are grateful to D. Balasubramanian and the LV Prasad Eye

Institute for supporting the study. We thank Kabilan Pitchaimuthu, Suddha Sourav and Prativa Regmi for helping with the data acquisition. The study was funded by the German Research Foundation (DFG Ro 2625/10-1 and SFB 936-178316478-B11) to Brigitte Röder. Rashi Pant was supported by a PhD student fellowship from the Hector Fellow Academy gGmbH.

Appendix A. Supplementary data

Supplementary data to this article can be found online at https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nicl.2023.103375.

References

- Adrian, E.D., Matthews, B.H.C., 1934. The berger rhythm: Potential changes from the occipital lobes in man. Brain 57 (4), 355–385. https://doi.org/10.1093/BRAIN/ 57.4.355.
- Bach, M., 2007. The Freiburg Visual Acuity Test-variability unchanged by post-hoc reanalysis. Graefe's Archive for Clinical and Experimental Ophthalmology = Albrecht von. Graefes Archiv Fur Klinische Und Experimentelle Ophthalmologie 245 (7), 965–971. https://doi.org/10.1007/S00417-006-0474-4.
- Başar, E., Schürmann, M., Başar-Eroglu, C., Karakaş, S., 1997. Alpha oscillations in brain functioning: an integrative theory. Int. J. Psychophysiol. 26 (1–3), 5–29. https://doi. org/10.1016/S0167-8760(97)00753-8.
- Batardière, A., Barone, P., Knoblauch, K., Giroud, P., Berland, M., Dumas, A.M., Kennedy, H., 2002 May. Early specification of the hierarchical organization of visual cortical areas in the macaque monkey. Cereb. Cortex 12 (5), 453–465. https://doi. org/10.1093/cercor/12.5.453. PMID: 11950763.
- Berkes, P., Orbán, G., Lengyel, M., Fiser, J., 2011. Spontaneous cortical activity reveals hallmarks of an optimal internal model of the environment. Science (New York, N. Y.) 331 (6013), 83–87. https://doi.org/10.1126/SCIENCE.1195870.
- Birch, E.E., Cheng, C., Stager, D.R., Weakley, D.R., Stager, D.R., 2009. The critical period for surgical treatment of dense congenital bilateral cataracts. J. AAPOS 13 (1), 67–71.
- Bottari, D., Troje, N.F., Ley, P., Hense, M., Kekunnaya, R., Röder, B., 2016. Sight restoration after congenital blindness does not reinstate alpha oscillatory activity in humans. Sci. Rep. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep24683.
- Bottari, D., Kekunnaya, R., Hense, M., Troje, N.F., Sourav, S., Röder, B., 2018. Motion processing after sight restoration: No competition between visual recovery and auditory compensation. Neuroimage 167, 284–296.
- Brainard, D.H., 1997. The Psychophysics Toolbox. Spat. Vis. 10 (4), 433–436.
- Burkhalter, A., 1993. Development of Forward and Feedback Connections between Areas V1 and V2 of Human Visual Cortex. Cereb Cortex 3 (5), 476–487.
- Burkhalter, A., Bernardo, K.L., Charles, V., 1993. Development of local circuits in human visual cortex. J. Neurosci. 13 (5), 1916. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.13-05-01916.1993.
- Capilla, A., Pazo-Alvarez, P., Darriba, A., Campo, P., Gross, J., Valdes-Sosa, P.A., 2011. Steady-state visual evoked potentials can be explained by temporal superposition of transient event-related responses. PLoS One 6 (1), e14543.
- Cellier, D., Riddle, J., Petersen, I., Hwang, K., 2021. The development of theta and alpha neural oscillations from ages 3 to 24 years. Dev. Cogn. Neurosci. 50, 100969 https:// doi.org/10.1016/J.DCN.2021.100969.
- Childers, D.G., Perry, N.W., 1971. Alpha-like activity in vision. Brain Res. 25 (1), 1–20. https://doi.org/10.1016/0006-8993(71)90563-4.
- Delorme, A., Makeig, S., 2004. EEGLAB: An open source toolbox for analysis of singletrial EEG dynamics including independent component analysis. J. Neurosci. Methods 134 (1), 9–21.
- Donoghue, T., Dominguez, J. & Voytek, B. (2020). Electrophysiological frequency band ratio measures conflate periodic and aperiodic neural activity. *ENeuro*, 7(6). https:// doi.org/10.1523/ENEURO.0192-20.2020.

Donoghue, T., Haller, M., Peterson, E.J., Varma, P., Sebastian, P., Gao, R., Noto, T., Lara, A.H., Wallis, J.D., Knight, R.T., Shestyuk, A., Voytek, B., 2020b. Parameterizing neural power spectra into periodic and aperiodic components. Nat. Neurosci. 23 (12), 1655–1665.

- Donoghue, T., Schaworonkow, N., Voytek, B., 2021. Methodological considerations for studying neural oscillations. In PsyArXiv.
- Ehrlich, L.H., 1948. Spontaneous absorption of congenital cataract following maternal rubella. Arch. Ophthalmol. 39 (2), 205–209. https://doi.org/10.1001/ ARCHOPHT.1948.00900020210007.
- Elliott, D.B., 2016. The good (logMAR), the bad (Snellen) and the ugly (BCVA, number of letters read) of visual acuity measurement. Ophthalmic Physiol. Opt. 36 (4), 355–358. https://doi.org/10.1111/OPO.12310.
- Guerreiro, M.J.S., Kekunnaya, R., Röder, B., 2022. Top-down modulation of visual cortical processing after transient congenital blindness. Neuropsychologia 174, 108338.
- Gyurkovics, M., Clements, G.M., Low, K.A., Fabiani, M., Gratton, G., 2021. The impact of 1/f activity and baseline correction on the results and interpretation of time-frequency analyses of EEG/MEG data: A cautionary tale. Neuroimage 237, 118192.

Halgren, M., Ulbert, I., Bastuji, H., Fabó, D., Eross, L., Rey, M., Devinsky, O., Doyle, W.K., Mak-McCully, R., Halgren, E., Wittner, L., Chauvel, P., Heit, G., Eskandar, E.,

Hadad, B.-S., Maurer, D., Lewis, T.L., 2012. Sparing of sensitivity to biological motion but not of global motion after early visual deprivation. Dev. Sci. 15 (4), 474–481.

Mandell, A., Cash, S.S., 2019. The generation and propagation of the human alpha rhythm. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 116 (47), 23772–23782. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1913092116. Händel, B.F., Haarmeier, T., Jensen, O., 2011. Alpha oscillations correlate with the

successful inhibition of unattended stimuli. J. Cogn. Neurosci. 23 (9), 2494–2502.

- Herrmann, C.S., 2001. Human EEG responses to 1–100 Hz flicker: Resonance phenomena in visual cortex and their potential correlation to cognitive phenomena. Exp. Brain Res. 137 (3–4), 346–353. https://doi.org/10.1007/s002210100682.
- Herrmann, C.S., Murray, M.M., Ionta, S., Hutt, A., Lefebvre, J., 2016. Shaping Intrinsic Neural Oscillations with Periodic Stimulation. J. Neurosci. 36 (19), 5328–5337. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0236-16.2016.
- Homan, R.W., Herman, J., Purdy, P., 1987. Cerebral location of international 10–20 system electrode placement. Electroencephalogr. Clin. Neurophysiol. 66 (4), 376–382.
- Ibrahim, L.A., Huang, S., Fernandez-Otero, M., Sherer, M., Qiu, Y., Vemuri, S., Xu, Q., Machold, R., Pouchelon, G., Rudy, B., Fishell, G., 2021. Bottom-up inputs are required for establishment of top-down connectivity onto cortical layer 1 neurogliaform cells. Neuron 109 (21), 3473–3485.e5. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. neuron.2021.08.004.
- Jensen, O., Mazaheri, A., 2010. Shaping functional architecture by oscillatory alpha activity: gating by inhibition. Front. Hum. Neurosci. https://doi.org/10.3389/ fnhum.2010.00186.
- Keitel, C., Keitel, A., Benwell, C.S.Y., Daube, C., Thut, G., Gross, J., 2019. Stimulus-driven brain rhythms within the alpha band: The attentional-modulation conundrum. J. Neurosci. 39 (16), 3119–3129. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1633-18.2019.
- Kim, Y.J., Grabowecky, M., Paller, K.A., Suzuki, S., 2011. Differential roles of frequencyfollowing and frequency-doubling visual responses revealed by evoked neural harmonics. J. Cogn. Neurosci. 23 (8), 1875. https://doi.org/10.1162/ JOCN.2010.21536.
- Kleiner, M., Brainard, D. H., Pelli, D. G., Broussard, C., Wolf, T. & Niehorster, D. (2007). What's new in Psychtoolbox-3? *Perception*, 36.

Klimesch, W., Sauseng, P., Hanslmayr, S., 2007. EEG alpha oscillations: The inhibitiontiming hypothesis. In Brain Research Reviews 53 (1), 63–88.

- Kolev, V., Başar-Eroglu, C., Aksu, F., Başar, E., 1994. EEG Rhythmicities Evoked by Visual Stimuli in Three-Year-Old Children. Int. J. Neurosci. 75 (3-4), 257–270.
- Kral, A., Yusuf, P.A., Land, R., 2017. Higher-order auditory areas in congenital deafness: Top-down interactions and corticocortical decoupling. Hear. Res. 343, 50–63. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.HEARES.2016.08.017.
- Kriegseis, A., Hennighausen, E., Rösler, F., Röder, B., 2006. Reduced EEG alpha activity over parieto-occipital brain areas in congenitally blind adults. Clin. Neurophysiol. 117 (7), 1560–1573.
- Lalor, E.C., Kelly, S.P., Pearlmutter, B.A., Reilly, R.B., Foxe, J.J., 2007. Isolating endogenous visuo-spatial attentional effects using the novel visual-evoked spread spectrum analysis (VESPA) technique. Eur. J. Neurosci. 26 (12), 3536. https://doi. org/10.1111/J.1460-9568.2007.05968.X.
- Le Grand, R., Mondloch, C.J., Maurer, D., Brent, H.P., 2001. Early visual experience and face processing. Nature 410 (6831), 890.

Lozano-Soldevilla, D., VanRullen, R., 2016. The hidden spatial dimension of alpha: occipital EEG channels encode contralateral and ipsilateral visual space at distinct phases of the alpha cycle. J. Vis. 16 (12), 1226.

Lozano-Soldevilla, D., VanRullen, R., 2019. The Hidden Spatial Dimension of Alpha: 10-Hz Perceptual Echoes Propagate as Periodic Traveling Waves in the Human Brain. Cell Rep. 26 (2), 374–380.e4.

Luo, C., Brüers, S., Berry, I., VanRullen, R., Reddy, L., 2021. Tentative fMRI signatures of perceptual echoes in early visual cortex. Neuroimage 237, 118053. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/J.NEUROIMAGE.2021.118053.

Magrou, L., Barone, P., Markov, N.T., Killackey, H.P., Giroud, P., Berland, M., Knoblauch, K., Dehay, C., Kennedy, H., 2018. How areal specification shapes the local and interareal circuits in a macaque model of congenital blindness. Cereb. Cortex 28 (8), 3017–3034. https://doi.org/10.1093/CERCOR/BHY125.

Maier, A., Adams, G.K., Aura, C., Leopold, D.A., 2010. Distinct superficial and deep laminar domains of activity in the visual cortex during rest and stimulation. Front. Syst. Neurosci. 4, 31. https://doi.org/10.3389/FNSYS.2010.00031/.

Markov, N.T., Vezoli, J., Chameau, P., Falchier, A., Quilodran, R.E., Huissoud, C., Lamy, C., Misery, P., Giroud, P., Ullman, S., Barone, P., Dehay, C., Knoblauch, K., Kennedy, H., 2014. Anatomy of hierarchy: Feedforward and feedback pathways in macaque visual cortex. J. Comparat. Neurol. [Res. Syst. Neurosci. 522, 225–259. https://doi.org/10.1002/cne.23458.

Marshall, P.J., Bar-Haim, Y., Fox, N.A., 2002. Development of the EEG from 5 months to 4 years of age. Clin. Neurophysiol. 113 (8), 1199–1208.

 Maurer, D., Hensch, T.K., 2012. Amblyopia: Background to the special issue on stroke recovery. Dev. Psychobiol. 54 (3), 224–238. https://doi.org/10.1002/dev.21022.
 McKyton, A., Ben-Zion, I., Doron, R., Zohary, E., 2015. The limits of shape recognition

following late emergence from blindness. Curr. Biol. 25 (18), 2373–2378. Notbohm, A., Kurths, J., Herrmann, C.S., 2016. Modification of brain oscillations via

rhythmic light stimulation provides evidence for entrainment but not for superposition of event-related responses. Front. Hum. Neurosci. 10 (FEB2016) https://doi.org/10.3389/fnhum.2016.00010.

Novikova, L.A., 1974. Blindness and the electrical activity of the brain: electroencephalographic studies of the effects of sensory impairment. Research series. American Foundation for the Blind) #24.

- Nurminen, L., Merlin, S., Bijanzadeh, M., Federer, F., Angelucci, A., 2018. Top-down feedback controls spatial summation and response amplitude in primate visual cortex. Nat. Commun. 9 (1), 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-018-04500-5.
- Pak, A., Ryu, E., Li, C., Chubykin, A.A., 2020. Top-Down Feedback Controls the Cortical Representation of Illusory Contours in Mouse Primary Visual Cortex. J. Neurosci. 40 (3), 648–660. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1998-19.2019.
- Pezzulo, G., Zorzi, M., Corbetta, M., 2021. The secret life of predictive brains: what's spontaneous activity for? Trends Cogn. Sci. 25 (9), 730–743. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/J.TICS.2021.05.007.
- Pitchaimuthu, K., Dormal, G., Sourav, S., Shareef, I., Rajendran, S.S., Ossandón, J.P., Kekunnaya, R., Röder, B., 2021. Steady state evoked potentials indicate changes in nonlinear neural mechanisms of vision in sight recovery individuals. Cortex 144, 15–28. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CORTEX.2021.08.001.

Putzar, L., Hötting, K., Rösler, F., Röder, B., 2007. The development of visual feature binding processes after visual deprivation in early infancy. Vision Res. 47 (20), 2616–2626.

- Putzar, L., Hötting, K., Röder, B., 2010. Early visual deprivation affects the development of face recognition and of audio-visual speech perception. Restor. Neurol. Neurosci. 28 (2), 251–257.
- Rajendran, S.S., Bottari, D., Shareef, I., Pitchaimuthu, K., Sourav, S., Troje, N.F., Kekunnaya, R., Röder, B., 2020. Biological action identification does not require early visual input for development. eNeuro 7 (5). https://doi.org/10.1523/ ENEURO.053419.2020.
- Riddle, J., Scimeca, J.M., Cellier, D., Dhanani, S., D'Esposito, M., 2020. Causal evidence for a role of theta and alpha oscillations in the control of working memory. Curr. Biol. 30 (9), 1748–1754.e4. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CUB.2020.02.065.
- Röder, B., Kekunnaya, R., 2021. Visual experience dependent plasticity in humans. In: Curr. Opin. Neurobiol., Vol. 67. Elsevier Ltd., pp. 155–162. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.conb.2020.11.011

Sauseng, P., Feldheim, J.F., Freunberger, R., Hummel, F.C., 2011. Right prefrontalTMS disrupts interregional anticipatory EEG alpha activity during shifting of visuospatial attention. Front. Psychol. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2011.00241.

- Schaworonkow, N., Voytek, B., 2021. Longitudinal changes in aperiodic and periodic activity in electrophysiological recordings in the first seven months of life. Dev. Cogn. Neurosci. 47, 100895.
- Sourav, S., Bottari, D., Kekunnaya, R., Röder, B., 2018. Evidence of a retinotopic organization of early visual cortex but impaired extrastriate processing in sight recovery individuals. J. Vis. 18 (3), 22.
- Spaak, E., de Lange, F.P., Jensen, O., 2014. Local entrainment of alpha oscillations by visual stimuli causes cyclic modulation of perception. J. Neurosci. 34 (10), 3536–3544. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4385-13.2014.

Thut, G., Schyns, P.G., Gross, J., 2011. Entrainment of perceptually relevant brain oscillations by non-invasive rhythmic stimulation of the human brain. Front. Psychol. 2 (JUL), 170. https://doi.org/10.3389/FPSYG.2011.00170.

van Kerkoerle, T., Self, M.W., Dagnino, B., Gariel-Mathis, M.-A., Poort, J., van der Togt, C., Roelfsema, P.R., 2014. Alpha and gamma oscillations characterize feedback and feedforward processing in monkey visual cortex. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 111 (40), 14332–14341.

VanRullen, R., 2016. Perceptual Cycles. Trend. Cognit. Sci. 20 (10), 723-735.

Vanrullen, R., MacDonald, J.S.P., 2012. Perceptual echoes at 10 Hz in the human brain. Curr. Biol. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2012.03.050.

Voytek, B., Kramer, M.A., Case, J., Lepage, K.Q., Tempesta, Z.R., Knight, R.T., Gazzaley, A., 2015. Age-related changes in 1/f neural electrophysiological noise. J. Neurosci. 35 (38), 13257–13265. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2332-14.2015.

Waschke, L., Wöstmann, M., Obleser, J., 2017. States and traits of neural irregularity in the age-varying human brain. Scient. Rep. 7 (1), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41 598-017-17766-4.

Wiesman, A.I., Wilson, T.W., 2019. Alpha frequency entrainment reduces the effect of visual distractors. J. Cogn. Neurosci. 31 (9), 1392–1403. https://doi.org/10.1162/ JOCN A 01422.

- Worden, M.S., Foxe, J.J., Wang, N., Simpson, G.V., 2000. Anticipatory biasing of visuospatial attention indexed by retinotopically specific alpha-band electroencephalography increases over occipital cortex. *The Journal of Neuroscience : The Official Journal of the Society for*. Neuroscience. https://doi.org/10.1523/ ineurosci.20-06-i0002.2000.
- Yusuf, P.A., Hubka, P., Tillein, J., Vinck, M., Kral, A., 2021. Deafness weakens interareal couplings in the auditory cortex. Front. Neurosci. 14, 1476. https://doi.org/ 10.3389/fnins.2020.625721.
- Yusuf, P.A., Lamuri, A., Hubka, P., Tillein, J., Vinck, M., Kral, A., 2022. Deficient recurrent cortical processing in congenital deafness. Front. Syst. Neurosci. 16 (February) https://doi.org/10.3389/fnsys.2022.806142.
- Zanto, T.P., Rubens, M.T., Thangavel, A., Gazzaley, A., 2011. Causal role of the prefrontal cortex in top-down modulation of visual processing and working memory. Nat. Neurosci. 14 (5), 656–661.
- Zoefel, B., ten Oever, S., Sack, A.T., 2018. The involvement of endogenous neural oscillations in the processing of rhythmic input: More than a regular repetition of evoked neural responses. Front. Neurosci. 12, 95. https://doi.org/10.3389/ fnins.2018.00095.

1 Supplementary Material

2 S1. Schematic of white-noise luminance spectrum generation



- Figure S1. Schematic of generating white-noise sequences of luminance values. A. An example of
 the random luminance sequence initially generated (blue). B. Original frequency decomposition
 of randomly generated sequence (blue) and the normalized flattened spectrum of the same
 sequence (pink). C. Reconversion of flattened spectrum from the previous step into luminance
 values corresponding to it. These luminance values are presented to the participant.
- 9

3

10 S2. Pilot testing

11 Pilot testing of the visual task described in Methods was conducted with two normally sighted

12 participants (Ages: 26 years, 21 years) in a darkened, electrically and acoustically shielded room

13 at the University of Hamburg, (Germany). We used a 73 electrode EEG setup and a monitor with

14 a refresh rate of 120 Hz. Using the same data analysis procedure as described in Methods, we

15 replicated results from VanRullen and MacDonald (2012). Both pilot participants demonstrated a

- 16 peak in the alpha range of the cross-correlation response spectra. Like in VanRullen and
- 17 MacDonald (2012), this response was most expressed at the occipital electrodes (O1 and O2).



CROSS-CORRELATION SPECTRA TOPOPLOTS (PILOT TESTING)

18

- 19 *Figure S2: Topographic representation displaying the power (dB) of the cross-correlation*
- 20 spectra of the EEG response and the luminance changes. Cross-correlation spectra from two
- 21 *normally sighted pilot participants are represented as a heatmap on the scalp, with higher*
- 22 values (red) corresponding to higher power at frequencies between 8-14 Hz.
- 23

24 S3. Peak amplitude of the stimulus-evoked spectrum



25

26 *Figure S3: Violin plot showing the distribution of the stimulus-evoked alpha amplitude at the*

27 peak frequency of normally sighted (SC) individuals and cataract-reversed individuals who

28 presented above-threshold evoked alpha peaks (CC_{Evoked+}).

29



30 S4. Peak alpha amplitude of the resting-state spectrum

31

32

Figure S4: Violin plot showing the distribution of the peak resting-state alpha amplitude in
 normally sighted (SC) and cataract-reversed (CC) individuals who presented above-threshold
 resting-state alpha peaks in the eyes open (RestEO+) and eyes closed (RestEC+) conditions.

S5. Correlation analysis of demographic data with peak stimulus-evoked alpha frequency and amplitude

The effect of chronological age on peak evoked alpha frequency and average evoked alpha amplitude across both the CC and SC groups was tested. Chronological age predicted neither frequency nor amplitude of evoked alpha activity across groups (Figure S5). Next, within the CC group, we tested whether duration of visual deprivation, time since surgery and visual acuity affected the peak evoked alpha frequency and average evoked alpha amplitude. None of these demographic and clinical factors were correlated with average amplitude or peak frequency of the evoked alpha oscillations (Figure S5).



47 *Figure S5: Correlations between the average stimulus-evoked alpha amplitude and peak evoked* 48 alpha frequency and demographic factors within the CC and SC groups. Correlations of the 49 average alpha amplitude (top panel) and the alpha peak frequency (lower panel) with A. visual 50 acuity in the CC group (measured using FrACT on the date of testing), B. time since surgery in 51 the CC group (calculated by subtracting the date of surgery in the first eye from the date of 52 testing), C. duration of visual deprivation (calculated by subtracting date of birth from date of surgery in the first eye) in the CC group and D. chronological age at testing in the CC (red) and 53 54 SC (green) group

55

46

56 S6. Behavioral data

57 We tested behavioral performance on the target detection task across all trials. Participants were 58 asked to indicate at the end of trial whether or not they saw a target on that trial. Accuracy was

- 59 defined as the ratio of correctly indicated rejections and hits to the total number of trials
- 60 performed by the participants. Accuracy did not differ between groups (t(12) = -1.012, p =
- 61 0.331).



62

63 Figure S6: Violin plot showing the distribution of the accuracy on target detection in cataract-

- 64 reversed (CC) and age-matched sighted control (SC) individuals.
- 65
- 66 S7. Demographic data of cataract-reversed individuals with an above-threshold evoked
- 67 alpha response present vs absent



68

69 Figure S7 Violin plots showing time since surgery, duration of blindness and chronological age

- 70 of cataract-reversed individuals with (CC_{Evoked+} black, present) and without (CC_{Evoked-}, red,
- 71 *absent) an above-threshold stimulus-evoked alpha peak.*



73 S8. Topoplots of stimulus-evoked alpha activity in SC and CC individuals

74

72

75 Figure S8. Topographic representation displaying the average power (a.u.) of the cross-

76 correlation spectra of the EEG response and the luminance changes normally sighted (SC)

77 participants (top) and cataract-reversed individuals (CC). Power is represented as a heatmap on

the scalp, with higher values (red) corresponding to higher power of the cross-correlation at

- 79 frequencies between 8-14 Hz.
- 80

81 S9. Extended participant aetiology

82 (Excel Spreadsheet)

- 83 *Table S9: Extended clinical information of the participants with a history of dense bilateral*
- 84 congenital cataracts (CC). NA indicates patient's data for the field were not available. FFL:
- 85 Fixating and Following Light; CF: Counting Fingers; PL: Perceiving Light. Duration of visual
- 86 deprivation was calculated by subtracting the date of birth from the date of surgery on the first
- 87 eye. Time since surgery was calculated by subtracting the date of surgery in the first eye from the
- 88 date of testing. Visual acuity reported was on the date of testing and measured using the
- 89 Freiburg Vision Test (FrACT) (Bach, 2007). Fundus photography was conducted for participant
- 90 *numbers 8,9 and 13.*
- 91

92 S10. Relationship between visual acuity improvement and alpha oscillations

93 In order to assess whether CC patients' stimulus-evoked alpha power showed a clear benefit of

surgery with significantly improved visual acuity values, we tested the correlation between the

95 difference in logMAR values Post-Pre surgery and stimulus-evoked alpha power in the 8-14 Hz

- range. Note that negative Post-Pre surgery logMAR values indicate greater improvement in
 vision. Further, for participants with Pre-Sx visual acuities in the CF range, we used plausible
 extensions to the FrACT scale in logMAR units as described by the authors (Lange et al., 2009;
 Schulze-Bonsel et al., 2006). Improvement in visual acuity did not significantly predict the
- 100 amplitude of stimulus-evoked alpha activity (r = -0.62, p = 0.103).
- 101



Figure S10. Correlation between stimulus-evoked alpha power and change/improvement in
visual acuity after cataract removal. Note that the x-axis is inverted in direction to indicate

105 greater improvement in vision.

106

102

107 **References**

- 108 Bach, M. (2007). The Freiburg Visual Acuity Test-variability unchanged by post-hoc re-analysis.
- 109 *Graefe's Archive for Clinical and Experimental Ophthalmology = Albrecht von Graefes*
- 110 Archiv Fur Klinische Und Experimentelle Ophthalmologie, 245(7), 965–971.
- 111 https://doi.org/10.1007/S00417-006-0474-4
- 112 Delorme, A. & Makeig, S. (2004). EEGLAB: An open source toolbox for analysis of single-trial
- 113 EEG dynamics including independent component analysis. *Journal of Neuroscience*
- 114 *Methods*, 134(1). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jneumeth.2003.10.009
- 115 Lange, C., Feltgen, N., Junker, B., Schulze-Bonsel, K. & Bach, M. (2009). Resolving the clinical
- acuity categories "hand motion" and "counting fingers" using the Freiburg Visual Acuity
- 117 Test (FrACT). Graefe's Archive for Clinical and Experimental Ophthalmology, 247(1),

- 118 137–142. https://doi.org/10.1007/S00417-008-0926-0/FIGURES/4
- 119 Plöchl, M., Ossandón, J. P. & König, P. (2012). Combining EEG and eye tracking:
- 120 Identification, characterization, and correction of eye movement artifacts in
- 121 electroencephalographic data. Frontiers in Human Neuroscience, 6(OCTOBER 2012), 1–
- 122 23. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnhum.2012.00278
- 123 Schulze-Bonsel, K., Feltgen, N., Burau, H., Hansen, L. & Bach, M. (2006). Visual acuities "hand
- 124 motion" and "counting fingers" can be quantified with the freiburg visual acuity test.
- 125 Investigative Ophthalmology & Visual Science, 47(3), 1236–1240.
- 126 https://doi.org/10.1167/IOVS.05-0981

127

	NYSTAGMUS	DESCRIPTION OF NYSTAGMUS IN MEDICAL REPORT	STRABISMUS	AMBLYOPIA WORSE IN	ABSORBED LENSES	INTRA- OCULAR	GENDER	PRE-SURGE ACUITY (I	RY VISUAL ogMAR)	DURATION OF VISUAL	TIME SINCE SURGERY	BINOCULAR VISUAL	FAMILY HISTORY	OPTICAL CORRECTION (CLOSEST TO DATE TESTED)
				EYE*				8	S	(YEARS)		DATE TESTED (logMAR)		
-	Yes	Horizontal, jerky nystagmus with moderate amplitude and low frequency	Yes	N	No	Yes	Male	ΕĒ.	FFL +	0.2	16.8	0.17	No ^{+†}	OD: plano, OS: -0.50 DS/-0.75 DC x 90, add: OU- +3.00 DS
2	Yes	Multiplanar, jerky nystagmus with moderate frequency and moderate amplitude	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	Male	1.18	1	20.8	22.7	6.0	Yestt	OD: -0.75 DS/-0.75 DC x 90, OS: +1.50 DS, add: OU- +3.00 DS
m	Yes	Horizontal, jerky nystagmus with moderate amplitude and fast frequency	Yes	Yes	Yes	N	Male	1.48	1.77	15.6	3.1	0.9	No ^{††}	OD: +9.75 DS/-2.00 DC x 165, OS: +10.50 DS/-1.50 DC x 95
4	Yes	Rotational, jerky nystagmus with moderate frequency and low amplitude	NA	No	Yes	Yes	Male	CF at 1.5 m	CF at 3m	7.0	8.2	0.62	No ^{††}	OD: 0.0 DS/-0.75 DC x 40, OS: -1.50 DS/-0.75 DC x 40, add: OU- +3.00 DS
ŝ	Yes	Multiplanar, jerky nystagmus	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	Male	NA	NA	14.0	18.4	0.88	Yest	OD: -2.25 DS/-2.00 DC x 90, OS: -2.50 DS/-2.25 DC x 50, add: OU- +3.00 DS
9	Yes	Horizontal, left beating jerky rystagmus with low amplitude and high frequency	Yes	No	Ŋ	Yes	Male	NA	NA	6.0	17.9	0.78	Yestt	OD: +4.50 D5/-3.00 DC x 70, OS: +10.00 D5/-4.50 DC x 90, add: OU- +3.00 D5
7	Yes	Horizontal, jerky nystagmus with high amplitude and high frequency	Yes	Yes	N	N	Male	PL+	PL+	0.8	12.4	0.54	No ^{+†}	OD: +15.00 DS/-1.00 DC x 180, OS: +13.00 DS/-1.00 DC x 180
00	Yes	Horizontal, jerky nystagmus with moderate frequency and amplitude	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Male	1.2	1.3	16.4	1.9	0.66	Yestt	OD: +0.75 DS/-2.00 DC x 180, OS: +0.75 DS/-2.00 DC x 180, add: OU- +3.00 DS
ŋ	Yes	Horizontal, jerky nystagmus of small amplitude and high frequency	Yes	Yes	Ŋ	No	Male	NA	NA	5.0	6.2 0	0.93	Yest†	OD: +14.00 DS, OS: +14.00 DS, add: OU- +3.50 DS
10	Yes	Horizontal, jerky nystagmus with moderate frequency and mild amplitude	Yes	No [±]	Ŋ	Yes	Female	NA	NA	5.0	11.0	0.5	Yest†	OD: +4.00 DS/-2.00 DC x 95, OS: +2.75 DS/-1.50 DC x 85, add: OU- +2.75 DS
11	Yes	Horizontal nystagmus which later changed to multiplanar nystagmus	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	Female	1.77	1.77	15.0	0.9	1.78	Yestt	OD: -1.00 DS, OS: 0.0 DS/-2.00 DC x 160, add: OU- +3.00 DS
12	Yes	Horizontal, jerky nysagmus	NA	No ²	No	No	Male	NA	NA	6.0	30.9	1.34	Yest	OD: +11.00 DS, OS: +12.00 DS, add: OU- +4.00 DS
13	Yes	Multiplanar nystagmus	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	Female	1.48	1.48	31.4	7.4	1.04	Yestt	OD: 0.00 DS, OS: 0.00 DS, add: OU- +3.00 DS
		* All participants lacked stereovision ¹	and presented Bilateral ambly	with developm opia, equal imp	ental amblyo <i>airment in bo</i>	pia due to p th the eyes	atterned vis ² Deprivatio	sual deprivatio nal amblyopio	on. †No recor	d of maternal i t no strabismu	rubella ++M s recorded	aternal rubell	a explicitly	excluded
Appendix III

Pant et al., (2021). The size-weight illusion is unimpaired in individuals with a history of congenital visual deprivation. Scientific Reports, Vol. 11, 1-13.

scientific reports



OPEN The size-weight illusion is unimpaired in individuals with a history of congenital visual deprivation

Rashi Pant¹, Maria J. S. Guerreiro¹, Pia Ley¹, Davide Bottari^{1,3}, Idris Shareef², Ramesh Kekunnaya² & Brigitte Röder¹

Visual deprivation in childhood can lead to lifelong impairments in multisensory processing. Here, the Size-Weight Illusion (SWI) was used to test whether visuo-haptic integration recovers after early visual deprivation. Normally sighted individuals perceive larger objects to be lighter than smaller objects of the same weight. In Experiment 1, individuals treated for dense bilateral congenital cataracts (who had no patterned visual experience at birth), individuals treated for developmental cataracts (who had patterned visual experience at birth, but were visually impaired), congenitally blind individuals and normally sighted individuals had to rate the weight of manually explored cubes that differed in size (Small, Medium, Large) across two possible weights (350 g, 700 g). In Experiment 2, individuals treated for dense bilateral congenital cataracts were compared to sighted individuals in a similar task using a string set-up, which removed haptic size cues. In both experiments, indistinguishable SWI effects were observed across all groups. These results provide evidence that early aberrant vision does not interfere with the development of the SWI, and suggest a recovery of the integration of size and weight cues provided by the visual and haptic modality.

Infants born with dense bilateral cataracts lack patterned vision until their sight is restored by cataract removal surgery. When surgery is performed late, i.e. beyond the first few weeks from birth, these individuals have been reported to suffer from permanent visual and multisensory impairments¹⁻⁵. These impairments are hypothesized to be a behavioral consequence of neural system changes, resulting from aberrant sensory input within a sensitive period of development^{6,7}. One way to assess visual and multisensory functional recovery in cataract reversal individuals is to test their susceptibility to well-known perceptual illusions. Perceptual illusions are typically extremely robust, suggesting that they arise from automatic processing principles⁸. Thus, the lack (or reduced likelihood) of perceiving a visual or multisensory illusion is indicative of impaired visual or multisensory processing, respectively.

Putzar et al.⁹ tested the automatic detection of illusory contours in congenital cataract reversal individuals who had undergone cataract surgery between 1 and 17 months of age. They observed deficits in individuals who experienced more than 5-6 months of visual deprivation, and interpreted this result as evidence for impairments in the automatic binding of visual features—i.e. visual feature binding. This finding was extended by McKyton et al.¹⁰ to a population of cataract reversal individuals who had undergone surgery only after the age of 5 years. These results suggested that early visual experience is required to acquire the neural circuits necessary for visual feature binding, providing evidence in favor of the sensitive period hypothesis. While this conclusion is compatible with the long developmental trajectory of illusory contour perception¹¹, other studies replicated this finding for individuals treated for monocular¹² (but not binocular) congenital cataracts.

Gandhi et al. tested the Ponzo and Müller-Lyer illusions, wherein equally long lines are perceived to be of different lengths depending on their surroundings¹³. Forty-eight hours after cataract surgery, they found a full recovery of this illusion¹³, despite the fact that sight was partially restored only at 8 years of age or later. Since both these illusions were thought to arise from the interpretation of two-dimensional perspective cues as threedimensional depth, they concluded that this process did not depend on early childhood vision.

¹Biological Psychology and Neuropsychology, University of Hamburg, 20146 Hamburg, Germany. ²Child Sight Institute, Jasti V Ramanamma Children's Eye Care Center, LV Prasad Eye Institute, Hyderabad, Telangana 500034, India. ³Molecular Mind Lab, IMT School for Advanced Studies, 55100 Lucca, Italy. [⊠]email: rashi.pant@ uni-hamburg.de

Illusions have additionally been used to investigate the extent of multisensory recovery following cataract surgery. In an initial study, Putzar et al.¹⁴ employed an audio-visual temporal capture effect, characterized as follows: if an auditory stimulus is presented with a short temporal offset with respect to a visual stimulus, the visual stimulus is often perceived as temporally shifted towards the time point when the sound was presented. This effect was significantly reduced in congenital cataract reversal individuals¹⁴. The residual visual impairments would have, according to the inverse efficiency rule of multisensory integration, predicted a larger capture in this group, suggesting that the multisensory binding process was impaired¹⁵. Similarly, cataract reversal individuals had a significantly reduced likelihood of showing the McGurk effect¹⁶. In this illusion, auditory speech, presented concurrently with an incongruent visual lip movement, produces a percept that matches neither the auditory nor the visual input. The absence of the McGurk effect in congenital cataract reversal individuals was subsequently shown to be related to a lack of multisensory enhancement in superior temporal brain regions, known to be essential for audio-visual speech perception $^{17-19}$. Finally, visual motion after-effects (perception of stationary stimuli as moving in the direction opposite to previously presented moving stimuli) were found after auditory motion adaptation in cataract-reversal individuals²⁰, i.e., a cross-modal after-effect which has not been found in normally sighted individuals. These results converge to the conclusion that multisensory binding processes do not fully recover after sight restoration in individuals with a history of congenital cataracts. Although recent studies with cataract reversal individuals have demonstrated recovery of multisensory redundancy effects^{2,21} and partial recovery for auditory-visual simultaneity judgements²², multisensory binding based on more complex features, such as speech¹⁴, seems to depend on early visual input.

It is currently unclear to what degree visuo-haptic and visuo-motor processing recovers after a transient phase of congenital visual deprivation. A developmental study with children found that visuo-haptic integration reaches adult-like performance only by 10 years of age²³. Prior to that, children show signs of either vision or touch dominating visuo-tactile perception. Evidence from studies in a small number of individuals who had dense (but not necessarily congenital) bilateral cataracts suggested a quick emergence of visuo-haptic interactions after surgery, when these individuals were tested in vision-to-touch object matching tasks ($n = 1^{24}$; $n = 5^{25}$). However, later single case studies pointed towards impaired spatial representations for visuo-tactile localization after at least two years of visual deprivation^{26,27}. Further, a study testing sight recovery individuals on an automatic imitation task, which mapped vision to motoric performance, found performance deficits even two years after surgery²⁸.

A phenomenon observed in typical visuo-haptic development is the perception of the size-weight illusion (henceforth referred to as the SWI), which has been described as "immutable"²⁹. The SWI is an illusion perceived when two unequally sized objects of the same weight are compared—the smaller object is perceived as being heavier than the larger one.

The "classical" SWI is assumed to require the integration of visual and haptic input (for review, see Dijker)³⁰. Though the SWI has been documented for a long time, there is still a debate on whether it occurs due to conflicting sensorimotor input, or is a purely cognitive effect due to a mismatch in expectations³¹. At present, the contribution of early visual experience to the occurrence of the illusion is unclear.

Several lines of evidence have suggested a crucial role of ongoing visual input in the perception of the SWI. First, the SWI was reported to disappear when visual cues were not presented to normally sighted participants, even if they were allowed to access them beforehand, suggesting a crucial role of continued visual perception for the illusion, and providing a strong argument that the SWI reflects visuo-haptic integration³². Additionally, the SWI was observed to increase with an increase in visual disparity between sizes; if two objects of the same weight had a greater difference between their visually perceived sizes, the illusion perceived was stronger³³. This was found to be true even in the absence of haptically perceived size differences, when visually perceived size was varied using objects with adjustable heights but constant surface area³⁴. Finally, in a rapid adaptation study using functional MRI with an SWI task, the ventral premotor area (PMv) responded more when the SWI was perceived, i.e. when participants compared the weights of two objects of different sizes and the same weight, than when participants compared objects of the same size and weight³⁵. Importantly, the PMv did not show an independent adaptation to size and weight properties, but adapted to the combination of these properties, therefore providing neural evidence for the integration of concurrent but separate sensory input. These results suggest that early visual deprivation might affect the SWI, if the ability to integrate visual and haptic cues does not recover.

The SWI was observed to occur when size information was perceived exclusively visually (i.e. using a string set-up to weigh objects, preventing individuals from using haptic cues to estimate size) or exclusively haptically (i.e. blindfolding individuals to prevent them from accessing visual estimates of size)^{36,37}. However, both these studies reported that the SWI was smaller when the task presented sighted individuals with size cues that were exclusively visual, as compared to when the task was haptic or visuo-haptic. Moreover, congenitally blind individuals have been reported to experience the SWI as well^{37,38}. These results would lead us to hypothesize that the SWI emerges independent of visual input, and thus, should manifest unimpaired in sight-recovery individuals too—at least if the objects are perceived exclusively haptically. However, there might be some competition between belatedly available visual input and other sensory modalities^{39,40}, which might worsen visual performance^{14,20}. Consistent with this assumption, a reduced visuo-haptic SWI was reported in visually impaired individuals with some residual visual capabilities⁴¹. Therefore, it could be hypothesized that the visuo-haptic SWI, both with and without haptic size information, is reduced in individuals who recover from transient congenital or developmental visual deprivation.

The second account for the occurrence of the SWI has proposed that this illusion is a result of violated expectations, and originates from top-down rather than bottom up processes^{42–45}. If the SWI is a result of exclusively visual statistics gathered over the lifespan—i.e. an increased amount of force on the larger object because of the belief that smaller objects should weigh less—then individuals who have not had access to vision early in life, when tested with and without haptic size information, should either not manifest the illusion, or perceive it to a lower degree.



Figure 1. (A) Large-sized cube stimulus placed in the dominant hand, demonstrating the procedure for Experiment 1. (B) The six stimuli used in the study (front to back: Small, Medium, Large, 350 g and 700 g respectively), with attachments for Experiment 2. (C) String set-up of Experiment 2. A smooth ribbon is used to lift the cube during each trial, ensuring that only visual size cues are available to the participant.

In order to test for the dependence of visuo-haptic interactions on early visual input, we performed two experiments using an SWI paradigm employed by Buckingham and Goodale, wherein subjects were asked to rate cubes across three sizes (Small, Medium, Large) and two weights (350 g, 700 g) on how heavy they thought they were⁴². The first experiment tested the "classic" visuo-haptic SWI, that is the SWI when simultaneously receiving visual and haptic size information. A group of dense bilateral congenital cataract reversal individuals (CC) as well as a group of individuals who had suffered developmental cataracts (DC) were tested, and compared to a group of normally sighted controls (SC). We additionally ran and separately analyzed data from two congenitally blind (CB) individuals to pilot whether we would replicate the findings from Ellis and Lederman³⁷. Such an illusion would necessarily be based on exclusively haptic estimates of size. The second experiment used a string set-up to ensure only visual size cues were available to participants, in order to isolate the visual contribution to the SWI^{36,37,46}. A group of congenital cataract reversal individuals (CC) and a group of normally sighted controls (SC) were compared. We hypothesized that in Experiment 1, the SWI would be impaired in CC compared to SC and DC individuals, due to aberrant visual experience interfering with multisensory integration^{39,40}, and that in Experiment 2, CC individuals would not experience the SWI when deprived of haptic size information^{37,46}.

Results

Sight-recovery individuals show an intact visuo-haptic SWI (Experiment 1). Experiment 1 allowed participants to access both visual and haptic estimates of size (Fig. 1A). When z-scored weight ratings were assessed in a size-by-weight-by-group analysis of variance (ANOVA with repeated measures), all groups performed the task in a principled manner, as indicated by a main effect of weight, wherein the 700 g weight was rated as heavier than the 350 g weight (F(1,23)=639.15, p < 0.001, $\eta_g^2 = 0.85$).

There was a main effect of size, demonstrating the presence of the SWI (F(2,46) = 147.11, p < 0.001, η_g^2 = 0.74), i.e. participants perceived smaller sized objects of the same weight to be heavier. Crucially, the group-by-size (*F*(4,46) = 0.96, *p* = 0.419, η_g^2 = 0.03), group-by-weight (*F*(2,23) = 2.63, *p* = 0.094, η_g^2 = 0.04), and size-by-weight-by-group interactions (*F*(4,46) = 1.64, *p* = 0.181, η_g^2 = 0.05) were all not significant. Therefore, CC individuals displayed an indistinguishable SWI from DC and SC individuals (Fig. 2).

We found a size-by-weight interaction, indicating that the illusion was stronger for the 700 g than the 350 g weight (F(2,46) = 11.82, p = 0.001, $\eta_g^2 = 0.15$). In order to follow up on this effect, two post-hoc 3 (size) × 3 (group) repeated measures ANOVAs were conducted, separated by the weight condition. There was a main effect of size for both the 350 g (F(2,46) = 59.08, p < 0.001, $\eta_g^2 = 0.66$) and the 700 g (F(2,46) = 108.24, p < 0.001, $\eta_g^2 = 0.79$) weights, demonstrating that the SWI was highly significant for both weights in all groups. Again, we found no group-by-size interaction (350 g: F(4,46) = 0.57, p = 0.63, $\eta_g^2 = 0.04$; 700 g: F(4,46) = 1.74, p = 0.179, $\eta_g^2 = 0.11$), indicating that the degree to which the three groups experienced the SWI was indistinguishable (Fig. 3).

Paired t-tests across the three groups confirmed that participants experienced the smaller cube as heavier than the medium (350 g: t(24) = 8.28, p < 0.001; 700 g: t(24) = 7.64, p < 0.001) and large cube (350 g: t(24) = 9.95, p < 0.001; 700 g: t(24) = 11.52, p < 0.001) of the same weight, and the medium sized cube as heavier than the large cube of the same weight (350 g: t(24) = 5.97, p < 0.001; 700 g: t(24) = 8.49, p < 0.001).

Both CB individuals tested showed an impressively clear SWI (Fig. 2). We found that their z-scores (Fig. 2) fell within the core range of the remaining groups. Thus, these two participants replicated prior results^{37,46}.



Figure 2. Experiment 1 (with visual and haptic size information); z-scored weight ratings of all individuals in the Sighted Control (SC, yellow), the Developmental Cataract group (DC, blue), the Congenital Cataract group (CC, orange), and two Congenitally Blind (CB, red) individuals, t (**A**) for the 350 g and (**B**) for 700 g weights (Experiment 1).



Figure 3. Experiment 1 (with visual and haptic size information); average z-scored weight ratings for the Small (S), Medium (M) and Large (L) cubes across the Sighted Control (SC), Developmental Cataract (DC) and Congenital Cataract (CC) groups, for the 350 g and 700 g weights (Experiment 1). Error bars depict standard error of mean (SEM).

SWI Index. In order to obtain a measure of illusion strength for each individual, we calculated an SWI Index by subtracting the mean z-scored weight judgment of the largest cube from that of the smallest cube, separately for each weight.

We conducted separate one way ANOVAs for the 350 g and 700 g weights to assess the effect of group on the calculated SWI Index. The CC, DC, and SC groups did not differ in the strength of the illusion—neither for the 350 g (F(2,23) = 0.72, p = 0.497, $\eta_g^2 = 0.06$) nor the 700 g weights (F(2,23) = 0.74, p = 0.487, $\eta_g^2 = 0.06$) (Fig. 3). We further tested these null findings against effect sizes obtained from studies in the literature. Based on a comparable study and task found for the 700 g weight, we used equivalence analyses⁴⁷ to confirm that the SWI index was equivalent in the CC, DC and SC groups—i.e. the SWI indices were within the bounds obtained by Buckingham and Goodale⁴² (the presence of any meaningful effect of group was rejected with all p's < 0.024, see Supporting Information S1).

The two CB individuals tested showed SWI indices within the range of the other groups (350 g: -1.145 and -1.034; 700 g: -1.507 and -0.646), demonstrating a full strength SWI.

Sight recovery individuals show an SWI with exclusively visual size estimates (Experiment 2). Experiment 2 was performed as a follow up to the results from Experiment 1, in order to assess the occurrence of the SWI in the absence of haptic size cues (Fig. 1B,C). Since we found no group differences in Experi-





ment 1, and our a priori hypothesis was restricted to the effects of transient congenital patterned visual deprivation on the development of the SWI, we ran two groups: CC and SC individuals. Further, given the limitations on recruitment of special populations, as our goal with this experiment was to isolate the visual contribution to the full-sized SWI observed in CC individuals, DC individuals were not tested. In light of the occurrence of a fullsized SWI with (necessarily) exclusively haptic size cues in CB individuals in Experiment 1 and prior studies^{37,46}, we did not repeat an additional haptics-only condition.

In a group-by-weight-by-size ANOVA performed for Experiment 2, we obtained a main effect of weight $(F(1,11) = 110.80, p < 0.001, \eta_g^2 = 0.833)$, indicating that participants performed the task in a principled manner. Additionally, the main effect of size was significant $(F(2,22) = 8.82, p = 0.009, \eta_g^2 = 0.203)$, confirming an SWI with this task across groups (Fig. 4). The CC participants did not differ from the SC group in their performance on this task, as evidenced by the lack of a significant main effect of group $(F(1,11) = 0.158, p = 0.999, \eta_g^2 < 0.001)$, and of significant group-level interactions (group-by-size: $F(2,22) = 0.048, p = 0.861, \eta_g^2 = 0.002$; group-by-weight: $F(1,11) = 1.866, p = 0.199, \eta_g^2 = 0.077$; group-by-size-by-weight: $F(2,22) = 0.556, p = 0.509, \eta_g^2 = 0.009$).

Across groups, participants experienced the smaller cube as heavier than the medium cube (350 g: t(12) = 2.03, p = 0.056; 700 g: t(12) = 2.02, p = 0.066) as well as the large cube (350 g: t(12) = 2.74, p = 0.018; 700 g: t(12) = 2.86, p = 0.014) of the same weight, and the medium sized cube as heavier than the large cube of the same weight (350 g: t(12) = 2.62, p = 0.023; 700 g: t(12) = 3.03, p = 0.010), confirming the presence of the SWI with this paradigm (Fig. 5).

SWI Index. The CC and SC groups did not differ in the strength of the illusion for either the 350 g (F(1,11) = 0.169, p = 0.688, $\eta_g^2 = 0.015$), or the 700 g weights (F(1,11) = 0.001, p = 0.971, $\eta_g^2 < 0.001$) (Fig. 5). When compared using equivalence testing for the 700 g weight, conducted based on available effect sizes in the literature, we found the SWI indices to be equivalent, significantly rejecting any effect of group (both p's < 0.006, see Supporting Information S1).

The visual contribution to the SWI is identical in sight recovery and sighted individuals. We compared the SC and CC groups of Experiment 1 and 2 in a group-by-weight-by-experimental task ANOVA, in order to assess whether the groups differed between how they performed when both visual and haptic size estimates were available, compared to when only visual size information was available. We confirmed that the SWI was significantly stronger in Experiment 1 compared to Experiment 2 (main effect of Experimental Task: F(1,26) = 56.396, p < 0.001, $\eta_g^2 = 0.511$), and stronger for the 700 g than the 350 g weight (main effect of Weight: F(1,26) = 9.089, p = 0.006, $\eta_g^2 = 0.153$) (Fig. 6). The group-by-experiment interaction (F(1,26) = 0.357, p = 0.555, $\eta_g^2 = 0.006$), group-by-weight interaction (F(1,26) = 1.083, p = 0.307, $\eta_g^2 = 0.012$), and group-by-weight-by-experiment interaction were all non-significant (F(1,26) = 0.631, p = 0.424, $\eta_g^2 = 0.012$), confirming that in both experiments CC individuals perceived an indistinguishably strong SWI from SC individuals, suggesting that the "visual" contribution to the SWI did not differ in the two groups.



Figure 5. Experiment 2 (with only visual size information); average z-scored weight ratings for the Small (S), Medium (M) and Large (L) cubes for the Sighted Control group (SC) and Congenital Cataract group (CC), for the 350 g and 700 g weights. Error bars depict standard error of mean (SEM).



Figure 6. Size-Weight Illusion Indices across groups and for the two CB individuals for Experiment 1 (with visual and haptic size information, black bars, labelled VH) and Experiment 2 (with only visual size information, gray bars, labelled V), for the 350 g and 700 g weights. The y-Axis depicts the difference in z-scores between the large and small cubes of each weight, averaged for each group (CC, DC, and SC). Error bars depict the SEM.

Relationship between strength of the SWI and the duration of visual deprivation. To test for a possible effect of duration of patterned visual deprivation on the strength of the SWI, we calculated the correlation between age at surgery and the average SWI Index (across 350 g and 700 g) for CC individuals. This correlation was not significant neither for Experiment 1 (r=0.05, t(4)=0.10, p=0.463), nor did the correlation reach significance for Experiment 2 (r=-0.76, t(4)=-2.357, p=0.078). Additionally, no correlation was observed between illusion size and age at time tested in either group (see Supporting Information S4.3).

Discussion

The present study investigated whether the manifestation of the size-weight illusion (SWI) depends on patterned visual experience after birth. We tested sight recovery individuals with a history of dense bilateral congenital cataracts, and compared this group to sight recovery individuals with a history of developmental cataracts, as well as a group of normally sighted controls. Our results demonstrated a significant "classical" SWI (with visual and haptic size information available) in all groups; indeed, the size of the SWI was indistinguishable between the three groups. Furthermore, we replicated previous results from Ellis and Lederman³⁷ and showed that two

permanently congenitally blind individuals experienced the SWI to a degree that fell within the range of all the other participants.

We additionally used a string set-up in Experiment 2 to test whether the CC group used visual size cues, rather than relying only on haptic size cues in Experiment 1⁴⁶. As in Experiment 1, the SWI experienced with exclusively visual size information was equivalent across sight recovery individuals with a history of congenital cataracts, and sighted controls. Together, these results suggest that the visuo-haptic SWI is resilient to atypical visual experience after birth.

No sensitive period effects for visuo-haptic integration as tested by the SWI. A previous study of individuals who were operated upon for dense bilateral congenital cataracts reported that in an object matching task conducted two days-post-surgery, while unimodal tactile and visual performance was observed to be at ceiling, tactile to visual mapping was found to be severely impaired (Held et al., n = 5)⁴⁸. However, the authors observed that this ability rapidly improved over the next five days. A subsequent case study of sight recovery suggested that visuo-tactile processing recovers in object recognition and object matching tasks within three days of sight restoration, despite a lack of visual experience after birth (Chen et al., n = 1)²⁴. As these studies tested participants closer to the date of surgery, and given that the sight recovery individuals in the present study were all tested one year from surgery (in order to exclude acute but transient effects of surgery) our findings are consistent with these existing studies on visuo-haptic object recognition. However, both Held et al. and Chen et al. tested visuo-haptic transfer through object matching tasks. By contrast, we provide evidence for the recovery of visuo-haptic integration (i.e. a unified percept by fusing input from both sensory modalities) despite early patterned visual deprivation, therefore extending these studies^{40,49}. Our findings might be considered surprising in light of two prospective studies, which suggested a protracted developmental pathway for the SWI. The first study observed that the SWI increased in size after the age of 5 years⁴³. They related this increase to the development of abstract reasoning skills. However, abstract reasoning explained no more than about 10% of the effect, and the SWI existed even in the youngest group. A second study showed that typically developing children did not optimally integrate visuo-haptic input in an adult-like manner until the age of 10 years²³. However, optimal integration is typically defined as optimal cue integration as predicted by forced fusion models. These models weight individual cues according to their relative reliability, to derive a multisensory outcome. It has more recently been demonstrated that in situations where it is ambiguous whether or not to integrate sensory information, the data from children as young as 5 years of age, like those of adults, are better explained by causal inference models⁵⁰. Given that some (n=4) of our CC participants had been older than 10 years of age at the time of surgery, our results suggest that patterned vision during this period of multisensory development was not crucial for the typical manifestation of the SWI, with either visuo-haptic or only visual size information.

These results showing an indistinguishable SWI in sight recovery individuals, both with a congenital as well as a developmental history of transient blindness, provide evidence that the multisensory processes underlying the SWI are resilient to atypical visual experience. First, participants of both cataract groups still suffered visual impairments at the time of testing. Nevertheless, the SWI was not smaller in magnitude in either group, compared to normally sighted individuals. A smaller SWI in sight recovery individuals would have been expected from the aforementioned reliability-based optimal integration account⁵¹. Second, neither years of blindness nor the timing of the transient phase of blindness (developmental vs. congenital) had a significant influence on the size of the SWI. Finally, the extent of the "visual" contribution to the SWI was indistinguishable between sight recovery and sighted individuals. This identical behavioral performance, regardless of atypical visual history across groups and tasks, provides strong evidence that visuo-haptic processing, as assessed with the SWI, does not rely on sensitive period plasticity to develop normally.

It is possible that different underlying neural mechanisms support the identically sized SWI in sight recovery individuals⁵². As sensitive periods are properties of neural circuits, further neuroimaging studies need to confirm whether visuo-haptic processing develops normally in the absence of typical visual experience^{6,53}. Additionally, the absence of sensitive period effects in one tested behavior does not contradict the general role of sensitive periods will, in the long run, be essential to uncovering the general principles of functional brain development.

To the best of our knowledge, the present study is the first to conclusively show the manifestation of a fullstrength SWI in sight recovery individuals, both for the condition with visual and haptic size information, as well as the condition with only visual size information. Further, strict criteria were used for the inclusion of sight recovery participants, in order to ensure high homogeneity of etiology within the CC and DC group. We chose a retrospective, developmental approach with individuals who underwent cataract reversal surgery before the age of 23 years, and were older than 8 years of age at the time of testing. After the age of 8 years, no further increase in the SWI had been observed in prospective studies⁴³. The present study did not find any difference in the size of the SWI, neither for the visuo-haptic nor for the visual experiment. A significant, equivalent SWI was consistently perceived by individual participants across all groups, despite the fact that in the cataract groups, age at surgery, time since surgery and visual acuity at time of testing varied, potentially increasing between group differences. Our stringent inclusion criteria restricted the sample size within a special population, however, all individual subjects showed the SWI with established paradigms in a consistent pattern (Figs. 2,3), allowing us to interpret the lack of group differences and confirming them with equivalence testing. We consider these results to be highly robust evidence against the dependence of the SWI on early visual input, therefore suggesting the lack of a sensitive period for the development of the SWI.

Mechanisms of the SWI. What are the possible mechanisms by which the SWI could manifest in CC individuals? While our study does not allow us to disentangle the models explaining the occurrence of the SWI,

interpreting our results in light of these hypotheses can shed light on the mechanisms of the SWI. Below, we engage with the dominant models of the SWI.

On one hand, it could be assumed that the SWI is a purely haptic process, as was consistent with earlier reports of the SWI manifesting in congenitally blind adults, and replicated in two congenitally bind adults in the present study^{37,38}. However, a purely haptic account of the SWI would have predicted the absence of the SWI when haptic size cues are unavailable to sight recovery individuals. In fact, prior studies employing a string setup in congenitally blind individuals, as expected, did not observe an SWI^{37,46}. Instead, in the present study, sight recovery individuals perceived an SWI even when only visual size cues were available. Additionally, a recent study observed that congenitally blind individuals experience the SWI without haptic size cues, but when size estimates were obtained through echolocation⁴⁶. Together, this evidence strongly argues against an exclusively haptic account of the SWI.

On the other hand, it has been suggested that the SWI is a multisensory phenomenon occurring due to a conflict between concurrent visual (size) and haptic (weight) sensory input^{30,33,57}. Within this framework, our data suggest that while the SWI can develop through haptic input alone, it might nevertheless be modulated by visual input, due to the recovery of visuo-haptic processing despite atypical visual experience^{22,24,25}. Indeed, full or partial recovery of visuo-tactile functions has been reported, depending on the task. While prior studies have shown that in a simultaneity judgement task designed to test a unified multisensory percept, visuo-tactile performance was unimpaired despite a lack of early visual experience^{21,22}, sight recovery individuals did not show normal visuo-tactile temporal order biases^{27,58}. Additionally, our findings of a larger SWI when both visual and haptic size information was available than when only a visual size estimate was possible, in both sight recovery and sighted individuals, fit with a multisensory framework for the occurrence of the SWI^{36,37}.

Conclusions

The occurrence of the Size-Weight Illusion (SWI), both when visual and haptic size information was available, as well as when only visual size information was assessable, was resilient to atypical visual experience within the first months and years of life. These results provide strong evidence that the visuo-haptic processes underlying the SWI do not require typical visual experience within a sensitive period for normal development. Further studies are needed to explore whether the SWI is supported by the same neural mechanisms in typical and atypical development, by employing neuroscience techniques³⁵.

Methods

Ethical approval. All participants, as well as their legal guardians in case of minors, provided written and informed consent. Testing was conducted after obtaining ethical approval from the German Psychological Society (DGP) and the local ethics board of the Hyderabad Eye Research Foundation. All methods and tests were performed in accordance with the relevant guidelines and regulations of both collaborating institutions.

Experiment 1. Participants. We tested three groups of individuals. The first group consisted of seven individuals born with dense bilateral cataracts, who subsequently underwent cataract removal surgery (referred to as CC individuals: 3 females, 4 males; Age = 8-35 years, M = 21.2 years, SD = 9.8, Table 1). The CC individuals were diagnosed by ophthalmologists and optometrists at the LV Prasad Eye Institute (LVPEI) in Hyderabad (India). They were tested by the some of the authors, partially with the help of a translator, in English, Hindi or Telugu. The data from four additional CC individuals were excluded due to unwillingness to cooperate (n = 2) or a documented developmental delay (n = 2). Individuals were categorized as part of this group based on the presence of dense bilateral cataracts at birth, a pre-surgery visual acuity of counting fingers at 1 m or less (barring absorption of lenses), presence of nystagmus, occlusion of fundus/retina, and immediate family members who had also been diagnosed with dense bilateral congenital cataracts. Duration of blindness was calculated by subtracting the date of birth from the date of the first eye surgery (M = 13.21 years, SD = 8.24, Range = 2–23.05 years). One individual did not have his precise date of surgery information available (operated after 6 months of age), and was excluded from duration calculations. Visual acuity pre-surgery in the better eye ranged from a minimum of light perception (PL+) to a maximum of counting fingers close to the face (CFCF). One participant had been able to count fingers at a distance of 3 m pre-surgery. We included this participant due to clearly partially absorbed lenses (OD Visual Acuity: counting fingers at 1.5 m, OS Visual Acuity: counting fingers at 3 m). All other criteria such as nystagmus and family history pointed towards the presence of dense bilateral cataracts at birth. Visual acuity post-surgery in the better eye in this group ranged from a minimum of counting fingers at a distance of 1 m to a maximum of 20/40. All individuals included in this group lacked patterned vision at birth, in accordance with the criteria set by the WHO⁵⁹.

The second group consisted of nine individuals who had either partial congenital cataracts or developmental cataracts, and were subsequently operated upon to remove the cataracts (referred to as DC individuals: 2 females, 7 males; Age = 8-37 years, M = 14.8 years, SD = 9.2, Table 1). The testing procedure was the same as that of the CC group. Comparing this group with the CC individuals allowed us to isolate effects caused by transient patterned visual deprivation at birth from effects due to general visual impairments caused by a changed periphery. Visual acuity pre-surgery in the better eye ranged from following light to a maximum of 20/80. Visual acuity post-surgery in the better eye ranged from 20/1200 to 20/20. All individuals included in this group did not lack patterned vision at birth, but suffered from degraded visual input for some or all of their early childhood, therefore providing a control group for the possibility that any observed impairments of the CC group were not specific to visual input at birth, but due to degraded visual input at any stage of life.

				Absorbed Presence of nystagmus		Pre-surgery visual acuity		Post-surgery visual acuity		Duration of	Time since		
Sub	Age (years)	Group	Gender		Presence of nystagmus	Right	Left	Right	Left	(years)	surgery (years)		
Experiment 1													
1	23.25	СС	Male	No	Yes	Unknown	Unknown	CF (close to face)	20/126	Unknown			
2	35.54	CC	Male	No	Yes	Unknown	Unknown	20/120	20/40	2.00	33.54		
3	21.78	CC	Female	Yes	Yes	Unknown	Unknown	20/317	20/252	21.02	0.76		
4	16.97	СС	Female	No	Yes	PL+PR+	CF (Close to Face)	PL+PR+	CF at 1 m	16.05	0.92		
5	30.76	CC	Male	No	Yes	Unknown	Unknown	20/400	20/800	23.05	7.72		
6	11.24	CC	Female	No	Yes	PL+	PL+	20/125	CF at 0.5 m	10.16	1.08		
7	8.62	CC	Male	Yes	Yes	CF at 1.5 m	CF at 3 m	20/500	20/126	7.00	1.62		
8	18.34	DC	Female		No	FL+	FL+	20/60	20/30	-	-		
9	37.02	DC	Male		Yes	20/200	20/300	20/200	20/200	-	-		
10	10.05	DC	Male		Yes	PL+PR inac- curate	PL+PR inac- curate	20/1200	20/1200	-	-		
11	8.62	DC	Male		No	20/100	20/100	20/20	20/20	-	-		
12	8.01	DC	Male		No	20/80	20/100	20/40	20/40	-	-		
13	10.15	DC	Female		No	PL+PR+	CF at 2 m	20/170	20/16	-	-		
14	17.71	DC	Male		No	6/60	CF at 1 m	20/63	CF at 0.5 m	-	-		
15	14.24	DC	Male		Yes	FL+	Poor fixation	20/40	CF at 0.5 m	-	-		
Experiment 2													
1	33.09	CC	Male	No	Yes	Unknown	Unknown	CF at 1 m	20/200	14.00	19.10		
2	15.24	CC	Male	Yes	Yes	CF at 1.5 m	CF at 3 m	20/500	20/126	7.00	8.24		
3	18.30	CC	Male	Yes	Yes	20/500	20/800	20/125	20/500	16.45	1.85		
4	17.28	CC	Female	Yes	Yes	20/600	CF at 1 m	20/250	20/500	15.42	1.85		
5	37.39	CC	Male	No	Yes	Unknown	Unknown	20/400	20/800	23.05	14.34		
6	44.74	CC	Male	Yes	Yes	20/300	Unknown	20/125	20/200	22.02	22.72		

Table 1. Participant characteristics for all sight recovery participants in Experiments 1 and 2. Age was calculated on the day of testing, and duration of blindness was calculated by subtracting date of birth from date of first surgery. Time since surgery was calculated by subtracting date of first surgery from date of testing. Visual acuity is reported separately for each eye (*CF* counting fingers, *PL* perception of light, *PR* projection of rays in all quadrants, *FL* fixate and follow light).

The third group consisted of 10 individuals with normal or corrected-to-normal vision and who had no history of visual deficits or eye injuries (referred to as SC group: 7 females 3 males; Age = 19-36 years, M = 25.8 years, SD = 5.3). SC individuals were tested at the University of Hamburg, Hamburg, Germany, in German.

In addition to these three groups, we ran two congenitally blind individuals who had no more than light perception since birth and at the time of the study (referred to as CB individuals: 1 female, 1 male; Ages = 33 and 44 years). They were tested at the University of Hamburg, Germany, using German. Their data were analyzed separately due to the small group size. The purpose of including these two participants was to replicate the presence of the SWI in individuals who totally lack vision since birth, but not for statistical comparisons between groups^{37,46}.

All individuals included in the data analysis reported no history of neurological or cognitive impairments. All participants were right handed, and used that hand to perform the task.

Stimuli and apparatus. Participants were tested using a free-rating, absolute-magnitude-estimation procedure: they freely chose a rating scale of their preference and estimated how much an object weighed on that scale⁴². This scale was adjustable during the course of the experiment.

Participants rated one of 6 gray plastic cubes that were placed on their palms. The cubes were small (5 cm side length), medium (7.5 cm side length) or large (10 cm side length), and had one of two different weights (either 350 g or 700 g) (Fig. 1). The weight was invisibly fixed in one corner, with the rest of the inside being hollow to ensure the same distribution of weight in each cube. Participants were instructed to hold the dominant arm bent at 90 degrees, and for each trial, the cube was placed on the palm of their dominant hand such that it was clearly visible. Participants were required to lift each cube for approximately 15 s, and to judge its weight. Upon the rating response, the experimenter removed the cube from the participants' hand.

We used random orders, and in one run, each cube was lifted 5 times. We repeated this across two runs, leading to a total of 60 trials. For participants who did not complete 60 trials, we used only the completed run of 30 trials (CC: n = 1; DC: n = 3). Participants were instructed not to rotate the arm for additional sensory cues, and not to throw the cube in the air and catch it again. This procedure took around 30 minutes in total.

Data analysis. In order to compare subjective judgements across participants, rating scores were z-transformed within each participant. This was done by subtracting the individual's mean weight judgement from each weight judgement, and dividing by the standard deviation⁴². Due to this z-scoring, all weight judgements reflect deviations from the same mean (zero), with higher z values indicating heavier weight judgements. In order to be included in the data analysis, participants had to consistently rate the 350 g cubes as lighter than the 700 g cubes, to exclude the possibility of a response bias as opposed to a principled difference in perceived weight due to size. This was true of all participants in Experiment 1.

We used frequentist statistics to analyze the data. Z-scores across participants were submitted to a mixed ANOVA. Our model considered two within-group factors—namely, weight (2 levels: 350 g, 700 g) and size (3 levels: small, medium, large), and one between-group factor—group (3 levels: CC, DC, and SC) in a repeated measures ANOVA. Levene's test for Homogeneity of Variance was performed on the z-score data to ensure that the scores do not violate the assumption of equal variance for parametric testing, due to unequal sample sizes between groups (F(2,23) = 0.27, p = 0.764). Post-hoc ANOVAs and t-tests were performed according to the resulting interactions, and post-hoc equivalence testing was conducted to confirm the results (Supplementary Information S1).

All analyses were conducted in R (version 3.3.2), using the ez-package (https://github.com/mike-lawrence/ ez). This package corrects for violations of sphericity when there are more 2 levels in the within subject variable (size) via the Greenhouse–Geisser correction. All effect sizes reported are generalized eta squared (η_e^2) values.

This study was not pre-registered, and sample sizes were limited by strict inclusion criteria within a special population.

Experiment 2. Data for this experiment was collected at LVPEI, Hyderabad, India, by the some of the authors, partially with the help of a translator, in English, Hindi or Telugu.

Participants. The CC group consisted of six individuals defined and classified the same way as in Experiment 1 (1 female, 5 males; Age = 17-44.7 years, M = 27.67 years, SD = 12.37; Duration of blindness = 2-22.01 years, M = 12.98 years, SD = 7.28, Table 1). An additional CC participant was excluded as they did not consistently rate the 350 g cubes as less heavy than the 700 g cubes, indicating that they were not performing the task in a principled manner, possibly due to translation issues (see Supporting Information S2). For four out of six included participants, visual acuity pre-surgery in the better eye ranged from a minimum of counting fingers at 1 m to a maximum of 20/300, with a history of partially absorbed lenses in all four of them. All other criteria, such as presence of nystagmus and family history, pointed towards the presence of dense bilateral cataracts at birth. For the remaining two participants, visual acuity pre-surgery was unknown, but based on the combination of a family history of dense congenital cataracts, very poor visual acuity post-surgery in the better eye in this group ranged from a minimum of 20/400 to a maximum of 20/125.

The SC group consisted of seven individuals with normal or corrected-to-normal vision, with no history of eye injuries or abnormalities (5 females, 2 males; Age = 21-29 years, M = 24.13, SD = 3.08).

Stimuli and apparatus. Participants used a white, smooth ribbon to hold and lift one of the same six cubes used in Experiment 1, by pulling it with their dominant hand. The ribbon was wrapped around a metal ring fixed to a wall, in order to minimize friction that could possibly affect weight judgements, and allow participants to estimate the weight of the cube while it was suspended at eye level (Fig. 1). An important experimental consideration for the use of a string/handle set-up to test the SWI in sight recovery individuals was to control for the precision of the visual cues provided, due to residual visual impairments in visually impaired individuals⁵. Therefore, viewing distance was determined by each CC and SC participant based on how comfortable they were seeing the cube. However, viewing distance was not significantly different between groups (t(4) = 1.656, p = 0.137; CC: Mean = 58 cm, SD = 8.69 cm, Range = 50-70 cm; SC: Mean = 64.71 cm, SD = 5.19 cm, Range = 60-73 cm). This was done to minimize the possibility of potential differences in illusion size being confounded with differences in visual acuity, due to viewing at a fixed distance. Participants were instructed identically to Experiment 1 described above, and the experimenter placed and removed the cubes from the apparatus for each trial to prevent the participant from having any haptic contact with the stimuli.

Participants were not permitted to haptically handle the cubes at any time, before or during the course of the task, and were naïve to how many sizes and weights were presented. A post-study questionnaire recorded their estimates for how many weights and sizes were presented (see Supporting Information S3).

The same random trial orders used in Experiment 1 were used for Experiment 2, and 60 trials were completed per participant.

Data analysis. Z-scores were calculated using a procedure identical to the one described for Experiment 1 above.

The ANOVA model comprised two within-group factors (Size: 3 levels, Weight: 2 levels) and one betweengroup factor with 2 levels (CC, SC). Post-hoc ANOVAs and t-tests were performed according to the resulting interactions.

Additionally, a cross-experiment ANOVA with group and experimental task as between- subject factors and weight as a within- subject factor (group: 2 levels for SC and CC; task: 2 levels for Experiment 1 and 2) was performed.

Data availability

The datasets generated/analyzed during this study are available from the corresponding author upon reasonable request.

Received: 28 March 2019; Accepted: 10 March 2021 Published online: 23 March 2021

References

- 1. Birch, E. E., Stager, D., Leffler, J. & Weakley, D. Early treatment of congenital unilateral cataract minimizes unequal competition. *Investig. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci.* **39**, 1560–1566 (1998).
- de Heering, A. et al. A brief period of postnatal visual deprivation alters the balance between auditory and visual attention. Curr. Biol. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2016.10.014 (2016).
- Maurer, D. Critical periods re-examined: Evidence from children treated for dense cataracts. Cogn. Dev. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. cogdev.2017.02.006 (2017).
- 4. Lewkowicz, D. J. & Röder, B. The effects of experience on the development of multisensory processing. *New Handb. multisensory Process.* (2015).
- Lewis, T. L. & Maurer, D. Multiple sensitive periods in human visual development: Evidence from visually deprived children. Dev. Psychobiol. 46, 163–183 (2005).
- 6. Knudsen, E. I. Sensitive periods in the development of the brain and behavior. J. Cogn. Neurosci. 16, 1412-1425 (2004).
- 7. Maurer, D. & Lewis, T. L. Visual Systems. *Neurobiol. Brain Behav. Dev.* https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-804036-2.00008-X (2017).
- 8. Eagleman, D. M. Visual illusions and neurobiology. Nat. Rev. Neurosci. https://doi.org/10.1038/35104092 (2001).
- Putzar, L., Hötting, K., Rösler, F. & Röder, B. The development of visual feature binding processes after visual deprivation in early infancy. Vis. Res. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.visres.2007.07.002 (2007).
- McKyton, A., Ben-Zion, I., Doron, R. & Zohary, E. The limits of shape recognition following late emergence from blindness. *Curr. Biol.* https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2015.06.040 (2015).
- Hadad, B. S., Maurer, D. & Lewis, T. L. The development of contour interpolation: Evidence from subjective contours. J. Exp. Child Psychol. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jecp.2010.02.003 (2010).
- Hadad, B. S., Maurer, D. & Lewis, T. L. The role of early visual input in the development of contour interpolation: the case of subjective contours. *Dev. Sci.* https://doi.org/10.1111/desc.12379 (2017).
- Gandhi, T., Kalia, A., Ganesh, S. & Sinha, P. Immediate susceptibility to visual illusions after sight onset. Curr. Biol. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.cub.2015.03.005 (2015).
- Putzar, L., Goerendt, I., Lange, K., Rösler, F. & Röder, B. Early visual deprivation impairs multisensory interactions in humans. *Nat. Neurosci.* https://doi.org/10.1038/nn1978 (2007).
- Meredith, M. & Stein, B. Interactions among converging sensory inputs in the superior colliculus. Science https://doi.org/10.1126/ science.6867718 (1983).
- Putzar, L., Hötting, K. & Röder, B. Early visual deprivation affects the development of face recognition and of audio-visual speech perception. *Restor. Neurol. Neurosci.* https://doi.org/10.3233/RNN-2010-0526 (2010).
- Nath, A. R. & Beauchamp, M. S. A neural basis for interindividual differences in the McGurk effect, a multisensory speech illusion. *Neuroimage* https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2011.07.024 (2012).
- Kumar, G. V. et al. Large scale functional brain networks underlying temporal integration of audio-visual speech perception: An eeg study. Front. Psychol. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2016.01558 (2016).
- 19. Sams, M. et al. Seeing speech: Visual information in the human auditory cortex. Neurosci. Lett. 127, 141-145 (1991).
- Guerreiro, M. J. S., Putzar, L. & Röder, B. Persisting cross-modal changes in sight-recovery individuals modulate visual perception. Curr. Biol. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2016.08.069 (2016).
- Putzar, L., Gondan, M. & Rder, B. Basic multisensory functions can be acquired after congenital visual pattern deprivation in humans. *Dev. Neuropsychol.* https://doi.org/10.1080/87565641.2012.696756 (2012).
- Chen, Y. C., Lewis, T. L., Shore, D. I. & Maurer, D. Early binocular input is critical for development of audiovisual but not visuotactile simultaneity perception. *Curr. Biol.* https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2017.01.009 (2017).
- Gori, M., Del Viva, M., Sandini, G. & Burr, D. C. Young children do not integrate visual and haptic form information. *Curr. Biol.* https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2008.04.036 (2008).
- Chen, J. et al. Rapid integration of tactile and visual information by a newly sighted child. Curr. Biol. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub. 2016.02.065 (2016).
- 25. Held, R. et al. The newly sighted fail to match seen with felt. Nat. Neurosci. https://doi.org/10.1038/nn.2795 (2011).
- Azañón, E., Camacho, K., Morales, M. & Longo, M. R. The sensitive period for tactile remapping does not include early infancy. *Child Dev.* https://doi.org/10.1111/cdev.12813 (2018).
- Ley, P., Bottari, D., Shenoy, B. H., Kekunnaya, R. & Röder, B. Partial recovery of visual-spatial remapping of touch after restoring vision in a congenitally blind man. *Neuropsychologia* https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2013.03.004 (2013).
- McKyton, A., Ben-Zion, I. & Zohary, E. Lack of automatic imitation in newly sighted individuals. *Psychol. Sci.* https://doi.org/10. 1177/0956797617731755 (2018).
- Murray, D. J., Ellis, R. R., Bandomir, C. A. & Ross, H. E. Charpentier (1891) on the size-weight illusion. Percept. Psychophys. https:// doi.org/10.3758/BF03213127 (1999).
- Dijker, A. J. M. The role of expectancies in the size-weight illusion: A review of theoretical and empirical arguments and a new explanation. *Psychon. Bull. Rev.* https://doi.org/10.3758/s13423-014-0634-1 (2014).
- Flanagan, J. R., Bittner, J. P. & Johansson, R. S. Experience can change distinct size-weight priors engaged in lifting objects and judging their weights. Curr. Biol. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2008.09.042 (2008).
- Masin, S. C. & Crestoni, L. Experimental demonstration of the sensory basis of the size-weight illusion. Percept. Psychophys. https:// doi.org/10.3758/BF03210411 (1988).
- Kawai, S., Henigman, F., MacKenzie, C. L., Kuang, A. B. & Faust, P. H. A reexamination of the size-weight illusion induced by visual size cues. *Exp. Brain Res.* https://doi.org/10.1007/s00221-006-0803-1 (2007).
- Plaisier, M. A. & Smeets, J. B. J. Object size can influence perceived weight independent of visual estimates of the volume of material. Sci. Rep. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep17719 (2015).
- Chouinard, P. A., Large, M. E., Chang, E. C. & Goodale, M. A. Dissociable neural mechanisms for determining the perceived heaviness of objects and the predicted weight of objects during lifting: An fMRI investigation of the size-weight illusion. *Neuroimage* https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2008.08.023 (2009).
- Pick, H. L. & Pick, A. D. A developmental and analytic study of the size-weight illusion. J. Exp. Child Psychol. https://doi.org/10. 1016/0022-0965(67)90064-1 (1967).
- Ellis, R. R. & Lederman, S. J. The role of haptic versus visual volume cues in the size-weight illusion. Percept. Psychophys. https:// doi.org/10.3758/BF03205186 (1993).

- 38. Rice, J. The size-weight illusion among the blind. Amm. Psychol. Assn. 27, 81-87 (1898).
- Guerreiro, M. J. S., Putzar, L. & Röder, B. The effect of early visual deprivation on the neural bases of multisensory processing. Brain https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/awv076 (2015).
- Singh, A. K., Phillips, F., Merabet, L. B. & Sinha, P. Why does the cortex reorganize after sensory loss?. Trends Cogn. Sci. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.tics.2018.04.004 (2018).
- Furth, H. G. Effect of training on the adaptation level of the size-weight illusion with normal, deaf, and blind subjects. *Percept. Mot. Skills* 13, 155–160 (1961).
- Buckingham, G. & Goodale, M. A. Lifting without seeing: The role of vision in perceiving and acting upon the size weight Illusion. PLoS ONE https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0009709 (2010).
- Chouinard, P. A. *et al.* The development of the size-weight illusion in children coincides with the development of nonverbal cognition rather than motor skills. *J. Exp. Child Psychol.* https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jecp.2019.03.006 (2019).
- Peters, M. A. K., Balzer, J. & Shams, L. Smaller = denser, and the brain knows it: Natural statistics of object density shape weight expectations. *PLoS ONE* https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0119794 (2015).
- 45. Ross, H. E. Sensory information necessary for the size-weight illusion [58]. Nature https://doi.org/10.1038/212650a0 (1966).
- Buckingham, G., Milne, J. L., Byrne, C. M. & Goodale, M. A. The size-weight illusion induced through human echolocation. *Psychol. Sci.* https://doi.org/10.1177/0956797614561267 (2015).
- Lakens, D. Equivalence tests: A practical primer for t tests, correlations, and meta-analyses. Soc. Psychol. Personal. Sci. https://doi. org/10.1177/1948550617697177 (2017).
- 48. Held, R. et al. The newly sighted fail to match seen with felt. Nat. Neurosci. 14, 551-553 (2011).
- Stein, B. E. et al. Semantic confusion regarding the development of multisensory integration: A practical solution. Eur. J. Neurosci. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1460-9568.2010.07206.x (2010).
- Rohlf, S., Li, L., Bruns, P. & Röder, B. Multisensory integration develops prior to crossmodal recalibration. Curr. Biol. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.cub.2020.02.048 (2020).
- Ernst, M. O. & Banks, M. S. Humans integrate visual and haptic information in a statistically optimal fashion. *Nature* https://doi. org/10.1038/415429a (2002).
- Bedny, M. Evidence from blindness for a cognitively pluripotent cortex. *Trends Cogn. Sci.* https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tics.2017.06. 003 (2017).
- Takesian, A. E. & Hensch, T. K. Balancing plasticity/stability across brain development. Prog. Brain Res. https://doi.org/10.1016/ B978-0-444-63327-9.00001-1 (2013).
- Röder, B., Ley, P., Shenoy, B. H., Kekunnaya, R. & Bottari, D. Sensitive periods for the functional specialization of the neural system for human face processing. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1309963110 (2013).
- Hadad, B. S., Maurer, D. & Lewis, T. L. Sparing of sensitivity to biological motion but not of global motion after early visual deprivation. *Dev. Sci.* https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-7687.2012.01145.x (2012).
- Röder, B., Kekunnaya, R. & Guerreiro, M. J. S. Neural mechanisms of visual sensitive periods in humans. *Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev.* https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2020.10.030 (2020).
- Grandy, M. S. & Westwood, D. A. Opposite perceptual and sensorimotor responses to a size-weight illusion. J. Neurophysiol. https:// doi.org/10.1152/jn.00851.2005 (2006).
- Badde, S. *et al.* Sensory experience during early sensitive periods shapes cross-modal temporal biases. *Elife* https://doi.org/10. 7554/ELIFE.61238 (2020).
- 59. World Health Organisation. World Report on Vision (World Health Organisation, Geneva, 2019).

Acknowledgements

We are grateful to Dr. D. Balasubramanian and the LVPEI for supporting the study at the LVPEI in Hyderabad. We thank Dr. Kabilan Pitchaimuthu, Sven Leach and Dr. Suddha Sourav for helping with the data acquisition. Dirk Waschatz provided technical assistance. The study was funded by the German Research Foundation (DFG Ro 2625/10-1) and the European Research Council grant ERC-2009-AdG 249425-CriticalBrainChanges to Dr. Brigitte Röder. Rashi Pant was supported by a PhD student fellowship from the Hector Fellow Academy gGmbH.

Author contributions

R.P. designed and collected data for Experiment 2, analyzed the data for both experiments, made the figures and tables and wrote the paper. M.G., P.L. and D.B. designed and collected data for Experiment 1, M.G. analyzed the data for both experiments and wrote the paper. I.S. recruited, counselled and diagnosed sight recovery individuals and assisted in data collection for Experiment 2. R.K. counselled and diagnosed sight recovery individuals for all experiments and supervised the work. B.R. designed the study, collected the data for Experiment 1 and wrote the paper. All authors edited the manuscript.

Funding

Open Access funding enabled and organized by Projekt DEAL.

Competing interests

The authors declare no competing interests.

Additional information

Supplementary Information The online version contains supplementary material available at https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-021-86227-w.

Correspondence and requests for materials should be addressed to R.P.

Reprints and permissions information is available at www.nature.com/reprints.

Publisher's note Springer Nature remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

Open Access This article is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License, which permits use, sharing, adaptation, distribution and reproduction in any medium or format, as long as you give appropriate credit to the original author(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons licence, and indicate if changes were made. The images or other third party material in this article are included in the article's Creative Commons licence, unless indicated otherwise in a credit line to the material. If material is not included in the article's Creative Commons licence and your intended use is not permitted by statutory regulation or exceeds the permitted use, you will need to obtain permission directly from the copyright holder. To view a copy of this licence, visit http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/.

© The Author(s) 2021

The Size-Weight Illusion is unimpaired in individuals with a history of congenital visual deprivation

¹Rashi Pant^{*}, ¹Maria J. S. Guerreiro, ¹Pia Ley, ^{1,3}Davide Bottari, ²Idris Shareef, ²Ramesh Kekunnaya, ¹Brigitte Röder

Affiliations

¹Biological Psychology and Neuropsychology, University of Hamburg, 20146 Hamburg, Germany ²Child Sight Institute, Jasti V Ramanamma Children's Eye Care Center, LV Prasad Eye Institute, Hyderabad, Telangana 500034, India ³Molecular Mind Lab, IMT School for Advanced Studies, 55100 Lucca, Italy

*Corresponding Author: rashi.pant@uni-hamburg.de

Supporting Information

S1. Equivalence Testing

S1.1 Experiment 1.

In order to clarify the non-significant group effects (i.e. the SWI being equally strong in individuals with atypical visual experience as in normally sighted controls), we used post-hoc equivalence testing to compare the SWI indices between the CC, DC and SC groups^{1,2}. For this purpose, we chose to define the upper and lower bounds of interest based on published values obtained by Buckingham and Goodale³, i.e. the study we had used as a model for the present experimental procedure. They had tested a relatively large sample size of healthy individuals (n=39), calculated the SWI index ("effect size") similar to our method, and reported z-scored values in their Figure 1³. In an additional literature search, we were not able to detect any additional study analyzing and reporting group differences in the SWI, as assessed via a comparable paradigm to the one we had implemented. Further, we report only the values we obtained for the 700g weight as the selected paper used an identical weight (exploratory equivalence testing with the 350g condition produced, however, identical results). We used WebPlotDigitizer (v 3.9) in order to select conservative values^{4,5}. The lowest possible value for the small cube and the highest possible value for the large cube were selected for the 700g weight condition, which reflects the smallest possible effect size. We used these values to calculate an approximate mean

SWI index (M = -1.782, SD = 1.134), and an upper and lower bound corresponding to a 98% confidence interval (CI) of this normal distribution (0.859, -4.424).

Equivalence testing was performed using the TOSTER package (<u>https://github.com/Lakens/TOSTER</u>) in R (Version: 3.3.2). We compared the average SWI index between the SC and CC, SC and DC and CC and DC groups to determine the presence of an effect outside of the bounds obtained, for the 700g weight (Table S1). Equivalence testing assumes the presence of such an effect between the compared means of the compared groups, and therefore equivalence is defined as the significant rejection of the null hypothesis². We found that the SWI effect measured by the SWI index was equivalent between all groups compared – i.e. the presence of an effect of group that lies outside the described upper or lower bounds was rejected with p's < 0.024 (Table S1).

Bound	CC SC		DC SC		CC DC		
	t(15)	p	t(17)	р	t(14)	p	
Lower	13.74	< 0.001	17.16	< 0.001	14.79	<0.001	
Upper	-4.09	< 0.001	-3.66	0.001	-2.19	0.023	

Table S1: Equivalence test results comparing mean SWI Indices (effect sizes) between the SC, the CC and the DC groups for the 700g weight. Results of equivalence testing determine the likelihood of rejecting the null hypothesis (i.e. the presence of an effect size difference between the tested groups, outside of the specified bounds). T and p values reported are for the one-sided t-test against each of the two bounds.

S1.2 Experiment 2.

Using an identical procedure to Experiment 1, when we compared CC and SC individuals on their illusion strength for the 700g weight, the effect size was found to be equivalent (Lower Bound: t(11) = 2.99, p = 0.006; Upper Bound: t(11) = -15.22, p < 0.001, Table S1).

S2. Excluded participant (Experiment 2)

One CC participant (36, Female) was excluded from data analysis on account of not cooperating, and the experiment was aborted after 30 trials. During the experiment, it was observed that she was seemingly randomly giving objects one of four possible numerical weights, even when it was reiterated that she

should try to focus on the perceived weight of the object and could freely use any scale. She failed to rate the 700g medium cube as heavier than the 350g medium cube, confirming that she was not assigning principled weight ratings. Based on this, her data was excluded from the final analysis.

S3. Post-Study Questionnaire (Experiment 2)

After the experiment was complete, we asked participants how many distinct weights and sizes they perceived across the 60 trials.

The estimate for the number of cube sizes presented ranged from 3-10 (Mean = 5.8, Median = 3) in the CC and 3-7 (Mean = 4.29, Median = 4) in the SC group. Participants of both groups were subjectively asked to answer how well they could see during the task, and all participants across both groups stated that they could see the stimuli adequately well.

The estimate for the number of weights presented ranged from 5-20 (Mean = 12.33, Median = 9.5) in the CC group and 5-8 (Mean = 6.28, Median = 6) in the SC group, confirming that none of the participants perceived only two weights during the task, and demonstrating the robustness of the SWI perceived by both groups with this paradigm.

S4. Correlations

S4.1 Duration of Blindness (Experiments 1 and 2).

For Experiment 2, to disambiguate the trending correlation between duration of visual deprivation and SWI Index in CC individuals, we further tested a multiple regression with duration of visual deprivation as well as visual acuity as predictor variables (no autocorrelation between variables, r = -0.125, t(4) = -0.253, p = 0.813). No significant effect of duration of deprivation (t(4) = -2.326, p = -0.102) or visual acuity (t(4) = 1.224, p = 0.308) was observed, indicating that the variance in the SWI Index was not significantly explained by duration of visual deprivation (Figure S1).



Fig S1: Correlation between duration of blindness at the time of testing and the calculated SWI Index for the CC group in Experiment 1 (left) and Experiment 2 (right).

S4.2 Pre-surgery visual acuity (Experiment 2)

In Experiment 2, to ensure that better vision as a result of absorbed lenses prior to surgery did not have an impact on the SWI, we tested for a relationship between SWI Index and pre-surgery visual acuity. Of the 4 participants with a known pre-surgery visual acuity, 3 participants had a quantifiable value (i.e. better than CF), based on which there was no significant correlation between pre-surgery acuity and SWI size (r = -0.580, t = -0.711, p = 0.303).

S4.3 Age (Experiment 2)

To ensure that we did not miss potential differences in SWI size due to age differences between our groups, we tested for any effect of age on SWI size in our sample. We observed no significant correlation between age and SWI index in either group (Figure S2).



Figure S2: Correlation between age in years and SWI Index for Experiment 2.

S4.4 Time since surgery (Experiments 1 and 2)

Additionally, we also tested for any effect of time since surgery on SWI size in our sample. This was calculated by subtracting the age at first surgery from the age on date tested, for every CC participant, and correlated with the mean SWI index. We observed no significant correlation between time since surgery and SWI index in Experiment 1 or 2 (Figure S3).



Figure S3: Correlation between time since surgery in years and SWI Index for Experiments 1 and 2.

References

- Lakens, D., Scheel, A. M. & Isager, P. M. Equivalence Testing for Psychological Research: A Tutorial. *Adv. Methods Pract. Psychol. Sci.* (2018). doi:10.1177/2515245918770963
- Lakens, D. Equivalence Tests: A Practical Primer for t Tests, Correlations, and Meta-Analyses. Soc. Psychol. Personal. Sci. (2017). doi:10.1177/1948550617697177
- 3. Buckingham, G. & Goodale, M. A. Lifting without seeing: The role of vision in perceiving and acting upon the size weight Illusion. *PLoS One* **5**, 3–6 (2010).
- 4. Ankit Rohatgi. WebPlotDigitizer 3.9. (2015).
- 5. Rohatgi, A. WebPlotDigitizer extract data from plots, images, and maps. *Arohatgi* (2010).



FAKULTÄT FÜR PSYCHOLOGIE UND BEWEGUNGSWISSENSCHAFT

Institut für Bewegungswissenschaft Institut für Psychologie

Eidesstattliche Erklärung nach (bitte Zutreffendes ankreuzen)

- § 7 (4) der Promotionsordnung des Instituts f
 ür Bewegungswissenschaft der Universit
 ät Hamburg vom 18.08.2010
- § 9 (1c und 1d) der Promotionsordnung des Instituts für Psychologie der Universität Hamburg vom 20.08.2003

Hiermit erkläre ich an Eides statt,

- 1. dass die von mir vorgelegte Dissertation nicht Gegenstand eines anderen Prüfungsverfahrens gewesen oder in einem solchen Verfahren als ungenügend beurteilt worden ist.
- dass ich die von mir vorgelegte Dissertation selbst verfasst, keine anderen als die angegebenen Quellen und Hilfsmittel benutzt und keine kommerzielle Promotionsberatung in Anspruch genommen habe. Die wörtlich oder inhaltlich übernommenen Stellen habe ich als solche kenntlich gemacht.

HAMBURG 29.2. 2024

Unterschrift

Ort, Datum

Studien- und Prüfungsbüro Bewegungswissenschaft + Fakultät PB + Universität Hamburg + Mollerstraße 10 + 20148 Hamburg Studien- und Prüfungsbüro Psychologie + Fakultät PB + Universität Hamburg + Von-Melle-Park 5 + 20146 Hamburg

· www.pb.uni-hamburg.de



FAKULTÄT FÜR PSYCHOLOGIE UND BEWEGUNGSWISSENSCHAFT

Institut für Bewegungswissenschaft Institut für Psychologie

Erklärung gemäß (bitte Zutreffendes ankreuzen)

- § 4 (1c) der Promotionsordnung des Instituts f
 ür Bewegungswissenschaft der Universit
 ät Hamburg vom 18.08.2010
- § 5 (4d) der Promotionsordnung des Instituts für Psychologie der Universität Hamburg vom 20.08.2003

Hiermit erkläre ich,

RASHI PANT

17

(Vorname, Nachname),

dass ich mich an einer anderen Universität oder Fakultät noch keiner Doktorprüfung unterzogen oder mich um Zulassung zu einer Doktorprüfung bemüht habe.

Rout Part

Unterschrift

HAMBURG, 29.2, 2024 Ort, Datum

Studien- und Prüfungsbüro Bewegungswissenschaft • Fakultät PB • Universität Hamburg • Mollerstraße 10 • 20148 Hamburg Studien- und Prüfungsbüro Psychologie • Fakultät PB • Universität Hamburg • Von-Melle-Park 5 • 20146 Hamburg

www.pb.uni-hamburg.de